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Corporate Information

NAEEF
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Financial Highlights
BBRHE

4

The revenue of the Group from continuing operations remained
relatively stable and amounted to approximately HK$316.3
million and approximately HK$317.4 million respectively for the
years ended 31 March 2024 and 2023.

The gross profit of the Group from continuing operations for
the year ended 31 March 2024 was approximately HK$119.2
million, representing a decrease of approximately 3.5% as
compared to that for the year ended 31 March 2023 and the
gross profit margin slightly dropped from approximately 38.9%
for the year ended 31 March 2023 to approximately 37.7% for
the year ended 31 March 2024.

The loss for the year from continuing operations attributable
to equity holders of the Company was approximately HK$8.3
million for the year ended 31 March 2024, represented a
decrease in loss of approximately HK$3.4 million as compared
with that for the year ended 31 March 2023.

The cash and cash equivalents of the Group was
approximately HK$100.0 million as at 31 March 2024,
representing a decrease of approximately HK$25.0 million as
compared to that as at 31 March 2023. The decrease in cash
and cash equivalents was mainly due to the acquisition of the
properties during the year.

The Board does not recommend the payment of a final
dividend for the year ended 31 March 2024.

eprint Group Limited Annual Report 2023/24
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To Our Shareholders

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”)
eprint Group Limited (the “Company”, together with its subsidiaries,
collectively known as the “Group”), | am pleased to present the
annual results of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2024,
together with the comparative figures for the year ended 31 March
2023.

Operating Results

During the years ended 31 March 2024 and 2023, the Group
reported the revenue of approximately 316.3 million and
approximately HK$317.4 million respectively.

The Group recorded the loss from continuing operations attributable
to equity holders of the Company for the year ended 31 March
2024 of approximately HK$8.3 million, representing a decrease in
loss of approximately HK$3.4 million as compared with that for the
year ended 31 March 2023.

Prospects

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Group has acquired
permanent properties and machineries to develop and expand
the paper printing and digital printing business. The Group always
devoted efforts and resources in enhancing its printing production
facilities and technology in order to capture the customers’ needs
and market requirements.

In light of the unfavorable economic and market conditions, the
Group will actively and continuously closely monitor the situation,
keep assessing the Group’s cost and risk control policy and react
promptly to the change of the business environment.

Chairman’s Statement

EREHE

BRIR

AANER KReprintRBAR AR ([AA
Al EREMBARSEIAEE])E
S(MEFHE([EFE])MARESR

EMEE-F-MESA=t—BLF
EMRFEA ERRE T -ZF=7
ST-ALFEMLRET-
EEXE

2R E_WER_ZTE-_=ZF=H
—t+—HUEFEE AEEDRE2HRKIELD
316,300,000/ 7t & #9317,400,000/& JT °

HE_Z_NF=-ZA=Z+—HLEFE &
EEESARRESFAEARGRFEKL
¥ B 1B 498,300,000 T REE —
E_ZF-ZAZ=Zt—BLEFERLERE
473,400,000 7T °

Al 5=

BHE-_T-_MNMEF=-A=+—HLEFE K
EEBAKAEYERES  NBERKIE
o 4R on BN Rl J2 RS ED Rl 3 7% - AR &R B4R 4%
BAORFEDR A ERIE R M AREE
FEEEmBHFRK-

HHAFOEERTIHRE  NEEKE

BEFEMTBNERLYE THFEAEE
F R 7S e e i 22 1) BRBR - X T R R IR Y
BEELHRFRE-

2023/24 F3R eprint EEER AT 5



Chairman’s Statement
FIERE

Looking into the future, the management will continue to strength
our core business and allocate the resources on a more effective
and profitable way to build sustainable business operation for the
Group. In addition, the Group will continue to explore different
business opportunities to seek for better growth prospects and
returns. We will strive to continue to expedite the development
of our business enhance the long term growth and focus on
maximizing returns to Shareholders in order to lead the Group to a
better future and create sustainable, stable and growing returns for
Shareholders.

Appreciation

Last but not the least, on behalf of the Board of the Directors
of the Company, | wish to express our sincere gratitude to our
shareholders, customers and business partners for their long-
term trust and continuous support. | would also like to take this
chance to thank all our hardworking and talented managements
and staff for their loyalty, integrity, diligence, dedication and valuable
contribution and commitment to the Group.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Business Review

The Company is an investment holding company. The Group
is principally engaged in the provision of printing services to
a diversified customer base in Hong Kong. The Group is also
engaged in the provision of solutions on advertisement, bound
books and stationeries.

The Group always devoted efforts and resources in developing and
expanding its printing businesses, as well as enhancing its printing
production facilities and technology to capture the customers’
needs and market requirements.

As disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated 2 April
2024, Kimley Technology (HK) Limited, an indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company purchased (i) a property located at
Unit H4, 3rd Floor, Block 4, Kwun Tong Industrial Centre, Nos.
436-446 Kwun Tong Road, Kowloon, Hong Kong with a saleable
area of approximately 1,680 square feet at a consideration of
HK$9,156,000; and (i) a property located at Unit J4, 3rd Floor,
Block 4, Kwun Tong Industrial Centre, Nos. 436-446 Kwun Tong
Road, Kowloon, Hong Kong with a saleable area of approximately
1,900 square feet at a consideration of HK$10,404,000.

As disclosed in the announcements of the Company dated 8
April 2024 and 12 April 2024, Promise Network Printing Limited,
an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, purchased
a Miyakoshi Full-Colour Digital Inject Printer at a consideration of
JPY250 million (equivalent to approximately HK$13.28 million).

The Board presents to its shareholders the result of the Group for
the year ended 31 March 2024. As at 31 March 2024 and currently,
the Group is principally engaged in two business segments, paper
printing business and banner printing business.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EEBNREAM

Business Review (Continued)
Paper printing business

For the paper printing segment, the revenue was mainly derived
from the brand “e-print”. e-print provides a wide range of paper
printing products including leaflets, booklets, business cards,
stationery, etc.

For the years ended 31 March 2024 and 2023, the revenue of the
Group’s paper printing segment were approximately HK$223.6
million and approximately HK$227.6 million respectively.

Banner printing business

For the Group’s banner printing segment, the revenue was mainly
derived from the brand “e-banner”. e-banner provides a large
number of digital printing products, roll-up banners, mountings
(foamboard, PVC board and hollow board, etc.), stickers, posters,
flags, promotional tables, outdoor banners etc.

For the year ended 31 March 2024, the Group recorded revenue
from banner printing business of approximately HK$92.7 million,
representing an increase of approximately HK$2.9 million or
approximately 3.2%, as compared with that for the year ended 31
March 2023.
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Outlook

In current year, the economy in Hong Kong began to recover, but
the complex market environment still has various uncertainties and
challenges.

The Group always devoted efforts and resources in enhancing
its printing production facilities and technology to capture the
customers’ needs and market requirements. The Group has
acquired permanent properties and advanced printing machines
to develop and expand the paper printing and digital printing
business. The Group’s on-going improvements in printing facilities
and production premises can further enhance the Group’s
competitiveness and differentiate against its competitors in the
market.

Despite the current challenging market environment, the Group will
continue its effort to strengthen its printing businesses and allocate
the resources on a more effective and profitable way. In light of the
increasing operating cost, the Group will continue to assess and
implement cost control measures to drive margin improvement as
well as maximize returns to our shareholders.

Financial Review

Revenue

For the years ended 31 March 2024 and 2023, the Group reported
the revenue of approximately HK$316.3 million and approximately
HK$317.4 million respectively. The revenue was generated from
provision of printing services from paper printing business and
pbanner printing business. The revenue remained relatively stable
during both years ended 31 March 2024 and 2023.

Gross profit and gross profit margin

The gross profit of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2024
was approximately HK$119.2 million, representing a decrease of
approximately 3.5% as compared to that for the year ended 31
March 2023. The gross profit margin of the Group slightly dropped
from approximately 38.9% for the year ended 31 March 2023 to
approximately 37.7% for the year ended 31 March 2024. Although
the stable revenue recognized during the years ended 31 March
2024 and 2023, the gross profit and gross profit margin decreased
because of the absence of the Employment Support Scheme
subsidies resulted in the increase in the cost of sales.

Management Discussion and Analysis
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BIRE R am MO

Financial Review (continued)

Other income

Other income of the Group mainly consisted of sales of scrap
materials. The Group’s other income increased from approximately
HK$4.4 million for the year ended 31 March 2023 to approximately
HK$5.2 million for the year ended 31 March 2024, representing an
increase of approximately HK$0.8 million or approximately 18.2%.

Other losses — net

For the year ended 31 March 2024, the Group reported a net
loss of approximately HK$6.2 million representing an increase of
approximately HK$3.9 million as compared to HK$2.3 million for the
year ended 31 March 2023.

The significant increase in amount was mainly attributable to
the losses on disposals of property, plant and equipment of
approximately HK$4.4 million and offsetting by the decrease in fair
value loss on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss of
approximately HK$1.2 million.

Selling and distribution expenses

Selling and distribution expenses mainly consisted of employee
benefits expenses, handling charges for electronic payments
and depreciation of right-of-use assets. Selling and distribution
expenses represented approximately 10.4% and approximately
9.5% of the revenue for the years ended 31 March 2024 and 2023
respectively. The increase in expenses by approximately HK$2.7
million was mainly the result of the increased employee benefits
expenses of approximately HK$1.7 million.

Administrative expenses

Administrative expenses mainly included employee benefits
expenses and outsourced customer support expenses.
Administrative expenses decreased by approximately HK$9.7
million were mainly attributable to the absence of share based
payment expenses of approximately HK$17.1 million which was
arising from the grant of share options to certain eligible employees
in December 2022 and offsetting by the increase in employee
benefits expenses and outsourced customer support expenses by
approximately HK$2.4 milion and approximately HK$2.4 million
respectively.
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Financial Review continveq)

Finance income

Finance income mainly represented the interest income generated
from the loan receivables and bank interest income. The amount
increased by approximately HK$1.0 million was mainly due to the
increase in interest income from fixed deposit of approximately
HK$1.5 million and offsetting by the decrease in interest income
from loan receivables of approximately HK$0.4 million.

Finance costs

Finance costs primarily consisted of interest expenses on bank
borrowings and interest expenses on lease liabilities. The material
increase in finance cost by approximately HK$2.0 million was mainly
due to the increase in interest expenses on lease liabilities and bank
borrowings in the amount of approximately HK$1.4 million and
approximately HK$0.6 million respectively.

Share of loss of an associate

As at 31 March 2024 and 2023, the Group had one associate in
Hong Kong which is Step Wise Limited.

For the years ended 31 March 2024 and 2023, the Group recorded
the share of loss of an associate of approximately HK$199,000 and
approximately HK$41,000 respectively.

Share of profits/(losses) of joint ventures

Share of profits/(losses) of joint ventures represented the share
of results of the Group’s joint ventures. As at 31 March 2024 and
2023, the Group had two joint ventures in Malaysia and Hong Kong,
namely e-print Solutions Sdn. Bhd. and Top Success Investment
Group Limited respectively.

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the operation of
e-print Solutions Sdn. Bhd. was gradually recovered from the
adverse impacts of novel coronavirus disease (“COVID-19”) (the
“Coronavirus Qutbreak”) in previous years and resulted in the share
of profits of joint ventures for the year ended 31 March 2024 while
the Group recorded the share of losses of joint ventures for the year
ended 31 March 2023.

Management Discussion and Analysis
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Management Discussion and Analysis
EIRE R M

Financial Review continveq)

Loss for the year from continuing operations
attributable to equity holders of the Company

For the year ended 31 March 2024, the loss for the year from
continuing operations attributable to equity holders of the Company
was approximately HK$8.3 million, representing a decrease in loss
of approximately HK$3.4 million as compared with that for the year
ended 31 March 2023.

Liquidity and Financial Information

As at 31 March 2024, the Group’s bank balances and cash
was approximately HK$100.0 million, represented a decrease of
approximately HK$25.0 million when compared with that as at
31 March 2023. The decrease in cash and cash equivalents was
mainly due to the acquisition of properties during the year.

As at 31 March 2024 and 31 March 2023, the financial ratios of the
Group were as follows:

Bf ¥ B B8 )
ARATAEREABRGSERSE X
BKERNER
BE_Z_NF=ZA=+—HIFE"

RAREEREABRLNRELEEBRF
A 518 %) 58,300,000 T BE = - &
—ZHEZAZ+—HLEERIEEY
3,400,000 7T °
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RZE_WMF=A=+—H AEEHN
R 1745 842 B8 € A& 49100,000,000% 7T
ER _ZE-_=ZF=ZA=Z=+—8BELY
25,000,000 L - R& MR FEEB M
LPEERBRAFEWRBYEME -

R-B-_MOF=ZA=+t—-BR-_FT_=
FZA=t—B XEBEFHLEMT:

As at As at

31 March 31 March

2024 2023

R-E-mE RZTZ=F

=A=+—~H “A=+—H

Current ratio M ED Ep 20 1.2 1.9

Gearing ratio @ BEEREL X 36.1% 27.4%
Notes: B 5

(1) Current ratio is calculated based on total current assets divided by total current (1) R EDRERBDEERABRED B G

liabilities. Ho

2) Gearing ratio is calculated based on total bank borrowings and leases liabilities
divided by total equity and multiplied by 100%.
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Financial Review continveq)

Borrowings

As at 31 March 2024 and 2023, the Group’s total bank borrowings
amounted to approximately HK$41.0 million and approximately
HK$22.7 million respectively, representing an increase in bank
borrowings by approximately HK$18.3 million which was arising
from the mortgage loans of the new properties acquired during the
year by the Group.

All bank borrowings were made from banks in Hong Kong. No
financial instruments were used for hedging purposes, nor were
there any foreign currency net investments hedged by current
borrowings and/or other hedging instruments.

Treasury Policy

The Group has always pursued a prudent financial management
approach towards its treasury policy and thus maintained a healthy
liquidity position throughout the year. The Group closely and actively
manages its liquidity position with sufficient standby banking
facilities to cope with daily operation and any demands for capital
for further development.

Capital Structure

The capital of the Company comprises ordinary shares and other
reserves. The shares of the Company have been listed on the
Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”) since 3 December 2013. As at 31 March 2024,
the total number of issued ordinary shares of the Company was
550,000,000 shares.

Capital Commitments

As at 31 March 2024, the Group had capital commitments of
approximately HK$9.5 million (31 March 2023: Nil).

Significant Investments Held

In addition to the investments in subsidiaries, joint ventures and
an associate, the Group also holds some debentures and equity
investments. These investments were classified as financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss.

Management Discussion and Analysis
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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Financial Review continveq)

Future Plans for Material Investments and Capital
Assets

As at 31 March 2024, saved as disclosed elsewhere in this report,
the Group has no plans for any material investments or capital
assets.

Material Acquisition and Disposal

Acquisition of Properties through Acquisition of WAB2
Group (HK) Limited (“WAB2”)

On 1 June 2028, e-banner Limited (“e-banner”), an indirect non
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, Mr. Li Cham Kuen and
Mr. Lee Wut Chuen (together with Mr. Li Cham Kuen, collectively
the “Vendors”) entered into the sale and purchase agreement (the
“Agreement”), pursuant to which e-banner conditionally agreed to
acquire from the Vendors the 10,000 shares in the capital of WAB2,
representing the entire issued share capital of WAB2, and from Mr.
Li Cham Kuen the outstanding shareholder’s loan being owed by
WAB2 to Mr. Li Cham Kuen at the completion of the Acquisition (as
hereinafter defined) at the consideration of HK$28,861,000 (subject
to adjustment) (the “Acquisition”).

WAB2 is principally engaged in property investment. The principal
assets of WAB2 is the properties located at (i) Unit W1, 1st Floor,
Block 2, Kwun Tong Industrial Centre, No0s.460-470 Kwun Tong
Road, Kowloon, Hong Kong; (ii) Unit W2, 1st Floor, Block 2, Kwun
Tong Industrial Centre, Nos.460-470 Kwun Tong Road, Kowloon,
Hong Kong; (i) Unit W3, 1st Floor, Block 2, Kwun Tong Industrial
Centre, No0s.460-470 Kwun Tong Road, Kowloon, Hong Kong;
and (iv) Unit K2, 1st Floor, Block 2, Kwun Tong Industrial Centre,
No0s.460-470 Kwun Tong Road, Kowloon, Hong Kong.

Completion of the Acquisition took place on 13 July 2023 in
accordance with the terms and conditions of the Agreement. Upon
completion of the Acquisition, WAB2 becomes an indirect non
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company and the financial results of
WAB2 are consolidated into the financial statements of the Group.

For further details, please refer to the announcements of the

Company dated 1 June 2023, 5 June 2023 and 13 July 2023.

Save as disclosed above, there was no material acquisition or
disposal of subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures by the Group
during the year ended 31 March 2024.
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Financial Review continveq)

Exposure to Foreign Exchange Risk

The Group is exposed to foreign exchange risk primarily arising
from cash and cash equivalents and deposits and other receivables
which are denominated in Japanese Yen (“‘JPY”) and US dollar
(“US$”) which are held by group companies who functional currency
is not the same as the respective foreign currencies. The Group
does not hedge its foreign exchange risk as its exposure to foreign
exchange risk is low as the Group’s cash flows mainly denominated
in Hong Kong dollars.

Charges on Assets

At 31 March 2024 and 2023, the Group pledged the plant and
machinery with carrying values of approximately HK$18.8 million
and approximately HK$2.3 million respectively, as collaterals to
secure the Group’s leases liabilities. As at 31 March 2024 and 2023,
the Group pledged the properties with the total carrying values of
approximately HK$105.5 million and approximately HK$62.5 million
respectively, as collaterals to secure the Group’s mortgage loans.

Capital Expenditure

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Group invested
approximately HK$27.5 million (2023: HK$7.7 million) in
property, plant and equipment, which represented an increase of
approximately HK$19.8 million in capital expenditure compared with
the last year. The significant increase in amount was mainly due to
the acquisition of the properties during the year.

Employees and Emolument Policies

At 31 March 2024, the Group had 340 (31 March 2023: 329)
full time employees. The employee benefits expenses of the
Group, including Directors’ emoluments, employees’ salaries and
allowances, retirement benefits schemes contributions and other
benefits amounted to approximately HK$104.3 million for the year
ended 31 March 2024 (2023: HK$113.8 million). The decrease in
amount was mainly due to the absence of share based payment
expenses and partially offsetting by increase in salaries and
allowance.

Management Discussion and Analysis
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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Employees and Emolument Policies (continue)

There was no significant change in the Group’s emolument policies.
On top of basic salaries, bonuses may be paid by reference to
the Group’s performance as well as individual’s performance
Other staff benefits included contributions to Mandatory Provident
Fund retirement benefits scheme in Hong Kong, provision of
pension funds, medical insurance, unemployment insurance and
other relevant insurance for employees who are employed by
the Group pursuant to the PRC rules and regulations and the
prevailing regulatory requirements of the PRC, and the Employees
Provident Fund and contributions to Social Security Organization
for employees who are employed by the Group pursuant to
the Malaysia rules and regulations and the prevailing regulatory
requirements of Malaysia. Share options may be granted under the
share option scheme to eligible employees as incentives or rewards
for their contribution to the Group; to attract and retain personnel
to promote the sustainable development of the Group; and to
align the interest with those of the shareholders of the Company to
promote the long-term financial and business performance of the
Company. In addition, the Group provides training through seminars
and forums and encourage the employees to grow with the Group
together.

Contingent Liabilities

As at 31 March 2024, the Group had no significant contingent
liability (31 March 2023: Nil).
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Events after the Reporting Period

Additional Capital Injection to Top Success
Investment Group Limited (“Top Success BVI”)

Reference is made to the Company’s announcement dated 17
March 2020 in relation to the formation of joint venture of Top
Success BVI by E-Boss Co., Limited (“E-Boss”), an indirect
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, with Mr. Cheng Hiu Man,
Elliott (“Mr. Cheng”).

On 17 May 2024, E-Boss signed an application to subscribe for
290,000 new shares in Top Success BVI at the consideration of
HK$14,500,000, representing 72.5% of the enlarged issued share
capital of Top Success BVI whereas Mr. Cheng and Mr. Ma Lok
Kan (“Mr. Ma”) signed the respective application to subscribe for
60,000 new shares and 10,000 new shares in Top Success BVI at
the respective consideration of HK$3,000,000 and HK$500,000,
representing 15.0% and 2.5% of the enlarged issued share capital
of Top Success BVI, respectively (the “Capital Injection”). On the
same date, E-Boss also entered into a shareholders’ agreement
with Mr. Cheng, Mr. Ma and Top Success BVI setting out the rights
and obligations of the shareholders of Top Success BVI.

Upon completion of the Capital Injection, Top Success BVI
becomes an indirect non wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company
and the financial information of Top Success BVI and its subsidiaries
will be consolidated into that of the Company.

For further details, please refer to the announcement of the
Company dated 17 May 2024.

Other than the Capital Injection as disclosed above and the
purchase of properties and machinery as disclosed in the section
headed “Business Review” above, there is no significant event
occurring after the end of the reporting period and up to the date of
this report.

Final Dividend

The Board does not recommend the payment of a final dividend for
the year ended 31 March 2024 (2023: Nil).

Management Discussion and Analysis
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Corporate Governance Report
DREREE

The Company is committed to maintaining good corporate
governance standard and procedures to ensure the integrity,
transparency and quality of disclosure in order to enhance the
Shareholders’ value.

Corporate Governance Practice

The Company has adopted the code provisions set out in the
Corporate Governance Code (“CG Code”) in Appendix C1 to the
Listing Rules as its own code of corporate governance.

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Company was in
compliance with the code provisions set out in the CG Code except
for the deviation as explained below.

Code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code provides that the roles of
the chairman and chief executive officer should be separated and
should not be performed by the same individual. The Company
does not at present separate the roles of the chairman and chief
executive officer. Mr. She Siu Kee William is the chairman and chief
executive officer of the Company. The Board believes that vesting
the roles of both chairman and chief executive officer in the same
person has the benefit of ensuring consistent leadership within the
Group and enables more effective and efficient overall strategic
planning for the Group. The Board further believes that the balance
of power and authority for the present arrangement will not be
impaired and is adequately ensured by the current Board which
comprises experienced and high caliber individuals with sufficient
number thereof being non-executive Director and independent non-
executive Directors.

Save as the aforesaid and in the opinion of the Directors, the
Company had met all code provisions set out in the CG Code
during the year ended 31 March 2024.

The Board will continue to review and further improve the
Company’s corporate governance practices and standards, so as
to ensure its business activities and decision-making processes are
regulated in a proper and prudent manner.
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Model Code For Securities Transactions By
Directors

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) set
out in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules as the code of conduct
regarding securities transactions by the Directors. Having made
specific enquiry of all Directors, the Company confirmed that all
Directors had complied with the required standard set out in the
Model Code throughout the year.

Board of Directors

The Board is responsible for the leadership and control of the
Company, and is responsible for setting up the overall strategy as
well as reviewing the operation and financial performance of the
Group. The Board reserved for its decision or consideration matters
covering overall Group strategy, major acquisitions and disposals,
annual budgets, annual and interim results, recommendations on
Directors’ appointment or re-appointment, approval of major capital
transactions and other significant operational and financial matters.
The management was delegated the authority and responsibility
by the Board for the daily management of the Group. In addition,
the Board had also delegated various responsibilities to the Board
committees. Further details of these committees are set out in this
report.

The Board currently consists of seven Directors including

two executive Directors, one non-executive Director and four
independent non-executive Directors:

Executive Directors

Mr. She Siu Kee William (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Chong Cheuk Ki

Non-executive Director

Mr. Leung Wai Ming

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Poon Chun Wai
Mr. Fu Chung

Mr. Ma Siu Kit

Ms. Yu Mei Hung
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Board of Directors continueq)

A deed of confirmation was entered into, among others, Mr. She
Siu Kee William, Mr. Lam Shing Kai (“Mr. SK Lam”), Mr. Leung
Wai Ming and Mr. Chong Cheuk Ki on 2 July 2013 (the “Deed of
Confirmation”) confirming the existence of their acting in concert
arrangement to jointly control their respective interest in the
Company held through eprint Limited. Save as aforesaid, the Board
members have no financial, business, family or other material/
relevant relationships with each other. Such balanced board
composition is formed to ensure strong independence exists across
the Board. The composition of the Board reflects the balanced skills
and experience for effective leadership. The biographical information
of the Directors are set out on pages 103 to 105 under the section
headed “Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management”
in this annual report.

The Board decides on corporate strategies, approves overall
business plans and evaluates the Group’s financial performance
and management. Specific tasks that the Board delegates to the
Group’s management include the implementation of strategies
approved by the Board, the monitoring of operating budgets, the
implementation of internal control procedures, and the ensuring of
compliance with relevant statutory requirements and other rules and
regulations.

Board Meetings

During the year ended 31 March 2024 (“FY2023/24"), four Board
meetings were held. All Directors were given an opportunity to
include any matters in the agenda for regular Board meetings, and
were also given sufficient time to review documents and information
relating to matters to be discussed in Board meetings in advance.

Name of Director
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Number of
attendance

H R B

Mr. She Siu Kee William RBEFE

Mr. Chong Cheuk Ki R AEA

Mr. Leung Wai Ming RERLEE

Mr. Poon Chun Wai & IR T A

Mr. Fu Chung EREE

Mr. Ma Siu Kit BkREE

Ms. Yu Mei Hung (Note) HEA L (KIFE)

Note: Ms. Yu Mei Hung was appointed with effect from 1 July 2023 and two Board
meetings were held after her appointment.
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Board Meetings (continueq)

Board minutes are kept by the company secretary of the Company
(the “Company Secretary”) and are open for inspection by the
Directors. Every Board member is entitled to have access to Board
papers and related materials, and has unrestricted access to the
advice and services of the Company Secretary, and has the liberty
to seek external professional advice if so required.

The Board adopted a mechanism for Directors to obtain
independent opinions and perspectives in order for them
to discharge their duties and responsibilities, and to ensure
independent views and input are available to the Board. The Board
will review the implementation and effectiveness of such mechanism
annually.

The Company shall arrange suitable and sufficient resources to
cover any matters relating to the obtaining of an independent
opinion by the Board, including but not limited to the engagement
of a legal team or any other professionals for such purpose (where
appropriate).

The Directors shall give at least three working days’ notices to the
Company Secretary to obtain an independent opinion, including but
not limited to engaging a professional team for such purpose (where
appropriate).

The Board is required to review its structure, size, composition
(including skills, knowledge and experience) and Board Diversity
policy (as defined below) at least annually to ensure that the
composition of the Board complies with the relevant requirements
of the Listing Rules, including maintaining a balanced mix of
executive and non-executive Directors (including independent non-
executive Directors) so that the Board can make and exercise
judgment independently and effectively.

If all independent non-executive Director has served on the Board
for more than nine years, the Company should consider to appoint
a new independent non-executive Director at the next annual
general meeting.

Corporate Governance Report
u:%E. m#&i

EEE2ER

EEeeRnBbmARAARARE (A
AwElRE- I’&E?EJ1/\§$§E=LEJ°%
EZeNEARSHEFTS XM NIER
BR - WA ERHRSAAMENER &
RIG- ARREFTERA BEHIRINEE
(B8R

EERRMEERHUETBIERR
BY ERSETAMEREL Wik
REFYENBUEELRBABK-EF
5 5 4 5 B A B A ) £ B 1 0 OR R
B o

ARBIELHBEEMNTRERABREE
EERDBUBREBENEINER 81
BARNRE B NZEEEZBE KK TN
HiERXAS (WEE) °

EEZRERAARNMERLEL=@EIEA
WBE UWERBYER BREEFSER
U EMZEEXER (HEE) -

EEE

mE)

AELEBFHEMAARE AR A
(B MEEER) REFTEK
I ZTTIEBRR(ERERTX) HRES
=BT EMARREERT BRER
WITHEIFMTTES (BRBUIFATESR)
MBEEA NEEFSRBLERED
K AT H -

B0 m e
o

MERBYFNTEFTHERESFSE
BBBNLFE AR TT%J’EBATFHxﬁﬂ
FRE L EZE—RHMHOBIUFRITES-

2023/24 4§ eprint EBERAT 21



Corporate Governance Report
PEERRE

General Meetings

During FY2023/24, one general meeting was held, being the 2023
annual general meeting of the Company held on 22 August 2023.

BREXE

R-ZZT-=Z/ B RFE KA 7 E
T—RBEERe IR _ZE-_=F)A
T+ -HBETHNARA T _ZFKE
BERE-

Number of
attendance

Name of Director

Mr. She Siu Kee William REAETE
Mr. Chong Cheuk Ki HEHELE
Mr. Leung Wai Ming RERKE
Mr. Poon Chun Wai EIR BT A&
Mr. Fu Chung EREE

Mr. Ma Siu Kit BEREE
Ms. Yu Mei Hung RELLLZ L

The Board is responsible for maintaining an on-going dialogue with
the Shareholders and in particular, uses annual general meeting or
other general meetings to communicate with them and encourage
their participation. The Board notes that the Chairman of the Board
and the chairmen or, in their absence, other members of the audit
committee (the “Audit Committee”), the nomination committee (the
“Nomination Committee”) and the remuneration committee (the
“Remuneration Committee”) of the Company should attend the
annual general meeting to answer questions and collect views of
Shareholders.

Directors’ Training

According to code provision C.1.4 of the CG Code, all Directors
should participate in continuous professional development to
develop and refresh their knowledge and skills to ensure that their
contribution to the board remains informed and relevant.
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Directors’ Training (continueq)

The individual training record of each Director received for
FY2023/24 is set out below:

Name of Director

Corporate Governance Report
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BEEIN
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Reading materials relevant to
the Group’s business/
directors’ duties

BIEBEAREEY
EESREAEZIMH

Mr. She Siu Kee William REBESLAE
Mr. Chong Cheuk Ki HEHELE
Mr. Leung Wai Ming REEAL A
Mr. Poon Chun Wai & R BB o A
Mr. Fu Chung HERELE

Mr. Ma Siu Kit BIAREE
Ms. Yu Mei Hung RELLLZ L

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Mr. She Siu Kee William, the Chairman of the Company, was also
appointed as the Chief Executive Officer of the Company. The
Board believes that vesting the roles of both chairman and chief
executive officer in the same person has the benefit of ensuring
consistent leadership within the Group and enables more effective
and efficient overall strategic planning for the Group. The Board
further believes that the balance of power and authority for the
present arrangement will not be impaired and is adequately ensured
by current Board which comprises experienced and high caliber
individuals with sufficient number thereof being non-executive
Director and independent non-executive Directors.

v
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v
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Independent non-executive Directors and
non-executive Directors

The four independent non-executive Directors are persons of
high caliber, with working experience, academic and professional
qualifications in the fields of accounting, company secretaryship,
administration, printing or management. With their experience
gained from various sectors, they provide strong support towards
the effective discharge of the duties and responsibilities of the
Board. Each of the independent non-executive Director has
provided his/her annual confirmation of independence to the
Company pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company
considers all of the independent non-executive Directors are
independent.

All non-executive Director and independent non-executive Directors
are appointed for a specific term of three years and are subject to
retirement by rotation in accordance with the articles of association
of the Company (the “Articles”).

Nomination Committee

In considering the nomination of new Directors, the Board will
take into account the qualification, ability, working experience,
leadership and professional ethics of the candidates, especially their
experience in the printing business and/or other professional area.

The Company established the Nomination Committee on 13
November 2013 with written terms of reference which was revised
on 25 February 2019 to conform with the provision of the CG
Code. The terms of reference of the Nomination Committee is
currently made available on the Stock Exchange’s website and the
Company’s website.
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Nomination Committee continueq)

The Nomination Committee consists of two independent non-
executive Directors, namely Mr. Fu Chung (as chairman) and Mr,
Poon Chun Wai, and an executive Director, namely Mr. She Siu
Kee Wiliam. The functions of the Nomination Committee are to
review the structure, size, composition and diversity of the Board
and make recommendations on any proposed changes to the
Board to complement the Group’s strategy; to identify qualified
individuals to become members of the Board; to assess the
independence of independent non-executive Directors; and to
make recommendations to the Board on the appointment or re-
appointment of Directors and succession planning for Directors,
in particular the Chairman and the chief executive officer. The
Company adopted the board diversity policy (the “Board Diversity
Policy”) on 13 November 2013 whereby it recognises and
embraces the benefits of a diversity of Board members. The
Company endeavour to ensure that the Board has a balance of
skills, experience and diversity of perspectives appropriate to the
requirements of the Company’s business. The Company seeks to
achieve Board diversity through the consideration of a number of
factors, including but not limited to age, cultural and educational
background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge
and length of service. The Company will also take into consideration
its own business model and specific needs from time to time in
determining the optimum composition of the Board.

The Board delegated certain duties under the Board Diversity
Policy to the Nomination Committee. The Nomination Committee
will review the necessity for setting measurable objectives for
implementing the Board Diversity Policy from time to time.

Board Level

Pursuant to the Board Diversity Policy, selection of candidates
will be based on a range of diversity perspectives, including but
not limited to gender, age, cultural background and ethnicity, in
addition to educational background, professional experience,
skills, knowledge and length of service. The ultimate decision will
be based on merit and contribution that the selected candidates
will bring to the Board. The Nomination Committee will review the
Board Diversity Policy annually to ensure its continued effectiveness.
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Board Level (Continued)

The Board will consider setting measurable objectives to implement
the Board Diversity Policy and review such objectives from time to
time to ensure their appropriateness and ascertain the progress
made towards achieving those objectives.

The Nomination Committee believes that gender diversity is a
representing manifestation of Board diversity, among all other
measurable objectives. While the Board has a domination of
male composition, the Board has resolved on 28 June 2023 the
appointment of a female director, namely Ms. Yu Mei Hung, with
effect from 1 July 2023 in order to achieve a female representation
in the Board.

The Company will engage more resources in training female staff
who have long and relevant experience in the printing industry,
with the aim of promoting them to the senior management or
directorship of the Group.

Workforce Level

As at the date of this report, approximately 63% of the Company’s
workforce (including the Directors and senior management) is
male and approximately 37% is female which is considered as
satisfactory.

Nomination Policy

To ensure changes to the Board composition can be managed
without undue disruption, there should be a formal, prudent
and transparent procedure for selection, appointment and re-
appointment of Directors, as well as plans in place for orderly
succession (if considered necessary), including periodical review of
such plans. The appointment of a new Director (to be an additional
Director or fill a casual vacancy as and when it arises) or any re-
appointment of Directors is a matter for decision by the Board upon
the recommendation of the proposed candidate by the Nomination
Committee.
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Nomination Policy continveq

The criteria to be applied in considering whether a candidate
is qualified shall be his/her ability to devote sufficient time and
attention to the affairs of the Company and contribute to the
diversity of the Board as well as the effective discharge by the
Board of the responsibilities which, in particular, are set out as
follows:

(@) participating in Board meetings to bring an independent
judgment on issues of strategy, policy, performance,
accountability, resources, key appointments and standards of
conducts;

(b) taking the lead where potential conflicts of interests arise;

(c) serving on the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee
and the Nomination Committee (in the case of candidate for
non-executive Director) and other relevant Board committees,
if invited;

(d) bringing a range of business and financial experience to
the Board, giving the Board and any committees on which
he/she serves the benefit of his/her skills, expertise, and
varied backgrounds and qualifications and diversity through
attendance and participation in the Board/committee
meetings;

(e) scrutinising the Company’s performance in achieving agreed
corporate goals and objectives, and monitoring the reporting
of performance;

()  ensuring the committees on which he/she serves to perform
their powers and functions conferred on them by the Board;
and

(9 conforming to any requirement, direction and regulation
that may from time to time be prescribed by the Board or
contained in the constitutional documents of the Company or
imposed by legislation or the Listing Rules, where appropriate.
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Nomination Policy (continueq)

If the candidate is proposed to be appointed as an independent
non-executive Director, his/her independence shall be assessed
in accordance with, among other things, the factors as set out
in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules, subject to any amendments as
may be made by the Stock Exchange from time to time. Where
applicable, the totality of the candidate’s education, qualifications
and experience shall also be evaluated to consider whether he/
she has the appropriate professional qualifications or accounting
or related financial management expertise for filing the office of
an independent non-executive Director with such qualifications or
expertise as required under Rule 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules.

During FY2023/24, the Nomination Committee held one meeting
for (1) reviewing the structure, size and diversity of the Board, (2)
assessing the independence of each independent non-executive
Director, (3) discussing the re-election of Directors, (4) reviewing the
effectiveness of the terms of reference of the Nomination Committee
in discharging their duties and made recommendation on any
proposed changes to the Board, and (5) making recommendations
to the Board on the nomination of an independent non-executive
Director.

Nomination Committee member
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Mr. Fu Chung (chairman) HRLE (EE)
Mr. She Siu Kee William REBEFLAE
Mr. Poon Chun Wai EIRE A&

Remuneration Committee

The Company established the Remuneration Committee on 13
November 2013 with written terms of reference, which was aligned
with the CG Code. The terms of reference of the Remuneration
Committee was revised on 28 June 2023 and is currently made
available on the Stock Exchange’s website and the Company’s
website.

The Remuneration Committee consists of two independent non-
executive Directors, namely Mr. Poon Chun Wai (as chairman) and
Mr. Fu Chung and one executive Director, namely Mr. She Siu Kee
Williamn.
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Remuneration Committee (continueq)

The functions of the Remuneration Committee are to make
recommendations to the Board on the Company’s policy and
structure on the remuneration packages for all Directors’ and
senior management and on the establishment of a formal and
transparent procedure for developing remuneration policy. The
model of Remuneration Committee described in code provision
E.1.2(c)(ii) of the CG Code has been adopted by the Remuneration
Committee, which is to make recommendations to the Board on
the remuneration packages of individual executive Directors and
senior management, including benefits in kind, pension rights and
compensation payments, including any compensation payable for
loss or termination of their office or appointment.

During FY2023/24, the Remuneration Committee held one meeting
for (i) reviewing the policy and structure of the remuneration for the
Directors and senior management.

Remuneration Committee member
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Mr. Poon Chun Wai (chairman) BRI (FE)
Mr. She Siu Kee William RBEKE
Mr. Fu Chung BRELE

The emolument payable to Directors and senior management will
depend on their respective contractual terms under employment
contracts or service contracts, if any, and will be fixed by the Board
based on the recommendation of the Remuneration Committee, the
performance of the Group and the prevailing marketing conditions.
Details of the Directors’ emoluments for FY2023/24 are set out in
Note 39 to the consolidated financial statements.

Senior Management’s Remuneration

Senior management’s remuneration payment of the Group for the
year ended 31 March 2024 falls within the following band:
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Audit Committee

The Company established an Audit Committee on 13 November
2013 with written terms of reference which was revised on 25
February 2019 to comply with the CG Code. The primary duties
of the Audit Committee are to review and supervise the financial
reporting system and to review the risk management and internal
control systems of the Group. The Audit Committee has reviewed
the audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for
FY2023/24.

The Audit Committee comprises four independent non-executive
Directors, namely Mr. Ma Siu Kit (as chairman), Mr. Poon Chun Wai,
Mr. Fu Chung and Ms. Yu Mei Hung.

The Audit Committee is mainly responsible for making
recommendations to the Board on the appointment, re-
appointment and removal of the external auditor and to approve
the remuneration and terms of engagement of the external auditor,
and any questions of resignation or dismissal of such auditor;
reviewing the interim and annual reports and accounts of the
Group; and overseeing the Company’s financial reporting system
(including the adequacy of resources, qualifications and experience
of staff in charge of the Company’s financial reporting function and
their training arrangement and budget) and supervising the risk
management and the internal control systems.

The Audit Committee meets the external auditor regularly to discuss
any area of concern during the audit. The Audit Committee reviews
the interim and annual reports before submission to the Board. The
Audit Committee focuses not only on the impact of the changes in
accounting policies and practices but also on the compliance with
accounting standards, the Listing Rules and the legal requirements
in the review of the Company’s interim and annual reports.

During FY2023/24, the Audit Committee held three meetings.
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Audit Committee member HERE
Mr. Ma Siu Kit (chairman) BIKREE (EE) 3/3
Mr. Poon Chun Wai EIRE A& 3/3
Mr. Fu Chung Bkt 3/3
Ms. Yu Mei Hung (Note) REL LT (KIRE) 1/1

Note: Ms. Yu Mei Hung was appointed as a member of the Audit Committee with
effect from 1 January 2024 and one Audit Committee meeting was held after
her appointment.
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Audit Committee (Continued)

During FY2023/24, the Audit Committee reviewed, among others,
the annual results of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2023
(“FY2022/23”) and interim results of the Group for the six months
ended 30 September 2023, which were in the opinion of the Audit
Committee that the preparation of such consolidated financial
statements and results complied with the applicable accounting
standards and the Listing Rules.

The Audit Committee noted the existing risk management and
internal control systems of the Group and also noted that review of
the same shall be carried out annually.

The accounts for FY2023/24 were audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers
(“PwC”) whose term of office will expire upon the conclusion of the
forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company (‘2024 AGM”).
The Audit Committee has reviewed the terms of engagement of
PwC, inter alias, (i) the size and structure as well as the nature and
complexity of the business of the Group, (i) the relevant audit fees
and (jii) the resources deployed by PwC in respect of the audit of
the consolidated financial statements of the Group in accordance
with “Guidelines for the Effective Operation of Audit Committees —
Selection, Appointment and Reappointment of Auditors” published
by the Financial Reporting Council on 16 December 2021 and
recommended the Board the re-appointment of PwC as the auditor
of the Company at the 2024 AGM.

Corporate Governance Functions

The Company’s corporate governance functions are carried out
by the Board pursuant to the code provisions as set out in the CG
Code.

The corporate governance functions currently performed by
the Board are to develop and review the Company’s policies
and practices on corporate governance to comply with the CG
Code and other legal or regulatory requirements; to oversee the
Company’s orientation program for new Directors; to review and
monitor the training and continuous professional development of
Directors and senior management; to develop, review and monitor
the code of conduct and compliance manual (if any) applicable to
employees and Directors; and to review the Company’s disclosure
in the Corporate Governance Report.

Corporate Governance Report
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Corporate Governance Functions continueq

During FY2023/24, the Board had reviewed the training and
continuous professional development of Directors and senior
management, reviewed the Company’s compliance with the CG
Code and reviewed the Company’s disclosure in the Corporate
Governance Report.

Auditors’ Remuneration

For FY2023/24, the remuneration payable or paid to the Company’s
auditor, PwC, was as follows:

RZBEZ=/Z—NUBREFE EFTEER
NEEREREREEMNSEIIRSETE
CBEAARBTEEERTANG
AEBRFACEEAREANRRABHWE -

REET =

R-B-=/"NHRFE ENHEN
ARRZEAEDE BB ST

HK$’000
FTERx

Services rendered R RE
— Audit services (Note 1) — B RS (BIE1) 1,622
— Non-audit services (Note 2) — JEEEFT AR (FI7E2) 140
Notes: B 5
1) The audit fee included additional audit fee of HK$192,000 related to the (1) B BRAEREREE T _=F=fA="1—

year ended 31 March 2023 which was agreed after 31 March 2023 and not
recognised in consolidated financial statements as at 31 March 2023.

) the non-audit services comprised tax services and other related services
provided by PwC.

Company Secretary

The Company engaged an external professional company
secretarial services provider, Greenfield Services Limited
(“Greenfield”), to provide compliance and full range of company
secretarial services to the Group in order to assist the Group to
cope with the changing regulatory environment and to suit different
commercial needs.

Ms. Leung Ngan Yi (“Ms. Leung”), the representative of Greenfield,
was appointed as the named company secretary of the Company
(“Company Secretary”). Mr. Hui Chi Tung Denny, the Chief Financial
Officer of the Company, is the primary point of contact at the
Company for the Company Secretary.

According to the requirements of Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules,

Ms. Leung had taken no less than 15 hours of relevant professional
training for FY2023/24.
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Dividend Policy

In considering the payment of dividends, there shall be a balance
between retaining adequate reserves for the Group’s future growth
and rewarding the Shareholders.

The Board shall also take into account, among other things, the
following factors when considering the declaration and payment of
dividends:

- the Group’s overall results of operation, financial condition,
expected working capital requirements and capital expenditure
requirements, liquidity position and future expansions plans;

- the amount of retained profits and distributable reserves of the
Company;

- general economic conditions, business cycle of the Group’s
business and other internal or external factors that may have
an impact on the business or financial performance and
position of the Group; and

- any other factors that the Board deems relevant.

The declaration and payment of dividends by the Company is
subject to any restrictions under the Companies Act of the Cayman
Islands, the Company’s memorandum and Articles, the Listing
Rules and any other applicable laws and regulations.

The Company does not have any pre-determined dividend
distribution ratio. The Company’s dividend distribution record in the
past may not be used as a reference or basis to determine the level
of dividends that may be declared or paid by the Company in the
future.

The Dividend Policy shall in no way constitute a legally binding
commitment by the Group in respect of its future dividend and/or in
no way obligate the Group to declare a dividend at any time or from
time to time.

The Board will continually review the Dividend Policy and reserves
the right in its sole and absolute discretion to update, amend and
modify the Dividend Policy at any time.
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Shareholders’ Rights

The general meetings of the Company provide an opportunity
for communication between the Shareholders and the Board. An
annual general meeting of the Company shall be held in each year
and at the place as may be determined by the Board. Each general
meeting, other than an annual general meeting, shall be called an
extraordinary general meeting.

Shareholders to convene an extraordinary general
meeting

According to the Articles, extraordinary general meetings shall be
convened on the requisition of one or more Shareholders holding,
at the date of deposit of the requisition, not less than one tenth
of the paid up capital of the Company having the right of voting
at general meetings. Such requisition shall be made in writing to
the Board or the Company Secretary for the purpose of requiring
an extraordinary general meeting to be called by the Board for
the transaction of any business specified in such requisition. Such
meeting shall be held within 2 months after the deposit of such
requisition. If within 21 days of such deposit, the Board fails to
proceed to convene such meeting, the requisitionist(s) himself
(themselves) may do so in the same manner, and all reasonable
expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure
of the Board shall be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the
Company.

Putting enquiries by Shareholders to the Board

Shareholders may send written enquiries to the Company for the
attention of the Company Secretary at the Company’s principal
place of business in Hong Kong. The relevant address is as follows:

Flat A, 4/F, Phase 3

Kwun Tong Industrial Centre
448-458 Kwun Tong Road
Kwun Tong, Kowloon

Hong Kong
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Shareholders’ Rights (continueq)

Procedures for putting forward proposals by
Shareholders at Shareholders’ meetings

Shareholders should follow the procedures set out in the sub-
section headed “Shareholders to convene an extraordinary general
meeting” above for putting forward proposals for discussion at
general meetings.

Voting by Poll

Pursuant to Rule 13.39(4) of the Listing Rules, any vote of
shareholders at a general meeting must be taken by poll except
where the chairman, in good faith, decides to allow a resolution
which relates purely to a procedural or administrative matter to be
voted on by a show of hands. As such, all the resolutions to be set
out in the notice of 2024 AGM will be voted by poll.

Communication with Shareholders

The Company is committed to a policy of open and regular
communication and reasonable disclosure of information to its
Shareholders.

The Board adopted a Shareholders communication policy on 13
November 2013 (the “Shareholders Communication Policy”) which
sets out the provisions with the objective of providing Shareholders
with information about the Company and enabling them to engage
actively with the Company and exercise their rights as Shareholders
in an informed manner.
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General Policy

The Board shall maintain an on-going dialogue with Shareholders
and potential investors. The Board shall regularly review the
Shareholders Communication Policy to ensure its effectiveness.

According to the Shareholders Communication Policy, there
are multiple channels for information of the Company to be
disseminated to Shareholders, which are included in the following
manners:

° Delivery of annual and interim results and reports to all
Shareholders;

o Publication of announcements on the annual and interim
results, issue of other announcements and Shareholders’
circulars in accordance with the continuing disclosure
obligations under the Listing Rules and other corporate
communications on the Stock Exchange’s website and the
Company’s website; and

° General meetings of the Company is also an effective
communication channel between the Board and Shareholders.

Effective and timely dissemination of information to Shareholders
shall be ensured at all times.

Communication Strategies

Shareholders’ Enquiries

Shareholders may at any time make a request for the Company’s
information to the extent such information is publicly available.
Shareholders shall be provided with designated contacts, email
addresses and enquiry lines of the Company in order to enable
them to make any query in respect of the Company.

Corporate Communication

Corporate communication including, but not limited to, copy of
annual reports, interim reports, notices of meeting, circulars, proxy
forms will be provided to Shareholders in plain language and
in both English and Chinese versions to facilitate Shareholders’
understanding.
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Communication Strategies (continue)

Corporate Website

An “Investor Relations” section is available on the Company website
(http://www.eprintgroup.com.hk/). Information on the Company
website is updated on a regular basis.

Information released by the Company to the Stock Exchange is
also posted on the Company website immediately thereafter. Such
information includes financial statements, results announcements,
circulars and notices of general meetings and associated
explanatory documents, etc.

Shareholders’ Meetings

Shareholders are encouraged to participate in general meetings
or to appoint proxies to attend and vote at the general meetings
for and on their behalf if they are unable to attend the general
meetings. Appropriate arrangements for the general meetings
shall be in place to encourage Shareholders’ participation. The
process of the Company’s general meeting will be monitored and
reviewed on a regular basis, and, if necessary, changes will be
made to ensure that Shareholders’ needs are best served. Board
members, in particular, either the chairmen of Board committees
or their delegates, appropriate management executives and
external auditors will attend annual general meetings to answer
Shareholders’ questions.

Shareholder Privacy

The Company recognises the importance of Shareholders’ privacy
and will not disclose Shareholders’ information without their
consent, unless required by law to do so.

The Board has conducted a review of the Shareholders
Communication Policy for FY2023/24 to ensure the effectiveness
of the Shareholders Communication Policy. Such review shall be
conducted annually. The Board considered that the Shareholders
Communication Policy remains effective.
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Directors’ Responsibilities for the
Consolidated Financial Statements

The Board acknowledges its responsibility to prepare the
Company’s consolidated financial statements for each financial year
which give a true and fair view of financial position of the Group and
the Group’s financial performance and cash flows for that period. In
preparing the consolidated financial statements for FY2023/24, the
Board has selected suitable accounting policies and applied them
consistently; made judgments and estimates that are prudent, fair
and reasonable and prepared the accounts on a going concern
basis.

The Directors are responsible for taking all reasonable and
necessary steps to safeguard the assets of the Group and to
prevent and detect fraud and other irregularities.

The Directors, having made appropriate enquiries, consider that the
Group has adequate resources to continue in operational existence
for the foreseeable future and that, for this reason, it is appropriate
to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the consolidated
financial statements.

Risk Management and Internal Control

The Board acknowledges that it is responsible for monitoring the
risk management and internal control systems of the Group on
an ongoing basis and reviewing their effectiveness. Such systems
are designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to
achieve business objectives, and can only provide reasonable but
not absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss.

The Board, through the Audit Committee, conducted an annual
review of both design and implementation effectiveness of the
risk management and internal control systems of the Group
for FY2023/24, covering material controls, including financial,
operational and compliance controls, with a view to ensuring that
resources, staff qualifications and experience, training programmes
and budget of the Group’s accounting, internal audit and financial
reporting functions, as well as those relating to the Group’s ESG
performance and reporting, are adequate. In this respect, the Audit
Committee communicates any material issues to the Board.

The Directors have reviewed the need for an internal audit function
and are of the view that in light of the size, nature and complexity
of the business of the Group, it would be more cost effective to
appoint external independent professionals to perform internal audit
function for the Group in order to meet its needs.
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Risk Management and Internal Control
(Continued)

During FY2023/24, the Group appointed Smart Giraffe Consulting
Limited (“SGCL”) to:

° assist in identifying and assessing the risks of the Group
through a series of interviews; and

° independently perform internal control review and assess
effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and internal
control systems.

The results of the independent review and assessment were
reported to the Audit Committee and the Board. Moreover,
improvements in internal control and risk management measures
as recommended by SGCL to enhance the risk management and
internal control systems of the Group and mitigate risks of the
Group were adopted by the Board. Based on the findings and
recommendations of SGCL as well as the comments of the Audit
Committee, the Board considered the internal control and risk
management systems effective and adequate.

Enterprise Risk Management Framework

The Group established its enterprise risk management framework.
While the Board has the overall responsibility to ensure that sound
and effective internal controls are maintained, management is
responsible for designing and implementing an internal control
system to manage all kinds of risks faced by the Group.

Through the risk identification and assessment processes, risks
are identified, assessed, prioritised and allocated treatments. The
Group’s risk management framework follows the COSO Enterprise
Risk Management — Integrated Framework, which allows the Board
and management to manage the risks of the Group effectively. The
Board receives regular reports through the Audit Committee that
oversees risk management and internal audit functions.
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Enterprise Risk Management Framework
(Continued)

Principal Risks

For FY2023/24, the following principal risks of the Group were
identified and classified into strategic risks, operational risks,
financial risks and compliance risks.

Risk Areas

B kR

Principal Risks

FERR

Strategic Risks

B S [ fax J&E HESGHI R 15 A8 78 /& 14 1Y [
Operational Risks Information leakage risk

2ER R E Rt EE 2

Financial Risks No significant risk identified

A1 7 [ ANERBAER

Compliance Risks No significant risk identified

& A ARERBBARR

Risk Control Mechanism

The Group adopts a “three-layer” corporate governance structure
with operational management and controls performed by operations
management, coupled with risk management monitoring carried
out by the finance team and independent internal audit outsourced
to and conducted by SGCL. The Group maintains a risk register to
keep track of all identified major risks of the Group. The risk register
provides the Board, the Audit Committee, and management with a
profile of its major risks and records management’s actions taken to
mitigate the relevant risks. Each risk is evaluated at least annually
based on its likelihood of occurrence and potential impact upon
the Group. The risk register is updated by management as the risk
owners with addition of new risks and/or removal of existing risks,
if applicable, at least annually, after the annual risk evaluation has
been performed. This review process can ensure that the Group
proactively manages the risks faced by it in the sense that all risk
owners have access to the risk register and are aware of and alert
to those risks in their area of responsibility so that they can take
follow up actions in an efficient manner.
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Risk Control Mechanism (continueq)

The Group’s risk management activities are performed by
management on an ongoing process. The Company has adopted
risk management policy and procedures. The effectiveness of the
Group’s risk management framework will be evaluated at least
annually, and periodic management meeting is held to update the
progress of risk monitoring efforts. Management is committed
to ensure that risk management forms part of the daily business
operation processes in order to align risk management with
corporate goals in an effective manner.

The Company will continue to engage external independent
professionals to review the Group’s system of internal controls and
risk management annually to further enhance the Group’s internal
control and risk management systems as appropriate.

Handling and Dissemination of Inside
Information

The Company regulates the handling and dissemination of inside
information according to the “Guidelines on Disclosure of Inside
Information” published by the Securities and Future Commission
in June 2012 to ensure inside information remains confidential
until the disclosure of such information is appropriately approved,
and the dissemination of such information is efficiently and
consistently made. The Company regularly reminds the Directors
and employees about due compliance with all policies regarding
the inside information. Also, the Company keeps Directors, senior
management and employees appraised of the latest regulatory
updates. The Company shall prepare or update appropriate
guidelines or policies to ensure the compliance with regulatory
requirements.

Constitutional Documents

During FY2023/24, the Company has made amendments to its
memorandum and articles of association (the “M&A”) in order
to (i) conform to the core shareholder protection standards set
out in the Listing Rules; (i) update the M&A according to the
relevant requirements of the Listing Rules and the applicable laws
of the Cayman Islands; and (i) to make certain housekeeping
amendments. The second amended and restated M&A is available
on the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report
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Message from the Board

In recent years, Hong Kong has been slowly returning to normal
and getting back to its previous prosperity in terms of its social
and economic performance. At the same time, there have been
important technological innovations and industry upgrades that
have brought lasting and significant changes to the overall system.
In response to these changes, eprint Group has actively taken part,
seizing the opportunities of the time and moving forward with a
practical focus on green concepts and sustainable strategies.

Developing and implementing comprehensive
sustainability management strategies as an integral
part of the company’s operations

Through years of dedicated effort, we have successfully developed
and implemented comprehensive sustainability management
strategies that are seamlessly integrated into every aspect of
our company’s operations. Our robust Environmental, Social,
and Governance (ESG) management framework serves as
the foundation for our strategic direction, fostering a cohesive
and sustainable driving force across all our organizations and
departments. Transparency is of utmost importance to us,
as we strive to communicate openly with our stakeholders
about our operations and their impact on the environment and
society. Environmental protection is a top priority in our business
development targets, and we continuously enhance our ESG
strategy to align with global standards. Our resources are
strategically allocated to support our core operations, enabling
us to position ourselves as the leading printing company with an
efficient and balanced business profile.

We approach our work with integrity and determination, proactively
addressing issues that may impact our reputation or pose risks in
the short, medium, or long term. Stakeholder concerns, including
those of our customers, employees, and non-governmental
organizations (NGOs), are essential to us. We actively seek
opportunities that align with strong work ethics, ensuring our
business development success is not only sustainable but also
benefits our employees, customers, and the environment.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

Message from the Board (continueq)

Developing and implementing comprehensive
sustainability management strategies as an integral
part of the company’s operations (continuead)

Sustainability is deeply ingrained within our business model,
shaping our strategy and guiding our daily operations. We prioritise
understanding and engaging with our employees, customers, and
other stakeholders to effectively address ESG issues. We recognise
that effective management of ESG issues is crucial for our long-
term success in a rapidly changing world. By comprehensively
understanding and responding to ESG risks and opportunities, we
are better equipped to allocate resources to reduce and recycle
various forms of waste, while meeting the increasing demand
for higher waste treatment standards set by regulators. We
acknowledge the challenges that lie ahead, but we see ourselves
as part of the solution, leveraging our expertise and capabilities.

With our inclusive approach to decision-making, involving all
relevant stakeholders in the ESG management process, we
are confident in our ability to monitor ESG issues effectively. By
considering diverse perspectives, we ensure the long-term success
of our Group while addressing the greater challenges that lie
ahead. Developing and implementing comprehensive sustainability
management strategies remains an integral part of our commitment
to responsible and impactful operations.

Tackling Climate Change

In response to the global climate challenges highlighted at the
28th Conference of the Parties (COP28) to the United Nations
Framework Convention on Climate Change, we recognise that
climate change poses sustainability challenges for our business
and communities. We keeps a close eye on the impact of climate
change on its businesses over time, and evaluates the risks in its
annual enterprise risk assessment in order to enhance the ability
of our business to anticipate, prepare for, and respond to threats
associated with climate change.
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Our Sustainability Strategy GRS §: 4=

&

To promote environmental sustainability
TREIRIR R A A 1T

To use resources responsibility
BEEMERER

To take action in response to climate change

REITEEERIEE

To care our staff

ALET

To provide health and safety working environment
REERERZ2H TIERE

To promote equality, diversity and inclusion
fREFE  ZtRerkt

To provide convenient, speedy and high quality printing services

RUEERE - R REE N ENR AR

To increase the efficiency of production in order to achieve competitive prices
RAEEBERVERARS W ER

To manage environmental and social risks along the supply chain
EIRMHERE FORE A g E R

To care our community

220y

To strengthen community relations
E AR padEA e

To embrace people’s project

HEBAARARKIRE
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Our Governance Structure

With years of operational experience, the Group has established a
governance structure for managing ESG issues, employing a “top-
down” approach. We have integrated ESG factors into the decision-
making processes of the Company’s business and operations.

Our Board takes the lead in formulating strategic plans that drive
sustainable growth for the Company. They hold the responsibility
for ensuring the effectiveness of ESG strategies, decisions, and
risk management within the Group. To enhance our management
of ESG performance and identify potential risks and opportunities,
we have formed an ESG Working Group. This group consists of
members from middle to senior management and supports the
Board in implementing ESG-related strategies and targets. They
conduct materiality assessments of ESG issues, prioritise them,
and promote the implementation of relevant measures. Under the
authority of the Board, the ESG Working Group collaborates with
respective functional departments to collect ESG data, monitor
the implementation of measures, and investigate any deviations
from targets. They also facilitate prompt rectification actions
when required. The ESG Working Group reports the Group’s ESG
performance and the effectiveness of the ESG management system
to the Board on a semi-annual basis.

In our commitment to transparency, the Group will disclose
comprehensive details about our governance structure for ESG
issues, ESG management policies and strategies, ESG-related goals
and progress review, as well as the progress and effectiveness of
significant issues in our ESG report.
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Our Governance Structure (continveq)

strategy and goals

ESG Working Group

BE dERERIFEA

Functional Department

TUREERP] 177 RBRIR - 1265 it

Our Stakeholders

The Group prioritises meeting stakeholders’ needs and has set
up a comprehensive and multi-channel communication system.
By actively engaging with stakeholders, we aim to build stronger
relationships, identify all relevant stakeholders, understand their
expectations, and address them appropriately. We integrate
these demands into our social responsibility goals and initiatives,
promoting responsible practices across the Group for mutual
benefit.
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PRE  HERERWBERERE

EREE

Assume ultimate accountability for the Group’s ESG strategy and reporting
Oversee the Group’s ESG mission, management approach and goals
Monitor and manage significant ESG-related issues and risks

Evaluate the advancements made towards ESG-related goals and targets
HASBENRE 8 REARBMBERERKREE
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EEREREARE A REEEZEEREAR

FHEFLIRIR - g REAEE B EAEUSHER

Oversee the formulation and development of the sustainability

Preview and implement ESG-related policies and practices
Identify and assess the Group’s ESG-relates issues and risks
BRI FERRERR KA ZOHERER

REWRERE 8 REAERER R ES

BRI RAHMEAEEARE - g REAEFZEE KRR

Identify and highlight emerging ESG-related risks and opportunities
Execute sustainability policies, procedures, and initiatives

Gather ESG information and data for the purpose of ESG disclosure
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Our Stakeholders (continuea)

We use different communication channels to keep track of changes
in stakeholder viewpoints and make proactive adjustments to
enhance the Group’s collaboration with society and its stewardship
of the environment as we grow. The communication channels and
expectations between the Group and its major stakeholders are
outlined below:

Stakeholders Probable points of concern

RIE - e MEamE

K&

BARATENBERE KA THREN
FEEENE Y TEELRFE BN
BAREBELENAE URKEBES
HRENEE AEEETBRNEZMH
MBBRBRERENHEGMRMNT

Communication and responses

K& WRERIEER

The government and Compliance with laws and

regulatory authorities regulations
BT I BB i * Preventing tax evasion

e Compliance with listing rules
Timely and accurate
announcements
BPERRNER

R

BF EAR A

B TR ERN RS

Shareholders
IR ER
performance
@ Investment returns
—+— PEERER

EHREENRER
RE R

Corporate governance system
Business strategies and

Employees e Employee compensation and
== benefits

Training and development

Working environment

Labour protection

& B BN Kt 7

Bl R ERE

TERIR

BITRE

BEREE

Interaction and visits
Government inspections
Tax returns
Announcement and other
information

BEHLRBR

BgsE

e

NEREMEFR

Financial reports
Shareholders’ meetings
General meetings

Official website of the Group
I wE

BEREH

& N

REE T

Employee performance appraisals
Team building activities
Trainings
Staff meetings
Internal memos, emails, notice
boards, and cultural activities for
employees
Employees’ suggestion boxes
1B B &R ITE
EXEREH
=l
BIg®
NEBEE B BERERES
B bE®
e BEEERM
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Our Stakeholders (continuea)

Stakeholders

K&

Probable points of concern

ARERIEE

BHE -

Communication and responses

BEKEDE

Customers

BF

Suppliers

HER
[ O

45

Media & Public
REEEAR

w"\ﬂ
£ ]
0&0

Community
a2

aN
QP2
OQJO

Product quality
Reasonable prices
Delivery schedule
Customer services
Personal data protection

EmEER

-
SRk
F R
BB KR

Payment schedule

Stable demand

Fair and open competition
Strengthening contact and
communication

gt

%E?ﬁx

NS CRN L
hnos B 8 K E i@

Business ethics
Corporate governance
Environmental protection
Human rights

[HE3EKG

hEER

RIR

AHE

Community development
Social welfare

8 B R

tEEA
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Customer service hotlines and
emails

Customer satisfaction surveys
BERAREFEREH
BERPWMEE ;ﬂﬁ

Site visits
Face-to-face meetings
Ri528

[

ESG reports

Public welfare activities
Official website of the Group
RE g kEgnms
N

$ SEEHAL

Community activities

Employee voluntary activities
Community welfare subsidies and
donations
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Materiality Assessment

The Board and management have diligently identified ESG
issues that have the potential or actual impact on the sustainable
development of the Group. These issues have been sourced
from various channels, including previous ESG reports, internal
policies, industry trends, and the Materiality Map provided by
the Sustainability Accounting Standards Board. To thoroughly
analyze the identified ESG issues, several factors were taken into
consideration, such as the Group’s overall strategy, development,
and goals and targets. In order to determine the significance of
these ESG issues to the Group’s business and stakeholders, a
comprehensive materiality assessment was conducted, evaluating
their respective levels of impact. The results of the materiality
assessment for the identified material ESG issues are summarised
as follows:

RIE - e MEamE

ERMFE

EZghEREEINEBRRETEY
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RE HEREAREE BRBENRE
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ERRE ZRAMBERER -AK£HE
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RE HERERFEHASEER LI
MENEEE YFBEREESENF
ERE-CHENEARE HERER
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Environmental, Social and Governance Issues

BRE-HEREREE

Use of Resources

Supply Chain Management
Product Responsibility
BIREA
EEERZENITERE
HIEEER

EmEE

Staff Development and Training
Community Investment
Anti-corruption

8 TR ME

HEIRE

R&EF

Emissions

Climate Change
PR
RIBERRRER
RIREE

Health and Safety Working Environment

The Environment and Natural Resources
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Our Environment

Priority on Sustainable Growth

At our Group, we are dedicated to achieving sustainable operational
growth by carefully managing the consumption of energy and
water resources across our assets, effectively handling waste, and
safeguarding natural resources. Our primary objective is to mitigate
the negative environmental effects associated with our business
activities. Through proactive measures, we strive to reduce carbon
emissions and enhance our ability to adapt to the challenges posed
by climate change.

Our Group strictly complies with relevant laws and regulations
related to emissions of exhaust gases and GHG emissions, pollution
discharge to water and land, and the production of hazardous and
non-hazardous waste. In FY2023/24, our Group was not aware of
any significant material non-compliance with laws and regulations
that may have a significant impact on the Group or are related to
environmental laws and regulations.

Our Awards on Recognizing Best Quality and
Environmental Protection

Hong Kong Commercial Times
Business Awards 2024
HKCT1® % K #2024

Service of the Year

F A A8 L BRI AR 7%

Hong Kong Brand Development
Council
EEmBERRB

Hong Kong Top Brand Mark

BB BEZH (TOPE)
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Most Outstanding Online Printing
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

Our Awards on Recognizing Best Quality and
Environmental Protection (coniinueq)

Organisers

EWEN

Environment and Ecology Bureau,
HKSAR
ERRRERERR

Federation of Hong Kong Industries

EEIEES

Awards and Recognitions
RIERAA

Hong Kong Awards for
Environmental Excellence

BEREFUAR

BOCHK Corporate Low-Carbon
Environmental Leadership Award
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In Appreciation of
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e-print (Promise Network Printing Limited)
FRESTSHE EEDRIATRAT

for its Pursuit of

the 2022 Hong Kong Awards for
Environmental Excellence
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Federation of Hong Kpng Industries

HIREBRREMBREATALE 2022

BOCHK Corporate Low-Carbon Environmental Leadership Awards 2022
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This certicate is presented to.
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Our Environment continuea)

Our Awards on Recognizing Best Quality and
Environmental Protection (coniinueq)

Organisers
EWEN

The Chinese Manufactures’
Association of HK

EETEREBHAS

Hong Kong Green Organisation
Certification
ERGERERE

Awards and Recognitions

BIARAA

ESG Pledge

ESGHI =

Wastewi$e Certificate

EERE
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Our Awards on Recognizing Best Quality and
Environmental Protection (coniinueq)

Environmental, Social and Governance Report
BIR - HERERWmE
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Organisers Awards and Recognitions
EWEN REARRT

G7 Master Qualification
G7TRAI R EEE

Idealliance China
Idealliance

Greeners Action
Program
KREITED
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Promise Network Printing Ltd.
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Our Environment (continueq)

Emissions

Our Group has paid full attention to environmental protection
standards and guidelines to help fulfil our commitment to
environmental protection and efficient use of resources.

Also, we have implemented a number of internal environmental
protection measures, with appropriate equipment installed to help
reduce the adverse impact brought to the environment. At the
same time, we are committed to achieving environmental protection
and energy conservation by cooperating with other environmental
protection units and by promoting them to the public. Below are the
measures to reduce our carbon emissions:

° Support the “Indoor Temperature Savings Charter” program
to maintain the average indoor temperature from 24 to 26
degrees Celsius.

° Use compact fluorescent lamps, T5, T8 light tubes or LED
lights.

° Turn off the electrical appliances e.g. air conditioners, lights,
computers, etc., when they are not in use e.g. during non-
office hours, and lunch time.

° Turn off lights and air conditioners in the office/production
plant when members of staff are not in the office/production
plant e.g. Saturday afternoon.

° Ensure that all lights, air conditioners and electrical appliances
that are not in use are turned off properly when the last
colleague leaves the office/production plant.

We have also made a commendable contribution to the
environment and social responsibility by transitioning from using
IPA alcohol in printing to alcohol-free dampening solution last year.
This switch has significantly reduced safety hazards associated with
flammable liquids during storage and usage. Moreover, it has led
to a decrease in air pollution and the occurrence of occupational
diseases.
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Our Environment (continueq)

Emissions (continuea)

To uphold the principles of sustainable development, the Group is
committed to reducing or maintaining the greenhouse gas emission
intensity between 90% to 120% of the level of the baseline year
ended 31 March 2024 in the next reporting year.

For details regarding emissions during the Reporting Period,
please refer to the section “Key Performance Indicators — Part A.
Environmental — Emission Indicators KPI A1.1 & KPI A1.2”,

Waste Management

Hazardous and non-hazardous wastes are generated during the
course of our production and daily operations.

Hazardous wastes include but are not limited to, chemical
wastewater, cloths stained with chemicals, wasted zinc, photograph
potions, Isopropyl alcohol (IPA) and polyvinyl chloride (PVC). Non-
hazardous wastes include but are not limited to, paper, foam board,
synthesised paper, lightbox film, cloth and stickers.

During the Reporting Period, we complied with all relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact on our business, including,
but not limited to, the Waste Disposal Ordinance of Hong Kong and
Prevention and Control of Environmental Pollution by Solid Waste of
the PRC.

In order to mitigate the emission of waste, the Group has
configured the wastewater recycling system and has engaged
qualified recyclers to recycle waste. Wastes being recycled include
chemical wastewater, wasted zinc, photograph potions and paper.
Besides, the Group has granted Discharge Licence in relation to the
Water Pollution Control Ordinance (Cap. 358) and the Registration
of Waste Producer (Producer No.: 3422-295-1 2857-02) under the
Waste Disposal (Chemical Waste) (General) Regulation (Cap. 354C).
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Our Environment (continueq)

Waste Management (continued)

To advocate waste reduction within our workplace, we have
encouraged our employees to adopt double-sided printing, with
the single-side-printed paper being collected for reuse. A paperless
work environment has also been promoted by encouraging
employees to switch from printed documents to electronic
documents.

To uphold the principles of sustainable development, the Group is
committed to reducing or maintaining both the hazardous waste
and non-hazardous waste intensity between 90% to 120% of
the level of the baseline year ended 31 March 2024 in the next
reporting year.

For details regarding the production of wastes during the Reporting
Period, please refer to the section “Key Performance Indicators —
Part A. Environmental — Hazardous Waste Indicators KPI A1.3 &
Non-hazardous Waste Indicators KPI A1.4”.

Use of Resources

The Group has established relevant measures to ensure that the
concept of environmental sustainability is integrated into every part
of our daily business operations by complying with all environmental
protection policies, practices and initiatives.

The Group complies with the policies in the efficient use of
resources, including energy, water and raw materials. To uphold the
principles of sustainable development, the Group is committed to
reducing or maintaining the electricity and water intensity between
90% to 120% of the level of the baseline year ended 31 March
2024 in the next reporting year. The measure that reduces the use
of resources are listed below:
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Our Environment (continueq)

Use of Resources (continued)

Water:

o Report matters related to water dripping to the Administration
Department for follow-up.

° Turn off the water source after use, even though there is no
difficulty in sourcing water.

o Use recycled water instead of running water for rinsing zinc
plates.

° Install refilters in printing machines to recycle water.

° Configure a wastewater treatment system which helps to
dilute the wastewater produced during the pre-press stage
of production to ensure that the pH value of the wastewater
meets the required standard before the wastewater is
discharged.

Raw materials:

° Use non-alcoholic printing to reduce air pollution.

° Use environmental-friendly paper during each production
process.

° Provide FSC (Forest Certification) paper as one of the choices
which the customers can choose from.

° Clean regularly the parts of the production machine
contaminated with color ink to reduce cases of reprint.

° If some parts can still be reused after they have been taken
out from the machine, they will be reserved as spare parts.

° Use kraft paper instead of carton packaging for some of the
packaging.

o Encourage customers to bring their own shopping bags
(BYOB,).

° Use the printing ink in the production process that is made of
soybeans.

° Hand over most of the wastes produced in the production
process to qualified recyclers for recycling.
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Our Environment (continueq)

Use of Resources (continued)

Packaging materials used for finished products:
° Suggest our customers bring their own shopping bags.

° Use recyclable and biodegradable elements for our packaging
materials.

For details regarding the consumption of energy and water
during the Reporting Period, please refer to the section of “Key
Performance Indicators — Part A. Environment — Energy and Water
Consumption Indicators KPI A2.1 & KPI A2.2”.

58  eprint Group Limited Annual Report 2023/24

BMHRIE
ERER 2
HRmTAaEETH

s EIEXFPEWBUR-

e HMERMNERMHMERATLEK KA
EVRRR TR

BEREREHARERIICHRNFES F2
Bl (R AEIERE— % — 80 IR\ — B
BRREAEFEE R - BREREREA2AR
FASAE M IERA2.2] —Hfie



Environmental, Social and Governance Report

Our Environment continueq)

Our Environment - Implementation of Smart Locker
System

Our company has introduced a cutting-edge smart locker system
at Kwun Tong Store in May 2023 that operates 24 hours a day,
providing convenient services to our customers. We have plans to
expand this service to our Chai Wan and Kowloon Bay locations in
2024. With this innovative solution, customers can simply retrieve
their packages by using a one-time password sent to their mobile
phones via SMS. This not only streamlines the delivery process but
also significantly reduces paper waste.

We take immense pride in the environmental contribution our
company has made through the implementation of this intelligent
locker system. By minimizing the need for paper-based delivery
notifications and receipts, we have effectively reduced our
ecological footprint. The reduction in paper usage not only
conserves valuable natural resources but also decreases the energy
consumption associated with paper production and disposal.

By reducing paper waste, conserving resources, and enhancing
convenience and security, we contribute to a greener future while
providing tangible benefits to our customers and the community
at large. We will continue to explore and implement innovative
solutions that align with our environmental values, striving to create
a better and more sustainable world for generations to come.
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Our Environment (continueq)

The Environment and Natural Resources

The Group has established a comprehensive environmental pollution
prevention and control system, adopted measures against solid
waste to prevent environmental pollution and clarify management
responsibility.

As a paper printing and banner printing service provider, there
is no significant consumption of natural resources and therefore
the Group’s activities do not have any significant impact on the
environment. Notwithstanding, the Group strives to enhance
environmental sustainability and environmental awareness among
its employees.

In addition to the measures on reducing carbon emission and use
of resources mentioned above, the Group has taken actions to
manage its activities and minimise its impacts on the environment
and natural resources, such as implementing applicable systems
and policies to monitor the use of natural resources and circulating
notices regarding how to save energy and resources.

We will continue to assess the environmental risks of our business,
review the environmental practices and adopt preventive measures
as necessary to reduce the risks and ensure compliance with
relevant laws and regulations regarding the Group’s emissions and
the use of resources.

Focusing on Climate Change

We have performed a climate risk assessment using the TCFD
recommendations as a reference. This involved conducting
a forward-looking analysis to evaluate the probability and
consequences of each significant climate risk. Our aim was to
assess the potential impacts on various business units and develop
comprehensive plans to both mitigate and adapt to the challenges
posed by climate change.
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Our Environment continveq)

Focusing on Climate Change (continued)

Risk Type

RBRER

Acute Physical Risk

i
i
Kolg
=
B

Chronic Physical
Risk

REEREAR

Transition Risks -
Policy and Legal

BERB-BER
A

Transition Risks -
Market

BERR- 5

Risk Description

LSl

o Extreme weather
conditions such as
flooding and typhoon

o WRRRER
oK kB R

e Increased in average
temperature

o FHRREN

e Changes in
environmental-related
regulations

o REHBERZ(L

e Shift in consumer
preference
to products
incorporating the
more environmentally
friendly concept

o HEERUEER
BARRHMSHER

Potential
Financial Impact

BREMBER

Reduced revenue due
to business and supply
chain disruptions
Damage physical
assets

FBRGEETE
EH YRS
BEERAE

Increased operating
costs for increased
cooling demands

RANERIENE

B ERAE M
Higher operating costs
to adopt new practices
or technologies

I B R R
EHREXA LT

Reduced demand
for printing and other
products, decreased
competitiveness and
create an adverse
impact on revenues
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BPNRERE
EERREE @)

Long
(four

to ten
years)
R
(MZE+F)

Short
(current Medium
(one to
period) three years)
yob] el
(=Z==4)

Mitigation Strategy

R AR

Establish an adverse

weather condition policy

¢ Maintain or expand the
supplier base to avoid
disruption

¢ Consider increasing

insurance coverage

o HE-HABBLAR

AR B R
o BEREAERAR
DA & o B
o ZEREMBREE
v/ o Adopt energy

conservation measures to
avoid overconsumption
of natural resources
o REEREENES
BEEEXALR
Adopt energy
conservation measures
to reduce emissions
¢ Continue to monitor the
regulatory environment
to ensure that the Group
complied with the
environmental-related law
and regulation
o REERHER D

B
o BEEREEREN
BRASEETRS
HEERRER
v' o Adhere to the Group’s

sustainable development
concept, strictly control
the printing production
process and commit
to producing high-
quality products to
meet the expectations
of consumers and the
market
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miEHE

2023/24 3R eprint EEAERAT 61



Environmental, Social and Governance Report
RE - g kERWmE

Our People

Creating Friendly Working Environment

In our endeavor to nurture a positive and thriving corporate culture,
the Group is wholeheartedly dedicated to cultivating a friendly and
inclusive work environment. We recognise the immense importance
of this aspect in ensuring the wellbeing and overall job satisfaction
of our employees. We firmly believe that by providing a well-
organised workspace, we can empower our staff to unleash their
full potential, enhance work efficiency, and foster unwavering loyalty
towards the company.

Our Awards on Recognising Workplace Wellbeing

Organisers Awards and Recognitions

EWA RIFERY

Hong Kong Council of Social 10 years+ Caring Company
Service

BEHEREHE 10F+ R RRAE IR

Promoting Happiness Index Happy Company
Foundation

BERTREEHES FESI=E S
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Our People (continueq) M BB
Our Awards on Recognising Workplace Wellbeing BMEERBEZTERFTEMERE
(Continued) (%)

Organisers Awards and Recognitions

EWA RIFERE

The Hong Kong General Partner Employer Award

Chamber of Small and
Medium Business
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A

GS1 Hong Kong 5 years+ Consumer Caring
Scheme
EEEmmEENE SE+L O EZ T2
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Our People (Continued)

The Inauguration of New Employee Lounge

Throughout our 23 years of success, our workforce have been an
integral part of building our business, delivering for our customers,
our Shareholders, and the Hong Kong community.

With a steadfast commitment to the well-being of our employees,
we are delighted to announce the inauguration of our new
Employee Lounge at the Kwun Tong Industrial Centre in November
2023, which spans across an impressive 1,701 square feet. This
purpose-built facility serves as a dedicated haven where our
employees can enjoy their meals and find respite in a comfortable
environment. It is thoughtfully equipped with essential amenities,
including a microwave, cooking stove, well-appointed dining area,
restroom facilities, and an array of recreational options such as
karaoke, PS5, Nintendo Switch, table tennis, and a darts game.
Conveniently accessible during lunch breaks and after work hours,
this space not only caters to the personal needs of our employees
but also offers a versatile venue for various departments to conduct
internal training sessions or host external events.

This investment serves as a testament to our unwavering

commitment to enhancing the working conditions and fostering a
positive, inclusive work environment for our valued staff members.
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Our Peo ple (Continued)

Adhering to Employment Regulations

As of 31 March 2024, we had 340 employees in total. For the
statistics related to our employment structure and employee
turnover rate as of the year ended 31 March 2024 and 31 March
2023, please refer to the section of “Key Performance Indicators —
B. Social — Employment Indicators — KPI B1.1 & KPI B1.2”.

The Group maintains an Employees Handbook which stipulates
the policies of recruitment, dismissal, promotion, remuneration
and benefits of employees. Every employee gets a copy of the
Employees’ Handbook to make sure that they are aware of their
rights and responsibilities. All new employees have an employment
contract signed with the Group, setting out the rights and
responsibilities of both parties in order to safeguard the interests of
both parties.

Besides, “Human Resources Operation Procedures” has been
established by the Human Resources Department as the guidelines
in relation to the monitoring of human resources of the Group. The
“Human Resources Operation Procedures” helps management
to comply with labour laws and relevant regulations that have a
significant impact on the Group’s internal procedures relating to
recruitment and promotion, working hours, holidays, and etc. For
example, employees should normally work for 8-9 hours per day
and they can apply for overtime claims or compensation leave,
subject to the approval of department supervisors.

Moreover, employees are entitled to have annual leave according
to their grades and the departments to which they belong. For
instance, staff at officer grade and managerial grade are entitled to
have 11 days and 14 days of annual leave respectively in their first
year of employment. Furthermore, all our employees are entitled
to 1-day of birthday leave, 5-day of marriage leave and 2-day of
compassionate leave for their close family members i.e. parents/
children/spouse/grandparents.
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Our People (Continued)

Adhering to Employment Regulations (continuea)

In addition, the Group strictly complies with all relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact on its business, including
but not limited to the following:

o The Group is in compliance with the local laws and
regulations, such as enforcing the terms of employment under
the Employment Ordinance (Chapter 57) of Hong Kong for
recruitment, and provision of reasonable working conditions.

° The Group provides MPF benefits to our staff in accordance
with the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance.

° In determining the remuneration of employees, the Group
complies with the “Minimum Wage Ordinance” (Chapter 608).

° For both recruitment and dismissal, the Group prohibits
the practice of discrimination by complying with the Sex
Discrimination Ordinance (Chapter 480), the Disability
Discrimination Ordinance (Chapter 481) and Race
Discrimination Ordinance (Chapter 602).

e  The Group follows the “Employees’ Compensation Ordinance”
(Chapter 282) in regard to the work injury of employees.

Zero Tolerance

During the Reporting Period, the Group complied with all relevant
laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the Company
relating to preventing child and forced labour.

The Group has established an “Anti-discrimination Policy” to
ensure that all our employees understand that harassment and
discrimination are not tolerated. The Group is committed to
providing a fair working environment where all employees are
treated equally. All employees are assessed based on their ability,
performance and contribution, irrespective of their nationality, race,
religion, gender, age or family status.
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Our Peo ple (Continued)

Zero Tolerance (continued)

The Group has adopted the following three measures to avoid
recruiting child labour and forced labour during the recruitment
process:

A. During the recruitment process, the recruitment
advertisements set out the job responsibilities for candidates’
reference in order to avoid potential misunderstandings and
disputes arising from the requirements of the job duties. In
addition, the Group generally does not select any persons
aged 16 or below during the stage of shortlisting candidates.

B. Candidates are required to fill in a job application form before
the interview and provide identity documents to ensure that
the candidates can be legally employed in Hong Kong.

C. At the time of appointment, the Group enters into an
employment contract with the new employee, prescribing
the terms of the employment, including basic salary, working
hours, days of annual leave, overtime allowance, meal
allowance, etc., for preventing future disputes over the
employment terms.

According to the Employees’ Handbook issued by the Group,
employees who are in breach of rules, or commit serious dereliction
of duty, malpractice or criminal offence would be immediately
dismissed. In addition, according to the “Human Resources
Operations Procedures” issued by the Human Resources
Department, the following steps would be taken against the
employees who are dismissed:

A.  The department manager or the Human Resources
Department informs the employee directly of the dismissal,
explains the reasons for the dismissal, and completes the
“Employee Termination Form”;

B. Before an employee leaves the Group, the Human Resources
Department collects the items which are the Group’s assets,
such as mobile phones, laptops, business cards, chops, and
locker keys, etc.; and

C. Arrangement of the last salary payment to the employee within
one week after termination of the employment.
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Our People (Continued)

Protecting Health and Safety

We focus on providing a safe and enjoyable working environment
for all of our employees.

During the Reporting Period, we complied with all relevant laws
and regulations regarding industrial health and safety, such as the
Factories and Industrial Undertaking Ordinance (Chapter 59) and
the Occupational Safety and Health Ordinance (Chapter 509) of
Hong Kong. In the case that an employee encounters an industrial
accident, the Group will take all necessary measures to ensure that
adequate compensation is granted to the employee concerned
in accordance with the requirements stipulated in the Employees’
Compensation Ordinance.

We emphasise that occupational safety is the first priority of our
Group. In this respect, we encourage our employees to attend
relevant training and we provide sufficient guidance and supervision
to the employees. During the Reporting Period, we arranged
various training sessions for our staff in Hong Kong, covering areas
including fire and electrical safety, basic accident prevention and
safety measures for lifting heavy items.

The Group has also established “Internal Safety Rules” and “Safety
and Health Management Policies and Procedures” to standardise
the occupational safety procedures of various departments of
the Group, with an aim to protect employees from occupational
hazards.

Furthermore, a Safety Committee has been established to
meet regularly and supervise the occupational safety of various
departments, as well as coordinate and implement training on
occupational safety for the employees.

For the number of work-related fatalities and lost days due to work
injury during the Reporting Period, please refer to the section of
“Key Performance Indicators — Part B. Social — Health and Safety
Indicators — KPI B2.1 & KPI B2.2”.
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Our Peo ple (Continued)

Improving Talent Development and Training

We believe that our staff members are the valuable assets of the
organization. By investing in our employees, we improve the service
quality of the Group. We also believe that by organizing training
through seminars and forums for our employees, job satisfaction
would be promoted and staff motivation would be increased,
thereby lowering the staff turnover rate.

Training is arranged for new employees during the probation with
regard to the skills required for that particular position. For example,
the Customer Service Department conveys the knowledge about
product specifications, technology for production, workflows of
order placement, and customer service techniques, etc. to the
responsible staff. Before the end of the probation, management
assesses the performance of the new employees in order to
ensure that the new employees are equipped with the required job
knowledge and skills. The assessment criteria include but are not
limited to, a sense of responsibility, interpersonal skills and work
attitude, etc.

We also encourage our employees to enhance their knowledge and
skills by pursuing continual education. Employees who have been
employed for over one year are entitled to “Continuing Education
Assistance” if they enrol on courses which are relevant to their
jobs. In order to increase flexibility, there is no pre-defined list for
restricting the courses to be chosen, so, our employees can select
the most suitable courses by themselves.

For the percentage of employees trained and average training hours
completed per employee during the Reporting Period, please refer
to the section of “Key Performance Indicators — Part B. Social —
Development and Training Indicators — KPI B3.1 & KPI B3.2”.

Our Customers

Fostering Product Responsibility

As a printing company, we place a strong emphasis on product
responsibility. We understand the significance of producing high-
quality printed materials that not only meet the expectations of our
customers but also adhere to ethical and sustainable standards. By
prioritizing product responsibility, we aim to deliver printing solutions
that not only satisfy our customers but also contribute to a more
sustainable and responsible future.
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Our Customers (Continued)

Fostering Product Responsibility (continuea)

During the Reporting Period, our Group strictly complied with
laws and regulations in regard to product responsibility in Hong
Kong, Malaysia and the PRC that have a significant impact on
our business, including, but not limited to, Copyright Ordinance
(Chapter 528) of Hong Kong and Consumer Protection Act 1999 of
Malaysia.

We have established procedures in relation to monitoring and
protection of intellectual property rights. For the orders placed by
customers at the retail shops or the self-service platform or through
the customer service hotline, the Customer Service Department
is responsible for checking the files against infringement of
intellectual property rights or any other issues. If the file to be
printed is suspected of possible infringement of intellectual property
rights, the Group would not start printing unless the customer
can provide the authorization proof of the intellectual property for
verification. In case the customer fails to provide such authorization/
proof, the Group has the right to reject the order. Moreover, the
Group reserves the rights to any claims or litigation in respect of
infringement of intellectual property rights arising from the printing
of documents provided by the customers.

In order to safeguard product safety, the printing ink used in the
production process is made of non-hazardous substances such
as soybean, and vegetable oil, and therefore, is free from toxic
chemicals like lead. Test reports which list the composition of the
ingredients of printing ink are obtained from the ink manufacturers
for our reference. The test reports show that no hazardous
components are contained in the printing ink. If customers are not
satisfied with the quality of the products delivered, the staff of the
retail shops have to conduct the preliminary assessment and will
pass the products to the Quality Control Department for further
checking, if necessary.

Our Group places a high value on customers. Our Customer
Service Department is responsible for handling complaints from
our customers, and all complaints received will be recorded in
writing and submitted to senior staff for review and follow-up
recommendations. All documents and reports will be properly kept
and we aim to resolve all complaints, including those involving
malpractices or alleged negligence. A follow-up response will also
be communicated to the relevant customer when the complaint is
duly handled and resolved.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

Our Customers (continueq)

Fostering Product Responsibility (continuea)

If reprinting, discount or refund arises due to quality issues, the
retail shops would recall part of the products and send them to
the Quality Control Department for quality checking. A report will
then be prepared with information such as checking results, the
responsible department involved, recommendations for rectification,
and etc. clearly listed.

For the percentage of total products sold subject to recalls and
the number of products and service-related complaints received
during the Reporting Period, please refer to the section of “Key
Performance Indicators — Part B. Social — Product Responsibility
Indicators — KPI B6.1 & KPI B6.2”.

Placing Customer Services at First Place

Our Group places a high value on customers. Complaints received
must be recorded in the internal system and passed to senior staff
or the Customer Service Department for follow-up.

Under normal circumstances, the Group should reply to the
complainant within 3 working days. If more than 3 days of
investigation is required, the Group should at least make an interim
reply to the complainant. Furthermore, a final reply should be
made to the complainant within 7 days after the first interim reply.
However, in exceptional cases, if the investigation is still in progress,
the Group, should update the complainant about the investigation
status once a week.

In order to enhance the service quality of various departments, the
Customer Service Department reports the details of the complaint
to relevant departments for follow-up during the business review
meeting with the Marketing and Production Department.
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Our Customers (continueq)

Protecting Privacy Matters

Due to the business nature, the Group has to collect personal
information from customers such as customers’ names, addresses,
telephone numbers, etc. Nevertheless, all the personal information
collected by the Group is strictly used in accordance with the
“Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance” of Hong Kong.

The Group has also implemented several controls and measures
for protecting the personal data collected. For example, access
controls are in place in the workstations like server rooms, in order
to prevent unauthorised access to confidential information. Besides,
when the Group collects personal data via the Group’s website,
e.g. when customers place orders through a self-service platform,
encryption technology is adopted to protect the personal data from
potential leakage. Firewall has also been set up on the Group’s
website to prevent unauthorised access and abuse by third parties.
According to the “Employee Handbook”, all employees are required
to protect the sensitive information and clients’ personal information
obtained when performing job duties. Information should not be
disclosed to any third parties unless and to the extent that it is
necessary to make such disclosure. If there is any leakage of the
Group’s confidential information, the Group may impose fines,
administrative penalties or pursue legal liabilities against the parties
concerned to protect the interests of the Group and its clients.

Aiming for More Suppliers Complying with our Code
of Conduct

We stress the importance of minimizing the environmental
impact caused by our production. For instance, we adopt green
procurement practices by using printing ink that is made of
soybeans in our production. Compared to the traditional Petroleum-
based ink, soy-based ink is more environmentally friendly and
makes the paper easier to recycle.

72  eprint Group Limited Annual Report 2023/24

RANES
RELEBEE

AEBUEEER AEBAKEEFEA
R MEFHEZ MIREERES-
AR AEBEREBERE [EAZER (LE)
)] BB e A PTUR SR ) 2 ARME A B Ht o

AEBNERBBERENRENDEAE
BEEEE - f1 AR AR #E

STEEETHREES - A IERERE
AREEES WIN HAKEEBAE
EREBEEEAER(BEREFEBRE
BIRBF A TE)  BRAINE M RE
BABF AP BRI - 78 & B A8 uh IF 3%
EMABUBIEE =7 REXEHMH A
ER-RE(BREFTM] -FAEREREHAR
EEETIFRERESHNHRENR
BEFEAER TERAEFAE=THEE
HBRIFERBRERELERBR TEL-
EASERTENEBTARE ~5&H
FEHBBEALRASI R THES &E
RERAET UWREAKBERETPHE

N

B

Eﬁﬁﬁi%ﬁﬁﬁ-ﬁ%%ﬁﬁﬁﬂ@ﬁ
5 5F B

HMERRERREEMEXNNREY
E-flm BMPEEEEEBEFEMRK
TEHEOMERHEERARCKRE - HLLE
BHOMAE ASHREERAAL S ER
E 5O

S



Environmental, Social and Governance Report

Our Customers (continueq)

Aiming for More Suppliers Complying with our Code
of Conduct (continuea)

Moreover, we continuously monitor the performance of our supply
chain so as to ensure the quality of products provided to our
customers. We have set criteria for assessing suppliers such as
price, quality, relationship, stability on goods supply, delivery time,
and payment terms, etc. Only suppliers with satisfactory results in
the initial assessment will be added to our list of approved suppliers
and engaged in our business operations. Suppliers who take the
environmental and social concerns into account of their production
would be more favourable to be accepted as approved suppliers.
On top of that, the Group also conducts an annual assessment
of the approved suppliers to ensure that the products or services
are of consistent quality and up to the Group’s required standards.
Suppliers with unsatisfactory results in the annual assessment will
be eliminated from our list of approved suppliers. For the number of
our suppliers by geographical region during the Reporting Period,
please refer to the section “Key Performance Indicators — Part B.
Social — Supply Chain Management Indicators — KPI B5.1”.

Every year, the Purchasing Department assesses the primary
suppliers of raw materials by filing in an evaluation report. The
assessment criteria include but are not limited to, incidents of
goods return, price fluctuation, delivery time, company background,
stability of goods supply, and etc. Besides, the Group maintains an
approved vendor list to include all qualified suppliers. The Group
would selects the suppliers from the approved vendor list and
perform competitive bids.

Upholding Business Ethics

Anti-corruption

Our Group takes a zero-tolerance approach towards all forms
of bribery and corruption and is committed to observing and
upholding high standards of business integrity, honesty, fairness,
impartiality and transparency in all its business dealings at all times.
We believe an ethical environment in the workplace contributes
to profitability, secures the trust with stakeholders, improves the
operational efficiency and enhances the mutual trust among staff at
all levels.

RE - e NEAWRE

BFANEFE

EERFESHETETRMANT
BFH @)

SEoN - B PR A B 1 IR B ) R IR AR AR
mMEFPREHNEMRER -RMEREGHE
B AEE - MEK BX- ?‘%1? B
EBRERE REENZTAZ - ERTF

E”HEEPHﬂﬁﬁf%%E’JT/\JKF"?ET//J\\DD
iﬁff’ﬁﬁ’]uu—ﬂ JEE 7 & B A 3 2 B
WEBEE- REEPERRERTGM
E'ﬂ%ﬁ?ﬁ%%ﬁﬂﬁ%%& N 7 3R A]
JER BRI 29N RE B TR E RAIEER
?E?:IEJE?E”—HE LAE@%FDDTHEW%E%
BRI — WEINRNEERENRLEF
E $f55ﬁkﬁf%%m1 JE 7 % 14e & 1P9
MRAEEEREFR SR - -SREHAARNE
ih [ & 5 B 4 fﬁ%ﬁ(ﬁﬁﬁm’%%ﬁﬁr%
REMIEETE— By g HEEE
BEE- F‘ﬁfki AK?ETEB5 1] —&fe

REXSFEES N
P B HEHEITGE
BETARREEXR -BERKEY XEH A

AER EmtENRENLS ﬁtﬁ\\'ﬂi
Elaéﬁ%é%%ﬁ%ﬂ%*ﬁqﬂﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ
BEBHER -AKESKARE T AWM

BREE: =200
%1E$T/‘§’7%

2= 1 H

REGE BRI ETHRIERIE
BIBEER

R&ES
AEBEHMBLANBREESRNT
RROREE I?&ﬁﬂ&ﬁﬁﬁ%fxx%qﬂﬁ
rEgsr &%ﬁu SIRENEEHE HE-

NFE-RERBH - HMABIGE" E/\IT’E%
ﬁﬁﬂi/\%ﬁLﬁE’]Iﬁaiﬁ EPRESEN

N BREFHEZAZILGEE K=
%@?&%’i’[i%@%?&EIZF&?E’U@E%
o

2023/24 4R eprint EBERAT 73



Environmental, Social and Governance Report
RE - g kERWmE

Our Customers (continuea)
Upholding Business Ethics (continuea)

Anti-corruption (Continuea)

We have established Anti-Corruption Policy to require employees
promptly report any suspected fraud cases, whether they are
aware of any suspected persons or events. Employees may
report suspected fraud cases to their immediate supervisor or
the department manager. The reports can be made verbally, e.g.
telephone, or formally in written form, e.g. letter/email. Full support
from senior management will be given to the employees reporting
fraudulent cases.

After the potential fraudulent cases have been reported, the
investigation will be conducted with due care and the investigation
process will be kept confidential. For the proven fraud, management
will take corrective action immediately.

During the Reporting Period, the Group complied with all relevant
laws and regulations that have a significant impact on us, relating
to bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering, including, but not
limited to, Criminal Law of the PRC, Anti-Money Laundering Law of
the PRC, the Prevention of Bribery Ordinance of Hong Kong and
the Malaysian Anti-Corruption Commission Act 2009.

There was no corruption case was noted and/or reported during the
Reporting Period. In addition, the Group arranged anti-corruption
training for the new employees. The Group will closely monitor the
regulatory development and will arrange relevant anti-corruption
training for our employees and directors, where necessary.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

Our Customers (continueq)

Whistle-blowing Procedures

We are committed to achieving and maintaining the highest
standards of openness, probity and accountability. We believe our
employees at all levels should conduct themselves with integrity,
impartiality and honesty. Therefore, we encourage reporting of
concerns and actual or suspected misconduct or malpractice or
unethical acts (e.g. corruption) by any staff and/or external parties
in any matter related to the Group.

We have implemented a comprehensive and diverse
whistle-blowing system to foster a culture of transparency and
combat business corruption effectively. Our Group provides
multiple channels for employees and external parties to report any
suspected misconduct, ensuring the efficacy of our anti-corruption
monitoring efforts. Whistle-blowers are encouraged to disclose
their concerns orally or in writing, providing comprehensive details
and supporting evidence to their respective department heads.
To safeguard the Group’s interests, we diligently investigate any
suspicious or unlawful activities. Moreover, we have established
a mechanism to ensure the confidentiality of whistle-blowers and
protect them against unfair repercussions or dismissal. In the event
of a suspected criminal offense, our management promptly reports
it to the appropriate regulatory or law enforcement authorities as
deemed necessary.

Our Community

As a printing company, we firmly believe that education is the
most powerful tool for promoting and nurturing community
investments. We recognise the transformative impact that
education can have on individuals, families, and the community as
a whole. With this understanding, we are committed to supporting
educational initiatives that empower individuals and contribute
to the development of a well-educated and skilled workforce.
Through partnerships with local schools, nonprofit organizations,
and educational institutions, we actively inviting students to visit
our retail store and production facilities. By investing in education,
we aim to create a brighter future for individuals and foster the
sustainable growth and prosperity of our community.
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Our Community (Continued)

Promoting Employment in the Printing Industry and
Facilitating Inclusion of Individuals with Disabilities

- -
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

Our Community (Continued)

Promoting Employment in the Printing Industry and
Facilitating Inclusion of Individuals with Disabilities
(Continued)

Recognizing the importance of attracting fresh talent into printing
industry, we have partnered with various organizations to encourage
more young individuals to join this field. In 2023, we have partnered
with Pro-Act by VTC and VTC Earn & Learn Scheme, inviting their
students to visit our retail store and factory to gain an understanding
of the fundamental printing processes, basic machine operations,
and company introduction. This initiative aims to provide them with
a comprehensive understanding of the employment opportunities
and prospects within the industry, ultimately inspiring them to
pursue a career in printing.

Also, we have extended an invitation to individuals with disabilities
from Tsui Ngai Co-production Centre, which is affiliated with the
Christian Family Service Centre, to visit our factory. The objective of
this initiative is to provide an opportunity for these mildly disabled
students to understand the printing industry. By doing so, we aim to
assist them in identifying suitable job opportunities that enable their
active involvement in printing production activities and contribute to
the promotion of inclusive employment.

Such collaborations highlight our company’s commitment to
fostering the growth and development of the next generation,
showcasing our dedication to the advancement of the printing
industry, and fostering a sense of inclusivity and unity between
individuals with and without disabilities.

Empowering education for community prosperity

During the Reporting Period, our staff joined flag days organised by
Eternal Flame Action (EFA), Hong Kong Employment Development
Service, The Society of Rehabilitation and Crime Prevention and
Greeners Action. Our company also supported students to pursue
further studies and future development by donating scholarships.
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Our Commun |ty (Continued)

Empowering education for community prosperity
(Continued)

Our company took part in the “Lai See Reuse and Recycle Program
2024 Red Pocket Sponsorship” organised by Greeners Action to
raise public awareness of wasting paper, to educate citizens to
cherish resources from their daily life, and to cultivate the public to
reuse and recycle. We have also deployed a team to participate in
the “Green WALK Hong Kong 2024” campaign organised by WGO.
The campaign not only aims to raise public awareness of low-
carbon living but also allows participants to appreciate the scenic
beauty of Hong Kong, thereby inspiring citizens to contribute to the
protection of the city’s environment.

Assisting the Disadvantaged Groups

We believe that everyone is equal. The spirit of mutual help and
mutual love is to make society harmonious and help develop the
economy. We collect donations from employees and business
partners through various activities to help meet the needs
of disadvantaged groups and improve the life quality of the
communities to which they belong. The Group made printing
sponsorship to different charitable organizations. including but not
limited to Hong Kong Eating Disorders Association Limited (HEDA),
The Society of Rehabilitation and Crime Prevention, Hong Kong
Sheng Kung Hui, Little Life Warrior Society, Wecarebill Foundation
and The Ronald McDonald House Charities (RMHC) Hong Kong.

During the Reporting Period, our Group donated to Greeners
Action, “Green WALK Hong Kong 2024” campaign and The Hong
Kong Printers Association. We also enthusiastically joined the
blood donation initiative organised by the Hong Kong Red Cross,
demonstrating our commitment to making a positive impact on the
lives of individuals in need. By actively participating in this noble
cause, we not only contributed to the critical supply of blood but
also supported the broader mission of the Hong Kong Red Cross in
providing vital healthcare services to our community. We are grateful
for the opportunity to have made a difference and look forward to
continuing our collaborative efforts with organizations like the Hong
Kong Red Cross to create a lasting impact in our community.

For details of the resources we have contributed to the community
during the Reporting Period, please refer to the section of “Key
Performance Indicators — Part B. Social — Community Investment
Indicators — KPI B8.2”.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

About this report

Report Profile

This ESG report (“Report”) focuses on the Group’s main operations
in Hong Kong, mainland China (‘PRC”) and Malaysia, for the
financial year ended 31 March 2024 (“Reporting Period”). It
describes the Group’s progress on its way towards creating
sustainable value for its Shareholders and other stakeholders.
During the process of preparing this Report, we have conducted
thorough review and evaluation of the existing ESG practices of the
Group with the aim of achieving better performance results in the
future.

Report Scope and Boundary

This Report contains information that is material to understand the
Group’s ESG practices and performance in its daily operations.
Unless otherwise specified, the environmental disclosure in the
Report covers our operations in Hong Kong and the PRC. As
the production volume in Malaysia is less than 5% of the total
production volume of the Group, it is regarded as immaterial
and hence the environmental data of the Malaysia office is not
disclosed in the Report. The social disclosure in the Report covers
all locations of the operating entities of the Group, which included
Hong Kong, the PRC and Malaysia.

This Report is prepared in accordance with the ESG Reporting
Guide as set out in Appendix C2 to the Rules Governing the Listing
Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Listing Rules”).

The ESG Report complies with all provisions of “mandatory
disclosure” or “comply or explain”, as well as the principles of
materiality, quantitative, balance and consistency. In preparing the
Report, we have adopted the international standards and emission
factors specified in the guidance materials on ESG issued by The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited for computing the relevant
Key Performance Indicators (“KPIs”), and there is no change in the
way the Report has been prepared from the previous year unless
otherwise stated. The application of materiality is detailed in the
subsection headed “Materiality Assessment”.

Although there were no specific programs to engage stakeholders
outside the Group when this Report was being prepared, we
have included the key issues which are of different stakeholder
groups’ concerns, based on our continual communication with
them. Should you wish to provide comments or recommend
improvements on our ESG reporting, please reach us through our
feedback hotline (telephone no. at (852) 2319 7107).
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Key Performance Indicators BRENER
Part A. Environmental EF—HD RE

Emission Indicators — KPI A1.1

BHER -BRARERFRAL

For the year ended For the year ended

Emission Data from Vehicles Unit 31 March 2024 31 March 2023
BE-_2_@OF BE-2-=
ERNFEREBE B ZA=+—-BLEFE ZA=+—-HLFE
Kilometres travelled kilometers 100,406.2 126,955.1
BITRRE nEB
Units of fuel Consumed
P REXR KL B8 AL
- Petrol Liter 7,213.5 9,886.3
- FH 7t
Nitrogen Oxides grams 13,105.1 18,041.9
atA I
Sulphur Oxides grams 106.0 145.3
inE=RlA=E7) I
Particulate Matter grams 1,100.8 1,635.8
R E I
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Key Performance Indicators contines FARENIEE
Part A. Environmental (continued) F—WH RE @)

Emission Indicators — KPI A1.2

FRIER -BREARIERAL2

Total Greenhouse Gas (“GHG”) For the year ended For the year ended

Emissions Unit 31 March 2024 31 March 2023
BE-ZT-NmF BE-ZT=-=

BERB(BERBE)HEHEE By =A=+—HLEE ZA=+—HLEFE

Scope 1: Direct Emissions or Removals from Sources

HE1  EEHERTSUERRIR

Scope 1b - GHG Emissions from Mobile Combustion Sources
EE1b- RBRNBREREABNBRERE IR

Units of fuel Consumed

PR B8 AL
- Petrol Liter 7,213.5 9,886.3
- T 7t
Carbon Dioxide tonnes 19.19 26.30
—&1bhx g

Scope 2 - Energy Indirect Emissions

EE2- sEREEH K

Electricity kWh 2,804,271.8 2,804,053.7
Bk TER&

Carbon Dioxide tonnes 1,112.88 1,116.19
— Stk g

Total Amount of Carbon Dioxide tonnes 1,132.07 1,142.49
Produced during the Reporting

Period:

REBEEHREEN _—ELREAE: WA

The intensity of Carbon Dioxide tonnes per employee 3.56 3.70

Produced during the Reporting Period
(tonnes per employee):

RBEEHRNEEN —ELLREE FEES M
(BEESE®)
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RE - g kERWmE

Key Performance Indicators (coniinueq BRENER
Part A. Environmental (continued) F—Ho BRE®

Hazardous Waste Indicators — KPI A1.3

FEREYESE-BREREFALS

For the year ended For the year ended

Total hazardous waste produced Unit 31 March 2024 31 March 2023
BEE_T_@OF BE-2-=

EENAERRVAE B ZA=t+-HLEEE ZA=+-HLEE
Chemical Wastewater tonnes 2,701.000 2,399.000 (Note 1)
f£I57K Mg (BEEE)
Cloths Stained With Chemicals tonnes 3.818 3.818
2B RME Mg

Wasted Zinc tonnes 162.352 159.301
FE £ WA

Photograph Potions tonnes 24.860 23.415
R Bk U7

Isopropy! Alcohol (IPA) tonnes 7.830 (Note 2) 17.136
2R Mg (KEE2)

Polyvinyl Chloride (PVC) tonnes 7.113 6.887
RE2E Mg
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Key Performance Indicators continueq
Part A. Environmental (continued)

Hazardous Waste Indicators - KPI A1.3

FERERYESE-BAREREFALS

RIE - e MEamE

BERERER 0

F—Ho BRE®

Hazardous waste produced
per tonne of product produced Unit

LESHMERTELENEEERY BN

Chemical Wastewater in tonnes/

tonne produced
{EIi57K VA BT E A B WA 25T
Cloths Stained With Chemicals in tonnes/

tonne produced
SRERNZETH A BT 2 AE 8 85T
Wasted Zinc in tonnes/

tonne produced
JE £ LA FfT 2 A B B B AT
Photograph Potions in tonnes/

tonne produced
A BE K LA T A B9 WA S5t
Isopropyl Alcohol (IPA) in tonnes/

tonne produced
HRkE VAFTE A BB B AT
Polyvinyl Chloride (PVC) in tonnes/

tonne produced
BREE VA BT 2 A /O B 8K 5T

Note 1: The wastewater data from last year has recently been received. Last year’'s
figure was calculated based on the actual wastewater produced over 8
months. The figure from last year has been restated to reflect the actual
usage over the past 12 months.

Note 2: The company transitioned from using IPA Alcohol in printing to Alcohol-
free Dampening Solution last year, leading to a substantial reduction in the
consumption of IPA Alcohol.

For the year ended For the year ended

31 March 2024 31 March 2023
BE-ZE-_N#F BE-—ZE=-=

ZA=+—BLFE =ZA=+—-HLEE

0.704 0.616 (Note 1)
(BzE1)

0.001 0.001

0.042 0.041

0.006 0.006

0.002 (Note 2) 0.004

(FtzE2)

0.002 0.002

M SE BB EFHTRERE - EFNEF R
BeAANBERELMNSKEME EFHH
FREBN URBRBE12EANERERE
e

Mizt2 : ZF ARBENRTHEARRBEREEE
EEBRRE - BEAERD T REABAEREE -
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B A REARE

Key Performance Indicators continueq

Part A. Environmental (continuea)

Non-hazardous Waste Indicators — KPI A1.4

BEBRVESE-BREREFA14

FERERER 0

F—Ho RE @)

Total non-hazardous waste
produced

EEXENEERREYHRE
Paper

ok

Foam Board
AR
Synthesised Paper
RS

Lightbox Film

B EE

Cloth

Uitk

Sticker

BhAR

Non-hazardous waste produced
per tonne of product produced

LESWMERFMELENEERRY
Paper

AR

Foam Board

YRR
Synthesised Paper

B R
Lightbox Film

P A6 SE IR
Cloth

okt
Sticker

R AR

Unit

B
tonnes
7}
tonnes
L7
tonnes
U}
tonnes
U7}
tonnes
7}
tonnes
145

in tonnes/
tonne produced

VA PITEE A5 B WA BT

in tonnes/
tonne produced

VA BT E A= HO R BT

in tonnes/
tonne produced

VA PITEE A B WA BT

in tonnes/
tonne produced

VAT E A HO R BT

in tonnes/
tonne produced

VA PITEE A B WA BT

in tonnes/
tonne produced

AT E A RO R BT
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For the year ended
31 March 2024

BE-ZT_-_MF
=ZA=+—HLEE
665.362

25.644

8.330

0.394

5.538

15.495

0.173

0.238

0.204

0.010

2.962

0.206

For the year ended
31 March 2023

BE-Z_—=
=Z=B=+—HLEE
684.488

24.829

8.239

0.390

4.872

15.711

0.176

0.238

0.204

0.010

3.167

0.206
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RE - g kERWmE

BERERER 0

F—Ho BRE @

Key Performance Indicators continueq
Part A. Environmental «continued)

Packaging Material Indicators - KPI A2.5

BEMBER-BRENEFA25

Total Packaging Material used

For the year ended For the year ended

for Finished Products Unit 31 March 2024 31 March 2023
BE-ZT-NF BEz-2—-=
BRmTAEEMBEE B ZA=+—HLEE =ZA=+—HLEE
Paper Box tonnes 0.82 1.05
) 7
Plastic Box tonnes 3.89 413
BHE T8
Kraft Paper tonnes 8.15 8.46
F R4 U
Carton tonnes 65.47 60.20
W] g
Transparent Wrap tonnes 4.50 4.83
FEIER Mg
Sealing Tape tonnes 1.04 1.05
BHE T8

Packaging material per tonne of
product produced

BHEMEENEEMR

Paper Box in tonnes/ 0.0002 0.0002
tonne produced

Y VA FfT 2 A B R B85

Plastic Box in tonnes/ 0.0009 0.0010
tonne produced

ZRE VA B 2 4 & R 85T

Kraft Paper in tonnes/ 0.0019 0.0020
tonne produced

BN LA BT E 4 RO WA S5

Carton in tonnes/ 0.0155 0.0141
tonne produced

i) LA B 2 4 &9 R 85T

Transparent Wrap in tonnes/ 0.0011 0.0011
tonne produced

FHHER VA B 2 4 B R 85T

Sealing Tape in tonnes/ 0.0002 0.0002
tonne produced

BHE LA AT A B9 WA EEt
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RIR - e RERWmE

Key Performance Indicators (coniinueq BRENER
Part A. Environmental (continued) F—Ho BRE®

Energy and Water Consumption Indicators — KPI A2.1 & KPI A2.2

R RACHREIER - FAREREFA2 1R BRARIEFRA2.2

For the year ended For the year ended

Total Consumption Source Unit 31 March 2024 31 March 2023
BE-Z-OF BE-=Z-=
BHEHREER BT B ZA=+—HBLEE ZA=+—HLEFE
Electricity kWh 2,804,271.80 2,804,053.67
Tt TR
Water cubic metres 4,194.00 4,057.50
X AV

Consumption per
unit produced

BENUMELEN

HES
Electricity kWh per tonne 665.52 657.77
BHE TR &0
Water cubic metres per tonne 1.00 0.95
K S J7 KR
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BIR - HERERWmE

Key Performance Indicators (contineq BRENER
Part B. Social e (5 N

Employment Indicators - KPI B1.1

BEER-BREAXNEEBIA

Employment As at 31 March 2024 As at 31 March 2023
R-B-DNF R-®BZ-=

(0 ZA=+—H ZA=+—H

Total number of employees 340 329

EEAH

By gender

BMF 7

Male 212 206

EERis

Female 128 123

g

By age group

BERD

Below 25 17 21

25 AT

25 to 29 41 41

25295

30 to 39 100 96

30%395%

40 to 49 76 7

40ZE495%

Over 50 106 94

508% LA
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RIR - e RERWmE

Key Performance Indicators (coniinueq BRENER
Part B. Social (continued) e (5 S S )

Employment Indicators - KPI B1.1

EREER-BARENEEBA

Employment As at 31 March 2024 As at 31 March 2023

R-ZBE-NE R-ZEZ-=
EE =A=+—8H =A=+—H

By region

ZE 5

Hong Kong 293 281
0

PRC 25 28
[

Malaysia 22 20
P i

By Employment Type

HEBEE S

Permanent Staff 326 310
KAHwmEIA B

Contract Staff 14 19
BRAR
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BIR - HERERWmE

Key Performance Indicators contines FARENIEE
Part B. Social (continueq) FoWD HE

Employment Indicators - KPI B1.2

BEER-BREEAMNESEB2

For the Year Ended For the Year Ended

Employee turnover 31 March 2024 31 March 2023
BEE-_T_0OF BE-ZT_-=

EERALR ZA=+t—BLEE ZA=t—BLEEE
Total employee turnover rate 21% 18%
BHEERKLR
By gender
BMF 7
Male 23% 15%
B
Female 19% 24%
gl
By age group
BERD
Below 25 59% 57%
255k A T
25 t0 29 37% 24%
25295
30 to 39 25% 19%
30%395%
40 to 49 16% 9%
40ZE495%
Over 50 9% 14%
505% A &£
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Key Performance Indicators continueq
Part B. Social (continued)

Employment Indicators - KPI B1.2

BREER-BREXRESRB.2

FAREENIEEZE
F_Ho g

For the Year Ended

Employee turnover 31 March 2024

HE_T_MOF
EERALE ZA=t+—BLEE
By region
HESS
Hong Kong 24%
N
PRC 4%
FE
Malaysia 0%
P i

Health and Safety Indicators - KPI B2.1 & KPI B2.2

RERZZES-BRAENESEB21KAREANIESB22

For the Year Ended
31 March 2023

BE-ZT=-=
=A=+—HLEE

20%

7%

5%

For the Year Ended
31 March 2024

For the Year Ended
31 March 2023

For the Year Ended
31 March 2022

BE-ZT-NF BE-ZT-= BEz-=2-C

ZA=+—BLtHFE =ZA=+—-BLFE =ZA=+—-HLEE
Fatality number = = S
BT A
Number of reportable injuries 6 8 o)
BATHRELEHE
Number of day lost 16 205 352
TR E) R 21
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BIR - HERERWmE

Key Performance Indicators contines FARENIEE
Part B. Social (continueq) FoWD HE

Development and Training Indicators - KPI B3.1

BRREIER-BREAREEB3A

For the Year Ended For the Year Ended

Percentage of employees trained 31 March 2024 31 March 2023
BEE-_T_0OF BE-2-=

EilEEES L ZA=+t—BLEE ZA=t—BLEEE
Total 22.9% 441%
et
By gender
BMF 7
Male 67.9% 75.9%
B
Female 32.1% 24.1%
pegid
By employee category
HIES KB
Entry level 83.3% 73.1%
APFIAR
Middle level 11.6% 17.2%
g
Management level 5.1% 9.7%
EIEE
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RE - g kERWmE

Key Performance Indicators (coniinueq BRENER

Part B. Social «continuea) F_HBD L@

Development and Training Indicators — KPI B3.2

BREREIER -BREAREEB3.2

For the Year Ended For the Year Ended
31 March 2024 31 March 2023
BE-Z-_UF BE-Z-=F%
ZA=t—BLEFEE ZA=t—BLEFEE
Total number of hours of internal training 283.00 172.50
received by employees
EEFESZAEZINNERH
Average hours of training per employee
BEES FHEIFE
Average hours of training per employee by
gender
B M B 7 & a8 & F 1515 3 i 2
el 4.24 1.11
EeRid
Female 2.34 1.43
gl
Average hours of training per employee by
employment category
HAIEBH B 7 & 618 5 -F 19 1% 3 5 2
Entry level 1.93 1.17
AP
Middle level 411 0.90
hE
Management level 30.13 1.89
g
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Part B. Social continuea)

Supply Chain Management Indicators - KPI B5.1

Environmental, Social and Governance Report
BIR - HERERWmE

FEREANER

F-HD HE

i EEER - BREARIEEBSA

Supplier management

HEmEE
Total number of suppliers
HEBAY
By region
K EH 7
Hong Kong
BB

PRC

T

Taiwan
Malaysia

P N

For the Year Ended

For the Year Ended

31 March 2024 31 March 2023

BE-ZT-F BE-Z2=-Z=
EA=E+—-HLEFE EA=+-HLEHFE
121 121
98 98
5 5
3 3
15 15
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RIR - e RERWmE

Key Performance Indicators (coniinueq BRENER
Part B. Social continued) FoWD HE

Product Responsibility Indicators — KPI B6.1 & KPI B6.2

EmRBERER-BREEREEB6IRBRENIESEB6.2

For the Year Ended
31 March 2024

BE-_ZT-_OF
ZA=+-BLFE
Total No. of Products sold or shipped 427,737

EEXRDEXEMBE

Total number of products subject to recalls for -
safety and health reason

A&z RiERREBAEE BN EMER
Total number of complaints received -

REVESE T8 2t

Community Investment Indicators — KPI B8.2

HEREER -BREANIEEBS.2

For the Year Ended
31 March 2023

BE-ZE-=
=A=+—HIEE
416,448

For the Year Ended

31 Mar 2024
BE-ZE-NF
ZA=+-BLHFE
Resources contributed to education, environmental 190,811
concerns, labour needs, health, culture, sport
(Amount in HKS)
HHYE REHE SHF L BE b -BE
BRONER (RETFE)
Hours spent on corporate charitable activities 26
PERSEDMARH
Number of employee volunteer participating in 64

corporate charitable activities

BESHESMEERZE TP AR
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For the Year Ended

31 Mar 2023
BE-®-=%
=A=1+—HLEE
45,818

19
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HKEX ESG Reporting Guide Content Index

EEBX R

RIE - e MEamE

RE - HERE

HEESIABR RS

ESG Aspects

BR -#E8RERER

Related Section(s)

HEEHE

Part A: Environmental
E—Ho RE
A1. Emissions

Al R

Information on the policies and compliance with relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact on the issuer relating to air
and greenhouse gas emissions, discharges into water and land, and
generation of hazardous and non-hazardous waste.

BEBRERSOREREHN KROS5 AERETEEDH
EXSHNHRNBTHRTABEAZENHBERIERNER -

KPI A1.1 The types of emissions and respective emission data.

BB A RUEIRATY BE R 1R AR B P R Bz

KPI A1.2 Direct (Scope 1) and energy indirect (Scope 2) greenhouse
gas emission in total (in tonnes) and, where appropriate, intensity (e.g.
per unit of production volume, per facility).

Eéf}%i%maffa“iA1zﬁT%<$ﬁl1>&Fﬂ% R (EE2) )R ER AN
E(AMAE) R (WER)ZE (ASES B - E;IE Eﬂ.ﬂ'#)

KPI A1.3 Total hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where
appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per facility).

BRESIEEMIMELESEEMRS (UEE) R (NER) =
B (WAGEEEN FHERMTE) o

KPI A1.4 Total non-hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where
appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per facility).

BREVIEZEAM 4 FTEEBEZREYRE (U8R (ER)H
B (ML BESEM BERGETE) -

KPI A1.5 Description of emissions target set and steps taken to
achieved them.

A 52 45 IR 1RA1.5 3
B B8

KPI A1.6 Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous wastes are
handled, and a description of reduction target set and steps taken to
achieved them.

BB AERUEIRA1.6 Wl RIEE T REEREEY N IIE - M
BB EE B IR R A ERE L B IRATREN IR -

AT BN E B IR R AERE L B IR

AP R] AL

Our Environment — Priority on
Sustainable Growth, Emissions

BIHOIRIR — Alds Ao
BB

Key Performance Indicators — Part A.
Environmental

BENIEE-F 35 RIE

Key Performance Indicators — Part A.
Environmental

ROELES

BRSR AR AN FE IR —

— 5 8

it

Key Performance Indicators — Part A.
Environmental

B AR RIS —

— 5

I
\ife

Key Performance Indicators — Part A.
Environmental

FREBIER -5 80 R
Our Environment — Emissions

AR IRE — HE)

Our Environment — Waste
Management

HFIRIRE - EEYEIE
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RS g hkEewmE

HKEX ESG Reporting Guide ContentIndex &HEBXZMBE HERE

(Continued) HREESIRBES o
ESG Aspects Related Section(s)
RE - HERERED HEEH
A2. Use of Resources
A2. ERER
Policies on the efficient use of resources, including energy, water and Our Environment — Use of Resources
other raw materials.
ERABRERAER (BRI KR H AR ) RER - HAHIRRE - ERES
KPI A2.1 Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type (e.g. Key Performance Indicators — Part A.

electricity, gas or oil) in total (kWh in ’000s) and intensity (e.g. per unit of Environmental
production volume, per facility).

FREBUEIZEA2 1 BB MEER IHEER (NE - [gh) BRESUEE-F— B2 RE
BREE (UTETFRRAZE) REE (NMAGESEN §FHERMB

)

KPI A2.2 Water consumption in total and intensity (e.g. per unit of Key Performance Indicators — Part A.
production volume, per facility). Environmental

BRERIEEA22 BFEKERTE (MABESEM  BERME BRERIEE - F -89 RE

KPI A2.3 Description of energy use efficiency target set and steps taken  Our Environment — Use of Resources
to achieve them.

MRERIEBRAI MR LW REAREE R R AERELE HANRE-BEREA
TRATERER A 25 5% o

KPI A2.4 Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing water Our Environment — Use of Resources
that is fit for purpose, water efficiency target set and steps taken to
achieve them.

FA 8 4B WUIRIRA2.4 SR EGE RKR E R BEMERE - AT LA AR HANRE-EREMR
Mk B RN RE JL%HT%?H%T&HXE’\J*/F%E%

KPI A2.5 Total packaging material used for finished products (in tonnes)  Key Performance Indicators — Part A.
and, if applicable, with reference to per unit produced. Environmental

BREDUEZEA2S BN MATHEREM B NEE (BERD R (ER) BRESUEE-F—3B5 B3R
FEEBAMNE-
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RIE - e MEamE

HKEX ESG Reporting Guide ContentIndex &HEBXZMBE HERE
(Continued) ﬁ%?ﬁ gl W = ?x ?Il (%)

ESG Aspects

Related Section(s)

BR -HERERER

A3. The Environmental and Natural Resources
RERRXARER

Policies on minimizing the issuer’s significant impact on the environment
and natural resources.

ERZEREZRTAURRERRERERNEATZENEE

KPI A3.1 Description of the significant impacts of activities on the
environment and natural resources and the actions taken to manage
them.

FREBIEEASI HILEBEHHRRRRAAERNEATER
KRERAHETENTH-

A4. Climate Change

Ad. BIRE 1L

Policies on identification and mitigation of significant climate-related
issues which have impacted, and those which may impact, the issuer.

BB EBRECERAEEHETAELYENEARBREREE
IR ER

KPI A4.1 Description of the significant climate-related issues which have
impacted, and those which may impact, the issuer, and the actions
taken to manage them.

ARENIEEAM I EE R AR EHRTAELERENEARK
HEEENMERK HXE@EEE%EE’JTT@J

HEEE

Our Environment — The Environment
and Natural Resources

BFIRIRE - RERRAER

Our Environment — The Environment
and Natural Resources

BFRRE-RERRAER

Our Environment — Focusing on
Climate Change

HPHRR - IR RIRE (L

Our Environment — Focusing on
Climate Change

BAFIRIRE - IR RIREE
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HKEX ESG Reporting Guide Content Index ERARZFRE -HERER
(Continuea) wEESIRBES| @

ESG Aspects Related Section(s)

RE-HEREREE HEES

Part B. Social

FoWy HE

B1. Employment

Bi. Ef&

Information on the policies and compliance with laws and regulations
that have a significant impact on the issuer relating to compensation
and dismissal, recruitment and promotion, working hours, rest periods,
equal opportunity, diversity, anti-discrimination, and other benefits and
welfare.

BRAZ N ERE BB RET TERE - RY FERKS Zit-
RIEGEARE M ERBANOBRR LB THETABEAZENEM
ERBERHER

KPI B1.1 Total workforce by gender, employment type, age group and
geographical region.

BRARUEIEB11 RIER  BERL FREMN MRS DNESE
g

KPI B1.2 Employment turnover rate by gender, age group and
geographical region.

FREDIEEBI2 MR FRAN R EE S EB MK X
B2. Health and Safety
B2. ZEEZE

Information on the policies and compliance with laws and regulations
that have a significant impact on the issuer relating to providing a safe
working environment and protecting employees from occupational
hazards.

BRRMEE THRBARGEED BB SEORE RETYH
AABEARENRMERERNER -

KPI B2.1 Number and rate of work-related fatalities.

BB MIEEB2.1 ATEREMIL T AB KL XK
KPI B2.2 Lost days due to work injury.

BREMIEEB22 AT BERATIERH-

KPI B2.3 Description of occupational health and safety measures
adopted, how they are implemented and monitored.

P RUIEIEB2.3 A T IR M B R R L 2566 - HEATTRE
BIE.
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Our People — Adhering to
Employment Regulations

FAPT e B B — B2 <7 R R 15k

Key Performance Indicators — Part B.

Social

BB B AU IR —

FE_#o g

Key Performance Indicators — Part B.

Social

BB B RIS —

WD i

Our People — Protecting Health and

Safety

I E B —

RERERRZ 2

Key Performance Indicators — Part B.

Social

BB B RIS —

F_FD e

Key Performance Indicators — Part B.

Social

BB 4B RIS —

F_FD e

Our People — Protecting Health and

Safety

T APT [ o —

RERERRZ 2
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HKEX ESG Reporting Guide Content Index

(Continued)

ESG Aspects

EBXRZ R
HEESIABRES =)

RIE - e MEamE

RE - HERE

Related Section(s)

BR -HERERER

B3. Development and Training
B3. & & EF

Policies on improving employees’ knowledge and skills for discharging
duties at work. Description of training activities.

FRRTHMEBETT TIEREMME LK B - BIE SR

KPI B3.1 The percentage of employees trained by gender and
employee category (e.g. senior management, middle management).

FRSRAEMIEIRB3. RIERI RE BRI (NS RERE TRERE)
FomZIllEEE DL

KPI B3.2 The average training hours completed per employee by
gender and employee category.

FARENIEEBI2 BRI REEEFE D BHREETKZINFH
Frgho

B4. Labour Standards

B4. & T %8|

Information on the policies and compliance with laws and regulations
that have a significant impact on the issuer relating to preventing child
and forced labour.

BRAR LLE T K98 Hl %5 T A BR M8
RIOERHERL

KPI B4.1 Description of measures to review employment practices to
avoid child and forced labour.

PRSI IEISBA. T R s BB B RAR R ET RBHST

KPI B4.2 Description of steps taken to eliminate such practices when
discovered.

RABEAE NIE1EB4.2 1}

STHBETABEAZENHERE

AR R RIERSFRBRIE AT R 5 -

HEEE

Our People — Improving Talent
Development and Training

BB — e AT R MIE

Key Performance Indicators — Part B.
Social

BREVERE-F 80 e

Key Performance Indicators — Part B.
Social

RRERERE-F o1&

Our People — Zero Tolerance

BFEE - TRR

Our People — Zero Tolerance

Our People — Zero Tolerance

APy [ B —

BN
TRA
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HKEX ESG Reporting Guide Content Index

(Continued)

ESG Aspects

BR -HERERER

ERARIMEBE - HEREAR
HEESIABRES

Related Section(s)

HEEEH

B5. Supply Chain Management
B5. it EHEEE

Policies on managing environmental and social risks of the supply
chain.

BRABTEHBENREREERMBAOBR-

KPI B5.1 Number of suppliers by geographical region.

R ERIEIEBS. Wi E B DR EREKE -

KPI B5.2 Description of practices relating to engaging suppliers,
number of suppliers where the practices are being implemented, how
they are implemented and monitored.

R B MIEIEB5.2 it BRI A EE R E S AT E BB
HEEHE FREBINBMITRERTE-
KPI B5.3 Description of practices used to identify environmental and

social risks along the supply chain, and how they are implemented and
monitored.

B 52 4B G 1RB5.3 it FAH 8 Bl £ 1 8 A 3R IR T A L B ) 1B 191 DA
NEBEPNARITRERT A
KPI B5.4 Description of practices used to promote environmentally

preferable products and services when selecting suppliers, and how
they are implemented and monitored.

PR AE IR IEB5.4 L AN BB R ER R HEBRRE R MRBHE
PIARBREHNRITRERT A
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

HKEX ESG Reporting Guide Content Index

(Continued)

ESG Aspects

BR -HERERER

BEERXS R
HEWSIABT RS w0

RIE - e MEamE

RE - HERE

Related Section(s)

HEEE

B6. Product Responsibility
B6. EmEE

Information on the policies and compliance with laws and regulations

that have a significant impact on the issuer relating to health and safety,

advertising, labelling and privacy matters relating to products and
services provided and method of redress.

BRAMREHREMMBRENERREZE ES
T E R B S 38

R RAEEE AR

for safety and health reasons.
R ENIEEB61 EEHEEX
BEHBADL

KPI B6.2 Number of products and service-related complaints received
and how they are dealt with.

AEMBHTRALEHEEREARME

BRENIEIEB6.2 HEMNE R MREHNIRFEB AREE L.

KPI B6.3 Description of practices relating to observing and protecting
intellectual property rights.

FRERAE N 515B6.3 il i i MRB A ER B RERIER -

KPI B6.4 Description of quality assurance process and recall
procedures.

PR A IEIEB6.4 ML EERTBIERERAD@IEF -

KPI B6.5 Description of consumer data protection and privacy policies,

how they are implemented and monitored.

78 42 45 U5 12B6.5 3
Fik e

FUHETABEALENEMER AR ER -

KPI B6.1 Percentage of total products sold or shipped subject to recalls

AHEEERRERLEBBR HERTRER

Our Customers — Fostering Product
Responsibility

RPN EF-EREMEE

Key Performance Indicators — Part B.
Social

BREVERE-E 80 148

Our Customers — Placing Customer
Services at First Place, Key
Performance Indicators — Part B.
Social

BPHERP— h@%ﬁ&%ﬁ‘%ﬁ
BRER-—F o g

Our Customers — Fostering Product
Responsibility

BN EEF-EEERET

Our Customers — Fostering Product
Responsibility
BMOWEFP-—BEERET

Our Customers — Protecting Privacy
Matters

ZANEF - RELRFE
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HKEX ESG Reporting Guide Content Index ERARZFRE -HERER
(Continued) HREESIRBES o

ESG Aspects Related Section(s)

BR -HERERER HEEEH

B7. Anti-corruption

B7. RE’S

Information on the policies and compliance with relevant laws and Our Customers — Anti-corruption
regulations that have a significant impact on the issuer relating to

bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering.

BRABE R FEFMARBNBRRRETHRTABEAZEN RANEF-RES
*HE@%@&%%EE’J%TM

KPI B7.1 Number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt practices ~ Our Customers — Anti-corruption
brought against the issuer or its employees during the reporting period
and the outcomes of the cases.

B B2 A IR 1EBT A EAi&iHﬂW%ﬁéﬁ/\i‘iﬁﬁ%%ﬁiﬁﬁ%%ﬁ’ﬂﬁ BANEF-RES
EEIEAE LR 0k 4E DN SN

KPI B7.2 Description of preventive measures and whistle-blowing Our Customers — Whistle-blowing
procedures, how they are implemented and monitored. Procedures

BRERIEEBT2 Ml BEE R BHREF HBARTRERF X BHMANTF- 82®WEF

KPI B7.3 Description of anti-corruption training provided to directors Our Customers — Anti-corruption
and staff.

BRERIEEBTI MR HEAEEFREIHNRETHEI - BHAHNERF—-RES

B8. Community investment

B8. HERE

Policies on community engagement to understand the needs of the Our Community

communities where the issuer operates and to ensure that its activities
take into consideration the communities’ interests.

BRANGRSERTHEETALEMCLRFEMBREAXKEHE HANLE
EEARMBOBR -

KPI B8.1 Focus areas of contribution (e.g. education, environmental Our Community — Empowering
concerns, labour needs, health, culture, sport). education for community prosperity,
Assisting the Disadvantaged Groups

PR MIS1RE8.1 HEARMERE (WHE RREME SPF R R RAHE- RAFHE RELE

EIAN: F-DIE FK - HB PP R
KPI B8.2 Resources contributed (e.g. money or time) to the focus area.  Key Performance Indicators — Part B.
Social
FREMIEEB EHIHBMBAER (NEBHFMH) - BRERIEE - F -89 1tg

102 eprint Group Limited Annual Report 2023/24



Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

Executive Directors

Mr. She Siu Kee William (R E) (“Mr. She”), aged 61, is the
Chairman, executive Director and chief executive officer. He is the
founder of the Group and has participated in the management
of the Group since October 2001. Mr. She is a director of
certain subsidiaries of the Group and a member of each of the
Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee. Mr. She is
primarily responsible for the overall management, development and
planning of the Group and has over 25 years of experience in the
printing industry. Mr. She is also the sole director of eprint Limited,
a company which has discloseable interests in the shares of the
Company under the provisions in Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of
the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571, the Laws of
Hong Kong) (the “SFO”).

Mr. Chong Cheuk Ki (=) (“Mr. Chong”), aged 59, was
appointed as a non-executive Director in November 2013 and
was redesignated as an executive Director on 16 August 2019.
He joined the Group in 2005. Mr. Chong has approximately 15
years of experience in corporate management. He was awarded
a diploma in marketing from the Chartered Institute of Marketing
for fulfiling the requirements of the institute’s examiners at the
diploma examination held in June 1991. Mr. Chong also obtained
a certificate in marketing from Vocational Training Council in June
1989 and a higher certificate in electronic engineering from Hong
Kong Polytechnic (currently known as the Hong Kong Polytechnic
University) in November 1987.

Non-executive Director

Mr. Leung Wai Ming (R#&H) (“Mr. WM Leung”), aged 52, is
a non-executive Director. He joined the Group in 2008. Mr. WM
Leung has over 15 years of experience in the marketing field.

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Poon Chun Wai (&R &) (“Mr. Poon”), aged 66, was
appointed as an independent non-executive Director on 15 August
2016. He is also the chairman of the Remuneration Committee
and a member of each of the Audit Committee and the Nomination
Committee. Mr. Poon has over 35 years of experience in printing.
He has served several large-scale companies in printing solutions
industry.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management
EEREREEE ZEFE

Independent Non-executive Directors (continueq)

Mr. Fu Chung (&) (“Mr. Fu”), aged 55, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 8 March 2017. He is also
the chairman of the Nomination Committee and a member of each
of the Audit Committee and the Remuneration Committee. Mr. Fu
has over 30 years of experience in the printing industry. He was an
executive committee member of the Chamber of Commerce for The
Hong Kong Printers Association from 2009 to 2016. Mr. Fu was a
sales manager of Kodak (China) Limited from 2000 to 2003, and in
which he was also a sales director from 2003 to 2016.

Mr. Ma Siu Kit (FJKA) (former name: Ma Man Wai (5 X &)
(“Mr. Ma”), aged 54, was appointed as an independent non-
executive Director on 30 December 2016. He is also the chairman
of the Audit Committee. Mr. Ma had obtained a bachelor’s
degree in business (accountancy) from Queensland University
of Technology, Australia in 1993. He is a member of the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Mr. Ma served as
an independent non-executive director of China Kangda Food
Company Limited (whose shares are listed on the main board of
the Stock Exchange, stock code: 834) from 15 December 2022 to
22 January 2024. He is currently the company secretary of China
Boton Group Company Limited (formerly known as China Flavours
and Fragrances Company Limited) (whose shares are listed on the
main board of the Stock Exchange, stock code: 3318). Mr. Ma
had worked in accounting firms and different enterprises. He is a
seasoned professional in accounting with over 20 years of relevant
experience.

Ms. Yu Mei Hung (R3%E4L) (“Ms. Yu”), aged 60, was appointed
as an independent non-executive Director with effect from 1 July
2023. She is also a member of the Audit Committee. Ms. Yu
obtained a postgraduate certificate in computing studies from The
University of Hong Kong, School of Professional and Continuing
Education in association with The University of Melbourne in
July 1996 and a bachelor’'s degree of economics in business
administration from Jinan University in June 1989. Ms. Yu has been
a senior financial planner as an individual insurance agent since
August 2016. Ms. Yu has extensive experience in the administration
field, particularly in dealing with business operations in China. She
worked in () Lenovo Group Limited during March 2001 to August
2013, (i) K. Wah Construction Materials (Hong Kong) Limited during
June 1997 to June 2000, (i) K. Wah Management Services Limited
during April 1995 to May 1997 and (iv) Wheelock Properties Limited
during November 1992 to February 1995.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

Company Secretary

Ms. Leung Ngan Yi (2 18) (“Ms. Leung”) has been appointed
as the Company Secretary with effect from 28 June 2023. She
obtained a bachelor’s degree of business administration in
corporate administration at The Open University of Hong Kong (now
known as Hong Kong Metropolitan University) in 2009. She is a
Chartered Secretary, a Chartered Governance Professional and an
associate member of both The Hong Kong Chartered Governance
Institute and The Chartered Governance Institute. Ms. Leung
has more than 10 years’ experience in handling listed company
secretarial and compliance related matters.

Senior Management

Mr. Hui Chi Tung Denny (FF&EX) (“Mr. Hui”) has been
appointed as the Chief Financial Officer of the Group with effect
from 1 January 2023. Prior to join the Group, Mr. Hui had been
worked in investment bank divisions of certain financial institutions
and he has over 15 years’ experience in the fields of accounting,
financial reporting, taxation and corporate finance and involved
in a wide range of corporate finance affairs including initial public
offerings, takeovers, acquisitions and business restructuring. Mr.
Hui was awarded a Bachelor’s degree of Commerce (Honours) in
Accounting at the Hong Kong Shue Yan University in July 2006.
He is a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants, a fellow member and a chartered tax adviser
of the Taxation Institute of Hong Kong. He is also a Certified
Environmental, Social and Governance Analyst (CESGA®) awarded
by The European Federation of Financial Analysts Societies.

Mr. Cheang Ngai Wang (3 %) (“Mr. Cheang”) is the
information technology director. Mr. Cheang joined the Group in
December 2004. He has over 15 years of experience in the printing
industry.
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Report of the Directors

EEEHRE

The Board is pleased to submit their report together with the
audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for
FY2023/24.

Principal Activities

The Company is an investment company and its subsidiaries
are principally engaged in the provision of printing services and
solutions on advertisement, bound books and stationeries to a
diversified customer base in Hong Kong.

Business Review

The business review, analysis using financial key performance
indicators, future development in the business of the Group for
FY2023/24 and material events occurred after the reporting period
are discussed under the sections headed “Chairman’s Statement”
and “Management Discussion and Analysis”. Such discussion forms
an integrate part of this report.

Environmental Policy and Performance

The environmental policies and performance of the Group for
FY2023/24 is set out in the section headed “Environmental, Social
and Governance Report” on pages 42 to 102 of this annual report.
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Business Review (Continued)

Principal Risks and Uncertainties

Reduction of market demand

Aside from traditional media used by businesses, for example
newspapers advertising, radio advertising, television advertising
and telemarketing, today the Internet has become an
indispensable tool for marketing.

A wide variety of inexpensive advertising media have grown
rapidly, including pay-per-click advertising and online banner
advertising that entails the display of a graphical advertising
unit, etc., and social media advertising such as Youtube, Twitter,
Facebook, LinkedIn that are the other type of media to maintain
customer relationships.

There is also a trend of having paperless offices and online
paperless portals.

Furthermore, there has been a global outbreak of Coronavirus
Disease 2019 (COVID-19) since the end of 2019. This has affected
the printing market seriously and lowered the general consumption
of the Group’s products, which has yet to be restored to the
pre-COVID-19 level. Even though the income generated from
the provision of printing and other services has been gradually
recovered during the year, it has yet to return to its pre-COVID-19
level primarily because of the decreased market demand resulting
from the outbreak of COVID-19 and economic downturn.

In this regard, the output of printing industry in Hong Kong and
overseas market (e.g. Malaysia) has been declining in recent
years and the Group might face the risk of unfavorable sales
performance.
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Report of the Directors
EEENE

Business Review (continued)

Principal Risks and Uncertainties (continueq)

Although the market demand on traditional printing has been
declining to a certain extent, the breakthrough of printing
technology flourishes the printing business and the market
demand for business communication materials such as brochures,
rack cards and catalogs for exhibition or other promotional
functions is still dominant.

Currently, the Group keeps monitoring the change of consumer
behaviour and builds up a customer relationship management
(CRM) by way of such as customer loyalty program and advocacy
marketing, including VIP membership, one-stop shop, etc. The
Group also provides various kinds of service in and outside Hong
Kong such as the offset printing products, digital printing products
and e-banner to meet the requirements of customers, in addition
to traditional printing services.

In addition, the Marketing Department had started to explore other
possible product lines to diversify the types of services offered.
Examples include variables printing, promotion gifts market, leaflet
distribution services, etc.

Besides minimizing the operating cost, the Group will continue to
strengthen its leading market position and increase market share
by strengthening the cost control to achieve a competitive pricing
strategy. In addition, the Group continues to improve its product
mix and enhance the value-added services such as e-print mobile
application, online self-service platform, phone ordering system
and logistics system, etc., in order to provide a better customers
experience.
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Business Review (continueq)

Principal Risks and Uncertainties (continued)

Report of the Directors
EEeRE
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Risk Description

Fluctuations of purchase costs for raw materials

Major raw materials used by the Group include paper, zinc printing
plates, and printing ink. Among them, paper costs are the largest
component of raw materials costs. The Group purchases a wide
range of paper products from several suppliers located in Hong
Kong and the PRC. Availability and costs of paper can vary as
a result of natural disasters, general economic conditions, and
changes in government regulations. Furthermore, rising labour
costs and other expenses incurred by suppliers may be passed
on to the Group, resulting in higher raw material costs.

The Group’s business is sensitive to fluctuations in the cost of raw
materials. Such fluctuations may impact its profitability and results.
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Risk Response

As paper is the major printing material, the Group regularly
monitors the trend of paper prices by conducting marketing
research. Vendor comparisons would be conducted before placing
a purchase order of raw materials. The Group signed contract
with suppliers to fix the price, or to change suppliers to keep the
costs down and stabilise the supply for the normal operations for
a certain period of time.

Management will keep monitoring the price trend of raw materials
and strengthening the cost control.
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Report of the Directors
EEENE

Business Review (continueq)

Compliance with the Relevant Laws and Regulations

During the year under review, as far as the Board and management
are aware, there was no material breach of or non-compliance
with the applicable laws and regulations by the Group that have a
significant impact on the businesses and operation of the Group.

Key Relationships with Employees and Customers

The key relationships with the Group’s employees and customers
are discussed under section headed “Environmental, Social and
Governance Report” on pages 42 to 102 of this annual report.

Key Relationships with Suppliers

The Group understands sustainable supply of quality products is
indispensable for long-term business development. In view of this,
the Group has adopted a supplier management policy to ensure
quality and sustainability of product supply. The Group selects its
suppliers prudently. The suppliers need to fulfill certain assessment
criteria of the Group, including meeting the Group’s standards for
the quality of raw materials, reputation, environmental friendliness,
production capacity, financial capability and experience. We view
our suppliers as partners who make important contribution to our
business success.

Results and Appropriations

The results of the Group for FY2023/24 are set out in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income on pages 140 to
141,

The Board does not recommend the payment of a final dividend for
FY2023/24 (FY2022/23: Nil).

Donations

During FY2023/24, the Group made HK$190,811 charitable and
other donations (FY2022/23: HK$45,818).
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Annual General Meeting

The 2024 AGM will be held on Wednesday, 21 August 2024.

Closure of Register of Members

For the purpose of determining the identity of the shareholders
entitled to attend and vote at the forthcoming annual general
meeting to be held on Wednesday, 21 August 2024, the register of
members of the Company will be closed from Thursday, 15 August
2024 to Wednesday, 21 August 2024, both days inclusive, during
which period no transfer of Shares will be registered. All transfer of
Shares accompanied by the relevant certificates must be lodged
with the Company’s transfer office and share registrar in Hong
Kong, Tricor Investor Services Limited at 17/F, Far East Finance
Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong for registration not later than
4:30 p.m. on Wednesday, 14 August 2024.

Share Capital

Details of movements in the Company’s share capital for FY2023/24
are set out in Note 26 to the consolidated financial statements.

Pre-emptive Rights

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles or
the laws of the Cayman Islands, being the jurisdiction in which the
Company was incorporated, which would oblige the Company to
offer new shares on a pro rata basis to existing Shareholders.

Purchase, Redemption or Sale of Listed
Securities of the Company

Neither the Company nor its subsidiaries purchased, redeemed or
sold any of the Company’s listed securities during the year ended
31 March 2024.
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EEENE

Distributable Reserves

As at 31 March 2024, the Company’s reserves available for
distribution, calculated in accordance with the provisions of
the Companies Act of the Cayman Islands (the “Companies
Act”), amounted to approximately HK$139,949,000. Under the
Companies Act, the share premium account of the Company
of approximately HK$132,921,000 as of 31 March 2024 is
distributable to the Shareholders provided that immediately
following the date on which the dividend, if any, is proposed to be
distributed, the Company will be in a position to pay off its debts as
they fall due in the ordinary course of business.

Permitted Indemnity Provision

The Company has arranged for appropriate insurance cover
for Directors’ and officers’ liabilities in respect of legal actions
against its Directors and senior management arising out of
corporate activities. The permitted indemnity provision is in force
for the benefit of the Directors as required by section 470 of the
Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong) (the
“Companies Ordinance”) when the Report of the Directors prepared
by the Directors is approved in accordance with section 391(1)(a) of
the Companies Ordinance.

Five-year Financial Summary

A summary of the results, assets and liabilities of the Group for the
last five financial years is set out on page 264.
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Directors

The Directors during the year and up to the date of this report were
as follows:

Executive Directors

Mr. She Siu Kee William
Mr. Chong Cheuk Ki

Non-executive Director

Mr. Leung Wai Ming

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Poon Chun Wai

Mr. Fu Chung

Mr. Ma Siu Kit

Ms. Yu Mei Hung (appointed with effect from 1 July 2023)

Pursuant to article 108(a) of the Articles, Mr. She Siu Kee William,
Mr. Chong Cheuk Ki and Mr. Poon Chun Wai shall retire by rotation
at the 2024 AGM and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-
election.

Independence Confirmation

The Company has received from each of the independent non-
executive Directors an annual confirmation of independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company considers
all of the independent non-executive Directors are independent.
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Directors’ and Chief Executives’ Interestsin EERFTETHRAENRKR G E
Shares =

As at 31 March 2024, the interests or short positions of the RZ-ZZE_PWF=H=+—

Directors and chief executives of the Company in the Shares, %&I%ﬁﬁ)\,\ﬁéﬁﬁﬁjﬁ& {EJ HE B
underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any JAB (F&ERFZHA M E K TU%XV*B)H&
associated corporation (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO, 1 HBERH LESFTHEBREBEIESFNR
which were notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange Hi & (&%) EXVERE7 K85 B8 B A R A
pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including NEXZFIMERIARE (BIEREZASNL
interests or short positions which they are taken or deemed to HiIEEHIMBIEXMBRIEXEIEHE
have under such provisions of the SFO), or which were required, KIS IAR) KB IEEF L HE &6
pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register F352{& B E B IERZIKFT i M & R =X
referred to therein, or which were required, pursuant to the Model R 5 1Z ¥ <7 BI| 78 8 A1 A A 7 & B <2 B 69

Code, are set out below: BEmIOABWT
Interests and short positions in Shares, underlying RAEAQAAREEB EZER D EE
Shares and debentures of the Company or its BoREFNEZRKAR

associated corporation

(i) The Company (i) ZA&27

Approximate
Number  percentage of

Long position/ of ordinary shareholding in
Name of Directors Capacity short position Shares held the Company
B ;NGBS
EEpR 54 BE/ KE ERRHA BAE D
Mr She Siu Kee William  Beneficial owner Long position 1,584,000 0.29%
REBERE EaEAA e
Interest of controlled corporation (Note 1)  Long position 313,125,000 56.93%
THEE R (MiEE) e
Mr. Chong Cheuk Ki Interest of controlled corporation (Note 1)  Long position 313,125,000 56.93%
HeEHEsE EHEE R (FiEE) e
Interest of spouse (Note 2) Long position 712,000 0.13%
fiB s (fizt2) HE
Mr. Leung Wai Ming Interest of controlled corporation (Note 1)  Long position 313,125,000 56.93%
RERKE Ry EE RS () e
Notes: Bt &
1. 313,125,000 Shares are held by eprint Limited. eprint Limited is held 1. eprint Limited$§ 313,125,000 i&
as to 21.62%, 21.62%, 21.62%, 21.62% and 13.52% by Mr. She Siu 17 ° eprint Limited i RABE KL ([RE
Kee Wiliam (“Mr. She”), Mr. Chong Cheuk Ki (“Mr. Chong”), Mr. Lam ED)CBEEBEE([HEE]D HEE
Shing Kai (“Mr. SK Lam”), Mr. Leung Wai Ming (“Mr. WM Leung”) and St ([MRRELEE]D)  REREE (R
Mr. Leung Yat Pang (“Mr. YP Leung”) (collectively, the “Concerted WHREEDRR—BEE([R-IBE
Shareholders”) respectively. Pursuant to the deed of confirmation dated £ (GBI —BT8RENDSANEE
2 July 2013 (the “Deed of Confirmation”), each of Mr. She, Mr. Chong, 21.62% +21.62% *21.62% * 21.62% &
Mr. SK Lam, Mr. WM Leung and Mr. YP Leung has agreed to jointly 13.52%Em - IREBEAHA-T—= i‘t
control their respective interests in the Company. Accordingly, eprint AZAZHERZE ([BREE]) Kt
Limited shall be accustomed to act in accordance with joint instructions EERAE CMEESE RERLER
of the Concerted Shareholders. Hence, each of the Concerted R-BALECEEREBEHARAEHRES
Shareholders is deemed to be interested in all the Shares held by eprint BRARARE S < B - eprint Limited
Limited by virtue of the SFO. BERE -—BTHRRARERTE:

Bt RIBFES RAEERA & —BITH
% 36 4% 48 & R eprint Limited BT 155 T & &
DREAER -
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Directors’ and Chief Executives’ Interests in
Shares (Continued)

Interests and short positions in Shares, underlying
Shares and debentures of the Company or its
associated corporation (continueq)

() The Company (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

2. Mr. Chong is deemed to be interested in 712,000 Shares held by his
spouse, Ms. Yip Fei.

(ii) Associated corporation - eprint Limited

Report of the Directors
EEeRE

EERIEARARNRARE

(%)

(i) =27 @)
MisE: (42)

2. BEEWRARERBERZLIHFEN
712,000 A% D R B %5 o

(i) #B %% E —eprint Limited

Number of Approximate
ordinary Shares percentage of
held in the shareholding in
associated the associated

Name of Directors Nature of interest
ESpnE EEME

Mr. She Beneficial owner
NEE EnEBA

Mr. Chong Beneficial owner
HohAE EREBA

Mr. WM Leung Beneficial owner
RERLEE EnEBA

Note: The disclosed interest represents the interests in eprint Limited, the
controlling shareholder of the Company, which is owned by Mr. She, Mr.
Chong, Mr. SK Lam, Mr. WM Leung and Mr. YP Leung in the respective
proportions of 21.62%, 21.62%, 21.62%, 21.62% and 13.52%.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors, chief executives
of the Company and/or their associates had any interests or short
positions in any Shares, underlying shares and debentures of the
Company or any of its associated corporations as recorded in the
register to be kept under section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the
Model Code as at 31 March 2024.

corporation corporation
BHEMEBEE REBEEER
EZERHAE BRBEDL
2,162 21.62%

2,162 21.62%

2,162 21.62%

Mizk: EHBRESERLSE HAE WEREL
S RERAEERRE-BEENRARF
YRR A% Eeprint LimitedZ #35  & B AT
t ) 5 Bl A21.62% ~ 21.62% ~ 21.62%
21.62%5.13.52% °

BEXHBREEN R-T-—m&E= A
S+-A BEAAREE BTHA
BR/ REENHBATRARARL
({05 B A0 (E R 15 - ARBRRAA 2 18
S A A IR I8 B A 15 )
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Share Schemes

The Company adopted a share option scheme (the “Old Share
Option Scheme”) on 13 November 2013 pursuant to the written
resolutions of the then shareholders passed on 13 November 2013.
The Old Share Option Scheme was a share incentive scheme and
was established to recognise and acknowledge the contributions of
the eligible participants have had or may have made to the Group.
As at 1 April 2023, the total number of options available for grant
under the Old Share Option Scheme was 500,000 shares.

The Old Share Option Scheme was terminated by the shareholders
at the annual general meeting of the Company held on 22 August
2023 (“2023 AGM”). No further options shall be granted under the
Old Share Option Scheme. Outstanding options granted under the
Old Share Option Scheme but not yet exercised shall continue to
be valid and exercisable in accordance with the Old Share Option
Scheme.

Details of the movement in the share options granted under the Old
Share Option Scheme during FY2023/24 are as follows:

Closing price
per share
immediately
before

the date

of grant
(HK$)

£ Y

Rik A #A
SRUTE
()

Date of grant of

Category of participants  share option Exercise Period

SRER

BRERLAH il

16 December 2022 16 December 2022 to
16 December 2024
ZRZZF+ZRTAAE
ZZ-mE+ZATAA

Employess in aggregate
0.64

EE8Y ZZZZF+ZRtRE

The share options vests immediately from the date of grant and are
exercisable up to 16 December 2024.

At the 2023 AGM, the shareholders approved the adoption of the
new share option scheme (the “New Share Option Scheme”).
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Exercised/
cancelled
during

the year

Outstanding
as at

1 April

2023

Outstanding
as at

31 March
2024

Granted
during
the year

Lapsed
during
the year

RIB-=F
MA-A
MR

REEE
R

RAEE
f/ a

RAEE
R

49,500,000

5,500,000 44,000,000
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Share Schemes continveq)

The principal terms of the New Share Option Scheme are
summarised as follows:

1.

The purpose of the New Share Option Scheme is to enable
the Group to grant options to the eligible participants as
incentives or rewards for their contribution to the Group;
to attract and retain personnel to promote the sustainable
development of the Group; and to align the interest of the
grantees with those of the shareholders of the Company to
promote the long-term financial and business performance of
the Company.

The participants of the New Share Option Scheme include any
employees (whether full time or part time), director or officer
of the Group, and any employee, director, chief executive or
officer of the holding company(ies), fellow subsidiary(ies) or
associated company(ies) of the Company.

The maximum number of shares which may be issued upon
exercise of all options to be granted under the New Share
Option Scheme and any other schemes of the Company shall
not exceed 10% of the issued shares of the Company as
at 24 August 2023 (the “Adoption Date”), being the date on
which the New Share Option Scheme becomes unconditional,
which was 55,000,000 shares (the “Scheme Mandate Limit”)
and such limit might be refreshed by Shareholders at general
meeting in accordance with the requirements under the Listing
Rules.

The total number of options available for grant under the
Scheme Mandate Limit at the Adoption Date and 31 March
2024 was 55,000,000. As at the date of this report, the total
number of shares available for issue under the Share Option
Scheme is 55,000,000 shares, representing 10% of the issued
shares of the Company.

Unless approved by the Shareholders, the Board shall not
grant any options to any participant which, if exercised, would
result in such participant becoming entitled to subscribe for
such number of shares as, when aggregated with the total
number of shares already issued or to be issued to him under
all options or awards granted to him (excluding any options
and awards lapsed in accordance with the terms of the New
Share Option Scheme or any other schemes of the Company)
in any 12-month period exceed 1% of the shares in issue.
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Share Schemes continved)

6.

10.

11.

Unless approved by the Shareholders, the Board shall not
grant any options to any independent non-executive Director
or a substantial shareholder of the Company or any of their
respective associates would result in the shares issued and to
be issued in respect of all options and awards already granted
or to be granted under the New Share Option Scheme or any
other schemes of the Company (excluding any Options and
awards lapsed in accordance with the terms of the relevant
schemes) to such person in the 12-month period exceed
0.1% of the shares in issue.

The option may be exercised at any time during a period to be
determined and notified by the Directors to each grantee and
such period shall not exceed the period of 10 years from the
date of grant.

The vesting period of the options granted under the New
Share Option Scheme shall not be shorter than 12 months
from the date of acceptance of the offer. The Board may,
however, at its absolute discretion, set any performance
targets that must be achieved before the option can be
exercised upon the grant of an option to a grantee.

The offer of a grant of options may be accepted within 21
days after the date of making the offer and the grantee shall
pay HK$1.00 to the Company by the way of consideration for
the grant.

The subscription price shall be determined by the Board in
its absolute discretion but in any event shall be not less than
the higher of (i) the closing price of the shares as stated in
the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the date of
grant, which must be a business day; and (i) the average
closing price of the shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s
daily quotations sheets for the five business days immediately
preceding the date of grant.

Subject to earlier termination by the Company at general
meeting, the New Share Option Scheme shall be valid and
effective for a period of 10 years from the Adoption Date, i.e.
24 August 2023.
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Share Schemes continveq)

Details of the New Share Option Scheme are set out in the circular
of the Company dated 28 July 2023.

No share options were granted under the New Share Option
Scheme since the Adoption Date.

The Company does not have any other share schemes except for
the Old Share Option Scheme and the New Share Option Scheme,
the number of shares that may be issued in respect of the share
options granted as at 31 March 2024 divided by the weighted
average number of issued shares of the Company for the year
ended 31 March 2024 was 8%.

Equity-Linked Agreements

Save as disclosed above in the section headed “Share Schemes”,
no equity-linked agreements were entered into by the Group, or
existed during FY2023/24.
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Substantial Shareholders and Other FERRREMATREAT
Persons’ Interests in Shares and Underlying KR RK#EEE KRG HER

Shares of the Company

R-E-_ME=F=+—HB BEEHR
M A TALT(TBEARAIEEREE
TBAB)ERD REEROPHEEAR
BESENMPEGEDHEXVEFE2435 2 A
EARNRKEREFEF KB EEHIEI36
1638 T 18 17 #0250 M /R 50 8% B0 A 25 0K

As at 31 March 2024, so far as is known to the Directors, the
following persons (other than the Directors and the chief executives
of the Company) had interests or short positions in the Shares
and underlying Shares which were required to be notified to the
Company under Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO or which
were recorded in the register required to be kept under section 336

of the SFO: i

RADF RS RABR G OERER

Interests or short positions in Shares and underlying

shares of the Company RE
Number of
ordinary Approximate
Shares/  percentage of
Long position/ underlying shareholding in
Nature of interest short position Shares held the Company
FRHEEREE, RELIEHR
BR/ KR HERGOEA BAE D
eprint Limited (Note 1) Beneficial owner Long position 313,125,000 56.93%
eprint Limited (Bf&E1) EanEBA Te
Mr. SK Lam (Note 2) Beneficial owner Long position 313,125,000 56.93%
MREEE & (FiEE2) ERBERA )
Ms. Lo Suet Yee (Note 3) Interest of spouse Long position 314,709,000 57.22%
EER &+ (M:H3) L £ )
Ms. Yip Fei (Note 4) Beneficial owner Long position 712,000 0.13%
Rzt (HzE4) EREAA 5
Interest of spouse Long position 313,125,000 56.93%
B e =y
Ms. Yu Siu Ping (Note 5) Interest of spouse Long position 313,125,000 56.93%
f >+ (HEEs) [T 5
Ms. Chau Fung Kiu (Note 6) Interest of spouse Long position 313,125,000 56.93%
BB B+ (H:E6) [T 5
Mr. YP Leung (Note 7) Interest of controlled corporation  Long position 313,125,000 56.93%

R—BBEE (FHEE7)

REEH AR R
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Substantial Shareholders and Other
Persons’ Interests in Shares and Underlying
Shares of the Company (continueq)

Interests or short positions in Shares and underlying
shares of the Company (continued)

Notes:

1. eprint Limited is directly interested in 313,125,000 Shares, representing
approximately 56.93% of the issued Shares. eprint Limited is held as to
21.62%, 21.62%, 21.62%, 21.62% and 13.52% by Mr. She, Mr. Chong,
Mr. SK Lam, Mr. WM Leung and Mr. YP Leung respectively. Pursuant to the
Deed of Confirmation, each of Mr. She, Mr. Chong, Mr. SK Lam, Mr. WM
Leung and Mr. YP Leung has agreed to jointly control their respective interests
in the Company. Accordingly, eprint Limited shall be accustomed to act in
accordance with joint instructions of the Concerted Shareholders.

2. Pursuant to the Deed of Confirmation, Mr. SK Lam is deemed to be interested
in all the Shares held by eprint Limited by virtue of the SFO.

3. Ms. Lo Suet Yee is the spouse of Mr. She. Under the SFO, Ms. Lo Suet Yee
is taken to be interested in the same number of Shares in which Mr. She is
interested.

4. Ms. Yip Fei is the spouse of Mr. Chong. Under the SFO, Ms. Yip Fei is taken to
be interested in the same number of Shares in which Mr. Chong is interested.

5. Ms. Yu Siu Ping is the spouse of Mr. SK Lam. Under the SFO, Ms. Yu Siu Ping
is taken to be interested in the same number of Shares in which Mr. SK Lam is
interested.

6. Ms. Chau Fung Kiu is the spouse of Mr. WM Leung. Under the SFO, Ms. Chau
Fung Kiu is taken to be interested in the same number of Shares in which Mr.
WM Leung is interested.

7. Pursuant to the Deed of Confirmation, Mr. YP Leung is deemed to be
interested in all the Shares held by eprint Limited by virtue of the SFO.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2024, the Directors were
not aware of any other person who had an interest or short position
in the Shares or underlying shares of the Company which would
fall to be disclosed to the Company pursuant to Divisions 2 and 3
of Part XV of the SFO or as recorded in the register required to be
kept by the Company pursuant to section 336 of Part XV of the
SFO.
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Directors’ Rights to Acquire Shares or
Debentures

Save as disclosed above, at no time during the year was the
Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to
enable the Directors to acquire benefits by means of acquisition
of shares in or debentures of the Company or in any other body
corporate.

Directors’ Service Contracts

Mr. She, an executive Director, has entered into a renewed service
agreement with the Company on 25 November 2022 for a further
term of three years with retrospective from 13 November 2022.
Mr. Chong, an executive Director, has entered into a renewed
service agreement with the Company on 25 November 2022 for
a further term of three years with retrospective from 16 August
2022. Each of Mr. She and Mr. Chong may receive a discretionary
bonus, the amount of which will be determined by reference to the
recommendations of the Remuneration Committee.

Mr. WM Leung has signed a renewed letter of appointment issued
by the Company on 25 November 2022 for a further term of three
years with retrospective from 13 November 2022.

Mr. Poon has signed a renewed letter of appointment issued by the
Company on 25 November 2022 for a further term of three years
with retrospective from 15 August 2022.

Mr. Fu has signed a renewed letter of appointment issued by the
Company on 25 November 2022 for a further term of three years
commencing from 8 March 2023.

Mr. Ma has signed a renewed letter of appointment issued by the
Company on 25 November 2022 for a further term of three years
commencing from 30 December 2022.

Ms. Yu has signed a letter of appointment issued by the Company
on 28 June 2023 for an initial term of three years commencing from
1 July 2023.

None of the Directors who are proposed for re-election at the
2024 AGM has a service contract with the Company which is not
determinable within one year without payment of compensation,
other than statutory compensation.
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Directors’ Interests in Transactions,
Arrangements or Contracts

Other than those disclosed in the sections headed “Connected
Transactions” below and “Related Party Transactions” in note
37 to the consolidated financial statements for FY2023/24, no
significant transaction, arrangements and contracts of significance
in relation to the Group’s business to which the Company or any of
its subsidiaries was a party, and in which a Director had a material
interest, whether directly or indirectly subsisted at the year-end or
at any time during the year.

Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) set
out in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules as the code of conduct
regarding securities transactions by the Directors. Having made
specific enquiry of all Directors, the Company confirmed that all
Directors had complied with the required standard set out in the
Model Code throughout the year.

Connected Transactions

The Group has connected transactions with the following connected
persons which are effective from 1 April 2023:

Connected Persons

1. CTP Limited

CTP is principally engaged in the business of property
investment, and is beneficially owned as to 25% by Mr. She,
25% by Mr. Chong, 25% by Mr. WM Leung and 25% by an
independent third party, respectively.

2. Promise Properties Limited (R EWEERAT)

Promise Properties is principally engaged in the business
of property investment, and is beneficially owned as to
approximately 21.62% by Mr. She, 21.62% by Mr. Chong,
21.62% by Mr. WM Leung, 13.52% by Mr. YP Leung, and
21.62% by an independent third party.
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Connected Transactions (continueq)

Connected Persons (continued)

3.

VVV Limited

VVV is principally engaged in the business of property
investment, and is beneficially owned as to approximately
21.62% by Mr. She, 21.62% by Mr. Chong, 21.62% by Mr.
WM Leung, 13.52% by Mr. YP Leung and 21.62% by an
independent third party, respectively.

Profit More Rich Limited (BREZER A7)

Profit More is principally engaged in the business of property
investment and is a wholly-owned subsidiary of CTP.

King Profit International Limited (ZRIE K AR A7)

King Profit is principally engaged in the business of property
investment and is a wholly-owned subsidiary of VVV.

Mr. She, Mr. Chong and Mr. WM Leung are the Directors and they
are controlling Shareholders. The above companies are associates
of Mr. She, Mr. Chong and Mr. WM Leung, and hence they are
considered as connected persons of the Company under Rule
14A.12 of the Listing Rules.
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Connected Transactions continveq)

Tenancy agreements

(a)

(b)

(c)

Tenancy agreements relating to CTP

On 11 January 2023, Lucky Gainer and e-banner as tenants
and CTP as landlord entered into the tenancy agreements in
respect of the tenancy of Unit W6 on 3rd Floor of Block 1;
Units K2, L2, W1 and W2 on 2nd Floor of Block 2; Unit A3 on
1st Floor of Block 3; Units W1 to W5 and N3 on 2nd Floor of
Block 3; Unit B3 on 3rd Floor of Block 3; Unit B3 on 4th Floor
of Block 3; Unit R4 on 2nd Floor of Block 4; Unit A4 on 5th
Floor of Block 4; and Units M4, N4, P4 and R4 on 6th Floor
of Block 4, Kwun Tong Industrial Centre, Nos. 436-484 Kwun
Tong Road, Kowloon, Hong Kong for lease term from 1 April
2023 to 31 March 2026 with monthly rent of HK$451,800 for
industrial use.

Tenancy agreements relating to King Profit

On 11 January 2023, Lucky Gainer and Promise Network as
tenants and King Profit as landlord entered into the tenancy
agreements in respect of the tenancy of Unit A3 (including
flat roof appurtenant thereto) on 4th Floor of Block 3, Unit L4
on 3rd Floor of Block 4 and Car Parking Space No. 36 on
Basement, Kwun Tong Industrial Centre, Nos. 436-484 Kwun
Tong Road, Kowloon, Hong Kong for lease term from 1 April
2023 to 31 March 2026 with monthly rent of HK$66,700 for
industrial and carparking use.

Tenancy agreement relating to Profit More

On 11 January 2023, Lucky Gainer as tenant and Profit More
as landlord entered into the tenancy agreement in respect of
the tenancy of Workshop Nos. M201, M202 and M210 on 3rd
Floor of Block 2, Kwun Tong Industrial Centre, Nos. 436-484
Kwun Tong Road, Kowloon, Hong Kong for lease term from 1
April 2023 to 31 March 2026 with monthly rent of HK$53,500
for industrial use.

opcd
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Connected Transactions (continueq)

Tenancy agreements (Continued)

(d) Tenancy agreement relating to Promise Properties

On 11 January 2023, Lucky Gainer as tenant and Promise
Properties as landlord entered into the tenancy agreement in
respect of the tenancy of Unit W3 on 2nd Floor of Block 2;
Unit K8 on 3rd Floor of Block 3; Unit H3 on 4th Floor of Block
3; Unit P4 on 2nd Floor of Block 4; and Unit A4 on 6th Floor
of Block 4, Kwun Tong Industrial Centre, Nos. 436-484 Kwun
Tong Road, Kowloon, Hong Kong for lease term from 1 April
2023 to 31 March 2026 with monthly rent of HK$156,200 for
industrial use.

(e) Tenancy agreements relating to VVV

On 11 January 2023, Lucky Gainer and Promise Network
as tenants and VVV as landlord entered into the tenancy
agreements in respect of the tenancy of Unit J2 on 2nd Floor
of Block 2; Unit K4 on 3rd Floor of Block 4; and Car Parking
Space No. 78 on Ground Floor, Kwun Tong Industrial Centre,
Nos. 436-484 Kwun Tong Road, Kowloon, Hong Kong and
Workshop No. 1 on Ground Floor, Trend Centre, No. 29
Cheung Lee Street, Hong Kong for lease term from 1 April
2023 to 31 March 2026 with monthly rent of HK$217,100 for
industrial and carparking use.

The rental payment made by Lucky Gainer, Promise Network and
e-banner under the above tenancy agreements were recognised
as right-of-use assets and had been regarded as an acquisition of
assets by the Group for the purpose of the Listing Rules.

The above tenancy agreements, when aggregated, constituted (i) a
discloseable transaction of the Company which was subject to the
reporting and announcement requirements but was exempt from
the approval of Shareholders requirement under Chapter 14 of the
Listing Rules; and (i) a connected transaction on the part of the
Company which was subject to the reporting and announcement
requirements but was exempt from the circular (including
independent financial advice) and independent Shareholders’
approval requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
The Company has complied with the disclosure requirement in
accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. For further
details, please refer to the announcement of the Company dated 11
January 2023 and the circular of the Company dated 17 February
2023.
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Connected Transactions continveq)

Details of the Group’s related party transactions for FY2023/24 are
set out in Note 37 to the consolidated financial statements. Save as
disclosed above, the Group did not carry out connected transaction
or continuing connected transaction that are not exempted under
Rule 14A.73 of the Listing Rules during FY2023/24.

Non-Compete Undertakings

eprint Limited, Mr. She, Mr. Chong, Lam Shing Kai (“Mr. SK Lam”),
Mr. WM Leung and Mr. YP Leung (together, the “Covenantors”)
entered into the deed of non-competition in favour of the Company
on 13 November 2013 (the “NCU”), pursuant to which the
Covenantors have undertaken to the Company (for itself and for the
benefit of each of the members of the Group) that, with effect from
the Listing Date and for as long as the Shares remain so listed on
the Stock Exchange and the controlling Shareholders are individually
or collectively with any of his/its associates interested directly or
indirectly in not less than 30% of the issued ordinary share capital
of the Company (the “Restricted Period”), the Covenantors or their
respective associates shall not, (i) directly or indirectly engage in,
participate or hold any right or interest in or render any services
to or otherwise be involved in any business (whether as owner,
director, operator, licensor, licensee, partner, shareholder, joint
venturer, employee, consultant or otherwise) in competition with
or likely to be in competition with the existing business carried
on by the Group (the “Restricted Business”); and (i) directly or
indirectly take any action which constitutes an interference with or
a disruption of the Restricted Business including, but not limited to,
solicitation of the Group’s customers, suppliers or personnel of any
member of the Group.

The Covenantors, except for Mr. SK Lam, have confirmed to the
Company (i) there has not been any change in the terms of the
NCU during FY2023/24, and (ii) the compliance with the NCU
during FY2023/24. The independent non-executive Directors have
reviewed the NCU and confirmed the compliance with the NCU by
the Covenantors (except Mr. SK Lam) during FY2023/24.
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Non-Compete Undertakings (continueo)

As disclosed under the sub-section headed “Non-Compete
Undertakings” in the Company’s annual report for the year ended
31 March 2023, Mr. Lam Shing Tai, the brother of Mr. SK Lam
became a controlling shareholder in Universe Printshop Holdings
Limited (a company listed on GEM of the Stock Exchange, stock
code: 8448) (“Universe Printshop”) on 4 April 2022. As at 31 March
2024, Mr. Lam Shing Tai is interested in 327,052,333 shares in
Universe Printshop, representing approximately 65.54% of the total
number of issued shares of Universe Printshop. As advised by
the Company’s legal advisers, the business activities of Universe
Printshop are similar to those of the Group, and Mr. SK Lam was in
breach of and has not complied with the NCU during FY2023/24.
The Company considered that the non-compliance committed by
Mr. SK Lam had not caused any material financial loss or operation
disruption to the Group on the grounds that () Mr. SK Lam had
resigned as the Company'’s director since August 2019 and had not
been the Group’s management nor involved in any function of the
Group since then; and (i) based on the public information available
to the Company, Mr. SK Lam had not been appointed as a director
of Universe Printshop and was not interested in shares in Universe
Printshop for FY2023/24. The Company will continue to monitor if
there is any adverse financial loss or operational disruption to the
Company resulting from the non-compliance of Mr. SK Lam.

As of the date of this report, save as disclosed above, the Company
is not aware of any other matters regarding the compliance of the
undertakings in the NCU and there has not been any change in the
terms of the NCU during FY2023/24.

Tax Relief and Exemption

The Directors are not aware of any tax relief and exemption
available to the Shareholders by reason of their holding of the
Company’s securities.
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Major Customers and Suppliers

During the year, the percentage of sales attributable to the largest
customer and the five largest customers of the Group is 1.0% and
3.0% respectively.

During the year, the largest supplier and the five largest suppliers
of the Group accounted for approximately 50.4% and 69.3% of the
total purchases of the Group respectively.

None of the Directors, their close associates or any Shareholder
(which to the knowledge of the Directors owns more than 5% of the
Company’s share capital) had an interest in the major suppliers or
customers noted above.

Subsidiaries, an Associate and Joint Ventures

Details of the principal subsidiaries, an associate and joint ventures
of the Company are set out in Note 16, Note 17 and Note 18 to the
consolidated financial statements.

Public Float

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors, the Company has
maintained a sufficient public float as required under the Listing
Rules during the year and up to the date of this report.

Audit Committee

The Company established the Audit Committee on 13 November
2013 with written terms of reference which was revised on 25
February 2019 to comply with the CG Code. The primary duties
of the Audit Committee are to review and supervise the financial
reporting system and to review the risk management and internal
control systems of the Group. The Audit Committee comprises
four independent non-executive Directors, namely, Mr. Ma Siu Kit
(chairman), Mr. Poon Chun Wai, Mr. Fu Chung and Ms. Yu Mei
Hung. The Audit Committee has reviewed the audited consolidated
financial statements of the Group for FY2023/24.
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Competition and Conflict of Interests

During the year, save as disclosed in this annual report, none of
the Directors or substantial Shareholders or any of their respective
associates has engaged in any business that competes or may
compete with the business of the Group.

Corporate Governance

A report on the principal corporate governance practices adopted
by the Company is set out on pages 18 to 41 of this annual report.

Continuing Disclosure Requirements under
Rule 13.22 of the Listing Rules in Relation to
Financial Assistance to Affiliated Companies

The Group has included a consolidated statement of financial
position of the relevant affiliated companies as required therein
under Rule 13.22 of the Listing Rules. Affiliated companies include
jointly controlled entities.

The consolidated statement of financial position of Top Success
Investment Group Limited and its subsidiaries (“Top Success
Group”) and the Group’s attributable interest in Top Success Group
as at 31 March 2024 are presented as follows:

Consolidated statement of financial position

Non-current assets FERBEE
Current assets MBEE
Current liabilities mEBE
Non-current liability EmBEE
Net assets BEFHE

BERANEER

BAFHRABEEN FABEBESHT
ERRIEZBZEMBEALRLEE
MERAEEEBERGEFXRAERFZ
E VR

EER

ARARFTEMNEELEERTERSE
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BEARREMBER KA
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BERERAGMENBAR ([HH S
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SO BERRE
Consolidated Group’s
statement attributable
of financial interest
position 50%
rEEH
CXE FE AL RE 2=
R FR 50%
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FExT
24,093 12,046
17,615 8,808
(8,658) (4,329)
(30,000) (15,000)
3,050 1,525
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Auditor

There has been no change in auditor of the Company during the
past three years.

The term of appointment of PwC as auditor of the Company shall
expire at the conclusion of the 2024 AGM. A resolution will be
proposed at the 2024 AGM to re-appoint PwC as auditor of the
Company.

On behalf of the Board
eprint Group Limited
She Siu Kee, William
Chairman

Hong Kong, 25 June 2024

Report of the Directors
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Independent Auditor’s Report
BB RE

To the Shareholders of eprint Group Limited

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)
Opinion
What we have audited

The consolidated financial statements of eprint Group Limited (the
“Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”), which are set out on
pages 140 to 263, comprise:

° the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31
March 2024;

° the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the
year then ended,;

° the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year
then ended;

° the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended; and

° the notes to the consolidated financial statements, comprising
material accounting policy information and other explanatory
information.

Our opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
March 2024, and of its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (‘HKFRSs”) issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (‘HKICPA”)
and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements section of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the Code”), and we
have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the
Code.

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these
matters.

The key audit matter identified in our audit is related to impairment
assessment of other financial assets at amortised cost.

Independent Auditor’s Report
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Independent Auditor’s Report
PNV Gl ey

Key Audit Matter

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter

Impairment assessment of other financial assets at amortised cost

Refer to Notes 3.1(b)(ii), 23 and 41.5 to the
consolidated financial statements.

As at 31 March 2024, the balance of the other financial
assets at amortised cost amounted to approximately
HK$29,576,000, net of provision for impairment loss of
HK$4,913,000. For the year ended 31 March 2024, an
impairment loss on other financial assets at amortised
cost of HK$1,551,000 has been recognised in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

Management assesses whether the credit risk of other
financial assets at amortised cost have increased
significantly since their initial recognition and applies
a three-stage impairment model to calculate the
expected credit loss (‘ECL"). Management measured
expected credit losses based on historical observed
default rates, loss given default rates of comparable
companies and industry, and forward-looking economic
factors. Management has engaged an independent
external valuer to assist them in the ECL calculation.

We focused on this area due to the magnitude of the
other financial assets at amortised costs. Moreover,
the estimates of ECL involved a significant level of
judgement and assumptions made by management
and all these are subject to certain level of estimation
uncertainty and inherent risk of subjectivity.
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In assessing the appropriateness of the management’s
impairment assessment of other financial assets at
amortised costs, the following audit procedures have
been performed by us:

° We understood the impairment assessment
process and assessed the inherent risk of
material misstatement by considering the degree
of estimation uncertainty and level of other
inherent risk factors, in particular those over the
identification of other financial assets at amortised
cost with different credit risk characteristics and
the calculation of provision;

. We assessed the competency and objectivity
of the external valuer by considering their
qualifications, relevant experience and relationship
with the Group;

° We discussed with the management regarding
the credit control procedures, in particular
credit assessment and the judgement related
to management’s identification of events that
triggered the significant increase in credit risk
of other financial assets at amortised costs and
events of default;

° We evaluated the appropriateness of the expected
credit loss provisioning methodology with the
involvement of internal valuation expert;

° We assessed the reasonableness of key
assumptions, including default rate and loss given
default rate determined by external valuer with
involvement of internal valuation expert; and

° We challenged the appropriateness of forward-
looking economic factors applied by management
for the adjustment of the level of expected loss
with involvement of internal valuation expert.

Based on the procedures described, we found the key
judgements and assumptions made by management in
respect of the impairment assessment of other financial
assets at amortised cost were supported by the
available evidence.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B ZE RS

Other Information

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises all of the information
included in the annual report other than the consolidated financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there
is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required
to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of Directors and Audit
Committee for the Consolidated Financial
Statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary
to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the
directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations,
or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process.
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of
the Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. We report our opinion
solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not
assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person
for the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level
of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of
users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or
the override of internal control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.

Independent Auditor’s Report
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of
the Consolidated Financial Statements
(Continued)

o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the

going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to
draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures
in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures
are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may
cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and performance of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal

control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that
we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate

threats or safeguards applied.
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of
the Consolidated Financial Statements
(Continued)

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee,
we determine those matters that were of most significance in
the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe
these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely
rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences
of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public
interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Lee Chun Wah, Ryan.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 25 June 2024
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

et ela®k
For the year ended 31 March 2024
HE-ZT-_NF=A=+—HIFE

2024 2023
—E_MME —EF-=
HK$’000 HK$’000
THEx FHET
Continuing operations BEREER
Revenue W5 5 316,277 317,408
Cost of sales $H 6 B AR 8 (197,060) (193,841)
Gross profit E A 119,217 123,567
Other income E AU A 6 5,235 4,399
Other losses — net HEMEE— F 8 7 (6,187) (2,317)
Selling and distribution expenses HERDHAX 8 (32,786) (30,086)
Administrative expenses THAX 8 (92,044) (101,780)
Provision for impairment losses on TREERAEBERE
financial assets 3.1(b) (1,972) (1,559)
Operatingloss ___________ B&B® .88 (7.776)
Finance income EE= T ON 10 4,952 3,924
Finance costs A& Ak A 10 (3,518) (1,480)
Finance income —net  REMRAF®E 0 1434 2,444
Share of loss of an associate FE(E— e Bt AR &R 17 (199) (41)
Share of profits/(losses) of joint ventures fE{G & &% F], (E18) 18 1,218 (138)
e 1019 . (179)
Loss before income tax from continuing 5 48 4% & ¥ 75 2 B FT1S R Al ES 18
operations (6,084) (5,511)
Income tax expense Frig®if X 1 (816) (1,713)
Loss for the year from continuing FECEEBFTANER
operations (6,900) (7,224)
Discontinued operation BRIEEEEE
Loss after tax for the year from BRI EEBFTARBEEE
discontinued operation
— Equity holders of the Company —ARRAERFEA 34 - (2,568)
— Non-controlling interests — FEVERE S 34 - (466)
Loss for the year FAER (6,900) (10,258)
(Loss)/profit for the year attributable to: LA T % I8 FE (5 F N
(&18) a7
— Equity holders of the Company —AARERFEA (8,306) (14,243)
- Non-controlling interests — IR ER 1,406 3,985
Loss for the year FRAEIE (6,900) (10,258)
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
X o=t Ene

For the year ended 31 March 2024
HE-_ZT-WF=A=1+—HILFE

2024 2023
—ENE ==

Note HK$’000 HK$'000
HI &E FTERT TATT

Other comprehensive loss arising from 5 E& S EBTEL Y

continuing operations: Hiira EBiE -
Item that may be reclassified to B A EE R EE -
profit or loss:
Currency translation differences N ER (949) (625)
Total other comprehensive loss, Hiira BEARE  MBRTHIE
net of tax (949) (625)
Total comprehensive loss for the year  FR4RA EIEEEE (7,849) (10,883)
Total comprehensive (loss)/income T &REBEELGEES
attributable to: (B18) e
— Equity holders of the Company —ARAEEEFEEA (9,198) (14,852)
— Non-controlling interests — JEYERR RE 1,349 3,969
(7,849) (10,883)
Total comprehensive loss RETINSEEZAQATER
attributable to equity holders of BEEANELGEEEAR:
the Company arises from:
— Continuing operations — HELEER (9,198) (12,284)
— Discontinued operation —RIEREE - (2,568)
(9,198) (14,852)
Loss per share for loss from ARRERSEEAELEE
continuing operations REEBEBENSRER:
attributable to the equity holders
of the Company:
Basic and diluted (HK cents per AERREE (FRBW)
share) 12 (1.51) (2.12)
Loss per share for loss from RAREREEAEEEARL
discontinued operation REXBKEBENESRER:
attributable to the equity holders
of the Company:
Basic and diluted (HK cents per EARREE (FRBW)
share) 12 - (0.47)
Loss per share for loss FRARAFEEEFEAEML
attributable to the equity holders EEMNESREIE:
of the Company during the year:
Basic and diluted (HK cents per EARREE (FRBW)
share) 12 (1.51) (2.59)

The above consolidated statement of comprehensive income b it & Bf4x & UK 25 2K FE B2 BB B BT 5 — 6F
should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. Bl oE o
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

BHRBARIR

As at 31 March 2024
RZE_NF=A=+—H

2024 2023
—E-E —E-=F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHET
Assets BE
Non-current assets kRBEE
Property, plant and equipment e N ] 13 134,589 95,372
Right-of-use assets FREEE 14 54,669 48,208
Intangible assets B AE 15 725 725
Other financial assets at amortised REHEK AT R Bt mEE
cost 23 29,576 28,751
Investment in an associate R—EEERRMNIKE 17 1,181 1,380
Investments in joint ventures REeE&atENRE 18 11,061 10,654
Deferred income tax assets BEFSREE 30 256 707
Deposits and prepayments e RIERRIE 22 21,223 20,184
253,280 205,981
Current assets REBEE
Inventories FE 20 5,332 7,794
Trade receivables B 5 W IE 21 5,291 4,424
Deposits, prepayments and R~ TER I K& H At FE IR
other receivables 22 5,310 8,756
Other financial assets at amortised REEAAY R e mEE
cost 23 - 2,390
Financial assets at fair value through ~ #EiBIBRIEZ AL BENIEZ
profit or loss EREE 24 8,994 16,653
Amounts due from related companies & Uz B8 38 1 5 5K I8 37 328 377
Current income tax recoverable Al Y el E BB AT 1S R 84 1,209
Cash and cash equivalents RekRESFHBEER 25 100,035 125,024
125,374 166,627
Total assets EEHE 378,654 372,608
Equity =
Capital and reserves attributable to AKARERFTBEABGERK
the equity holders of the Company EE
Share capital fi% 7R 26 5,500 5,500
Share premium f% 17 4 B 26 132,921 132,921
Other reserves H At 27 91,428 100,626
229,849 239,047
Non-controlling interests FEVE AR i 5 14,219 12,743
Total equity SRR 244,068 251,790
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
EBHIIRAR

As at 31 March 2024

RZZE—NF=A=+—H

2024 2023
—E_NE —E-=F
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
B 5 FET FBTT
Liabilities =R
Non-current liabilities kRBEE
Lease liabilities HEAE 14 23,764 28,719
Other payables H b FE T 3R 28 877 -
Deferred income tax liabilities BEEFHEAE 30 3,836 4,167
S 28,477 32,886
Current liabilities REBEE
Trade payables 2 5N IE 28 10,734 12,211
Accruals and other payables JE & 3R I8 2 H fth FE - SR8 28 30,454 35,136
Borrowings BE 29 40,951 22,682
Lease liabilities HEARE 14 23,408 17,680
Amounts due to directors BN ZEERIE 37 148 132
Current income tax payable FERTE BRRT 1SR 414 91
... 106109 87932
Totalliabiiies  RG#® 134585 120818
Total equity and liabilities ERRAEARE 378,654 372,608

The above consolidated statement of financial position should be — _t it & 5 B % A 50 2% & £ B Bt Bt 5 — 6F 59

Ao

read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. g

The consolidated financial statements on pages 140 to 263 were F140E263E FIH A MU BEHRERCHR -
approved by the Board of Directors on 25 June 2024 and were — VUG NA - +THHESESHE WA

signed on its behalf. T EEREKEE-
Mr. She Siu Kee William Mr. Chong Cheuk Ki
RBEKE HEd%E
Director Director
BF BFE
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
BOEREE R

For the year ended 31 March 2024
(E—TNF=A=+—HIFE

Share
capital

e
HK$'000
TEL

Share
premium

Attributable to equity holders of the Company

Capital
reserve

A
HKS'000

BT

&

KAARE

Share
based
Other ~ payment

reserve

Exchange
1eserve

HhEE 5 SERE

" R
HK$'000
TEL

HK$'000
Thr

Retained
eamings

REZH

Non-
controlling
interests

S
HK§'000

s o
R’

Balance at 1 April 2022 R-B--EMA-R&H 5,500 132,921 6,593 @1 - (2,426) 99,231 241,798 8,470 250,268
Comprehensive (loss)/income &6 (FB) /i
(Loss)/proft for the year R (ER) /R - - - - - - (14243 (14243 3985 (10258)
Other comprehensive loss LS it |
Currency translation differences EXER

- Group 148 - - - - - 98) - 98 (16) (114)

— Joint ventures and an associate -RELER-HBELT - - - - - (511) - (511) - (511)
Total comprehensive (loss)/income %4 (F#) / REEE S S S S S (609 (14243 (1485 3969 (10883
Transactions with owners, EERERRINEEEAN

recognised directly in equity 25
Share based payment expenses (Note 35)  IRIEERT 3B (HH35) - - - - 17081 S - 17051 - 17051
Disposal of a subsidiary HE-HNBAR - - - - - - - - 304 304
Dividends (Note 31) 8 (HizEst) - - - - - - (49500 (4,950) - (4,950)
Total transactions with owners, EERERRINEREEAN

recognised directly in equity azg - - - - 17,051 - (4,950) 12,101 304 12,405
Balance at 31 March 2023 RZBZZEZA=1-8

3 5,500 182,921 6,593 1) 17,051 (3,035) 80,038 239,047 12,743 251,790
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
AGHEREEIR

For the year ended 31 March 2024
HE—Z-_WNF=A=+—HLFE

Attributable to equity holders of the Company
KRARREEAEL

Share

based Non-
payment Exchange  Retained controlling

reserve reserve  earnings interests Total
REMH

EAfiE  HibRG R NERE REEA Nt FERRER g
HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HKS000 HK$000 HK$000 HKS$000  HK$000
TER TR TER TEn TiEn TiEn TER TER TER TER

Share Share
capital  premium

Capital Other

reserve reserve Sub-total

BA  Ritiel

Balance at 1 April 2023 R-B-=EMA-RA&H 5,500 132,921 6,593 21) 17,051 (3,035) 80,038 239,047 12,743 251,790
Comprehensive (loss)/income 5848 (FB) /b#
(Loss)/profit for the year Ei(EB) /& - - - - - - (8,306)  (8,306) 1,406 (6,900)
Other comprehensive loss EEErS it |
Currency translation differences EXER

- Group -5%E - - - - - (81) - (81) (57) (139)

- Joint ventures and an associate -RELER-HBELT - - - - - (811) - (811) - (811)
Total comprehensive (loss)/income %4 (F#8) / WHBE - - - - - (892 (8306)  (9,198) 1,349 (7,849)
Transactions with owners, EERERRINEEEAN

recognised directly in equity x5
Transfer upon lapse of share options RERELEEE - - - - (1,950) - 1,950 - - -
Disposal of a subsidiary HE-HRBAR - - - - - - - - 121 127
Total transactions with owners, ERNERRINAEEAN

recognised directly in equity a5 - - - - (1,950) - 1,950 - 127 127
Balance at 31 March 2024 RZB-ME=A=1+-H

43 5,500 132,921 6,593 1) 15,101 (3,927) 73,682 229,849 14,219 244,068

Lt & OF HE a5 B B 3K FE SR RE BB RE — fF

The above consolidated statement of changes in equity should be
read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

BfRERER

For the year ended 31 March 2024
 E—TNF=A=+—HILFE

2024 2023
—B-mE = — =
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FTEx FHET
Cash flows from operating activities KETHEENHRSRE
Cash generated from operations BEEAMNRS 32(a) 28,029 57,437
Interest paid 2 E (1,289) (705)
Income tax refunded/(paid) BRE /() FEH 752 (2,629)
Net cash generated from operating KEREEEMIRSFE
activities 27,492 54,103
Cash flows from investing activities REFHEENRERE
Purchase of property, plant and equipment & & ¥ 2 W= & & & 13 (27,474) (7,676)
Prepayment for purchase of property, BEWE WERERHED
plant and equipment VB (3,497) (17,098)
Proceeds from disposals of property, HEWE BEMEREN
plant and equipment Fri5 k18 32(b) 2,188 291
Proceeds on redemption of other financial & 2] 3% # 5k 2 51| 8E ~
assets at amortised cost HEthemEE 2 FEHIA 14 5,405
Investment in other financial assets at IR SR AR AR 2
amortised cost EhemEEMNIRE - (1,000)
Proceeds from disposals of financial HEBBRERKAREE
assets at fair value through profit or loss 38R 2 & RE & & 2 Fr 18 208 7,212 -
Interest received B W F B 4,952 3,916
Acquisition of a subsidiary U BE — REI B B A &) 33 (28,831) =
Proceeds on disposal of a subsidiary, HE B ARTERA "
net of cash nrEe 3 371
Dividend received from financial assets at K B:3&@EHFIE AL BE
fair value through profit or loss SRz @ BB E 2 2 WS 25 1
Dividend received from a joint venture KE—HeErEz2EKEKRE 18 - 1,000
Net cash used in investing activities REEBMMAR & F 8 (45,408) (14,780)
Cash flows from financing activities BMEERBELANEERE
Proceeds from borrowings BEMEHIE 32(c) 71,548 19,494
Repayments of borrowings EEEE 32(c) (53,279) (22,898)
Payment for lease liabilities THRBEERE 32(c) (25,264) (19,732)
Dividends paid BARRE 31 - (4,950)
Net cash used in financing activities BEEBMAMNRES TR (6,995) (28,086)
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and RekReEMAEEE
cash equivalents () nFsE (24,911) 11,237
Cash and cash equivalents FURekREEEEE
at beginning of year 125,024 113,911
Effect of change in exchange rates EXFHNTE (78) (124)
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year XIS NI S FEER 25 100,035 125,024

The above consolidated statement of cash flows should be read in it & 118 & 58 & fE B BE BT KT 35 — 6F
conjunction with the accompanying notes. 338 o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

General information

eprint Group Limited (the “Company”) was incorporated in
the Cayman Islands on 10 January 2013 as an exempted
company with limited liability under the Companies Law
(Revised) of the Cayman Islands. The Company’s address of
its registered office is P.O. Box 31119 Grand Pavilion, Hibiscus
Way, 802 West Bay Road, Grand Cayman, KY1-1205,
Cayman Islands.

The Company is an investment holding company. The
activities of its principal subsidiaries, an associate and joint
ventures are set out in Notes 16, 17 and 18, respectively.

The consolidated financial statements of the Company and
its subsidiaries (together, the “Group”) are presented in Hong
Kong dollars (“HK$”), unless otherwise stated.

Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements of the Company have
been prepared in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (‘HKFRS”) issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance Cap. 622.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
under the historical cost convention, as modified by the
revaluation of financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss, which are carried at fair value.

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in
conformity with HKFRS requires the use of certain critical
accounting estimates. It also requires management to
exercise its judgement in the process of applying the Group’s
accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree
of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions
and estimates are significant to the consolidated financial
statements are disclosed in Note 4.

B OB R R AR IRE

—REHR

eprintE@ AR AR ([AR2A )R
—E-ZH-ATERBHRESH
SERAE(BEIT )RR ERS T
ML RERRBER ARG - ARRQA]
Il 9= E M4k BP.O. Box 31119
Grand Pavilion, Hibiscus Way, 802
West Bay Road, Grand Cayman,
KY1-1205, Cayman Islands °

AATRREERAT -HEBH
BAT —MBESATARASLE

ZEBDRENKIFE16 17 k18 °

BRASAN ARRARENEB R
A (% [AEE )W GF B g ®wK
BRABT (BT 28K

mREE

ARBNAHMBHRRDBREETE
GG ([BRSFMAE])R
heBBHBHREER ([HEMB
HEER ) RBEIEDF622EF
BRRRPINRERERE -

EHMBRRCREBEELKAER
HWRARABEFEZRES
BonBEIIENEREENER
fEHERT -

ERAA T BRI RSB A b
B SRR A B T EAGE it
A 7B I G A A PR R R A R
B 1 ) BT o 3 B B B AR I 4 BT
WRHENEN RBRBBEHA
PHBBRRABALENESE B
B 34 -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BT HRER M =t
2 Basis of preparation (continued 2 HmEEE

21 B BRREHRBEESH

2.1 Changes in accounting policy and disclosures

(a) New and amended standards adopted by the Group (@) AEEERNEIFTET RAMZE

The Group has applied the following new and amended
standards for the financial year beginning 1 April 2023

and are relevant to its operations:

Amendments to HKAS 1 and
HKFRS Practice Statement 2

BB EAEIRRBEBMBERE
B EBREF25HR BTN

Amendments to HKAS 8

BB ERIESH ZIEFT A

Amendments to HKAS 12

BAECTEAF125R ZEFT A
Amendments to HKAS 12
BACTERF125R ZEFT A
HKFRS 17
BAVBRELERE175H
Amendments to HKFRS 17

BV BEREERFE17H 2B A
Amendments to HKFRS 17

BEMBREERNFEITR ZEFT AR

The adoption of these new and amended standards
does not have any significant change to the accounting
policies or any significant effect on the results and

financial position of the Group.
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EAY

AEBER-_E-_=FIAH—
BB ZYHREEERBATH
AR EIERT R BEAE B
LEBE:

Disclosure of Accounting Policies
GETER KR

Definition of Accounting Estimates

EEIRER P

Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising from a
Single Transaction

HE-RHEANEENBERBORIEREA

International Tax Reform — Pillar Two Model Rules

BB — E A& A

Insurance Contracts

REE K

Amendments to HKFRS 17

BERVBHREENEITHR ZEFTAR

Initial Application of HKFRS 17 and HKFRS 9 — Comparative
Information

A ERERBMERE
AELRER

HERIFA75R R BB WS LRI E 95 —

B4 % 2 9 T R UG AT R B3t
EHEHBRELCMEAR
B o A B 2 A BB
RERAAEATE -

e



2 Basis of preparation continueq 2

2.1 Changes in accounting policy and disclosures

(Continued)

(b)  Amended standards and interpretation which are not yet
effective for this financial period and have not been early

adopted by the Group

Certain amended standards and interpretation have been
published that are not mandatory for the year ended 31
March 2024 and have not been early adopted by the
Group in preparing the consolidated financial statements:

Amendments to HKAS 1
BB ERFIR BTN

Amendments to HKAS 1
BB ERFIR BTN

Amendments to HKFRS 16

BB BRELEAFE165 2
{EFTA

Revised Hong Kong
Interpretation 5

RIEFTTEBRESEST

Amendments to HKAS 7 and
HKFRS 7

BB ERETR REEM
B EERNETHR 2B A

Amendments to HKAS 21

BB ERF21H BT

Amendments to HKFRS 10
and HKAS 28

BB B HRELEREI0RERE
Bt ERIZE285 2 EFT A

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
BRI MR

2.1

©)

K2k

Classification of Liabilities as Current and Non-current
BEEI AR KIERE

Non-current Liabilities with Covenants
A RENIERESAE

Lease liability in a Sales and Leaseback
ERELDzHERRE

Presentation of Financial Statements — Classification
by the Borrower of a Term Loan that Contains a
Repayment on Demand Clause

MBREEI - BERAHBERERKEEBRKZTE
HERZHH

Supplier Finance Arrangements

R B E 2B

Lack of Exchangeability
R Z A

Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor
and its Associate or Joint Venture

REERBENRSIEELECENEEHESN
EE

2023/24 F3R eprint EEER AT

S BRXSHRIFEFTE 9

TR BB ] 1 K AE A A A5
B AR SR P IR 2 AN 5T B R

HETRETERZREDEM
BHARBE_ZT _WNF=H
St HALEFERFER M
REBRBmES G B RRE

TR IR -

Effective for
annual periods
beginning

on or after
RUT B
ZERBHN
SHHBEXR

1 January 2024
—T_mF
—HA—H

1 January 2024
—T_MmF
—A-—H

1 January 2024
—T_mF
—A-—H

1 January 2024

—EMF
—H—A
1 January 2024

—E-mF
—H—H

1 January 2025
—E-RF
—H—H

To be determined

FEE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B PTRRSRaRT T
2 Basis of preparation continueq

2.1

3.1

(a)

150

Changes in accounting policy and disclosures
(Continued)

(b)  Amended standards and interpretation which are not yet
effective for this financial period and have not been early
adopted by the Group (Continued)

Management is in the process of assessing potential
impact of the above amended standards and
interpretations that are relevant to the Group upon initial
application. It is not yet in a position to state whether
these amended standards and interpretations will have
a significant impact on the Group’s results of operations
and financial position.

Financial risk management

Financial risk factors

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks:
market risk (including foreign exchange risk, cash flow and fair
value interest rate risk and price risk), credit risk and liquidity
risk.

Management regularly monitors the financial risks of the
Group. Because of the simplicity of the financial structure and
the current operations of the Group, no hedging activities are
undertaken by management.

Market risk
(i) Foreign exchange risk

Foreign exchange risk arises when future commercial
transactions or recognised assets or liabilities
denominated in a currency that is not the entity’s
function currency. The Group operates in various regions
and is exposed to foreign exchange risk primarily arising
from cash and cash equivalents and deposits and other
receivables which are denominated in Japanese Yen
(“JPY”) and US dollar (“US$") which are held by group
companies whose functional currency is not the same as
the respective foreign currencies. The Group manages
its foreign exchange risk by performing regular review of
the Group’s net foreign exchange exposures.

eprint Group Limited Annual Report 2023/24
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3 Financial risk management (continueq)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continueq)

(@) Market risk (continuead)

() Foreign exchange risk (Continued)

As at 31 March 2024, if JPY had strengthened/
weakened by 5% against the HK$ with all other variables
held constant, pre-tax loss for the year would have been
HK$533,000 lower/higher (2023: HK$693,000 lower/
higher), mainly as a result of foreign exchange losses/
gains on translation of JPY denominated deposits and

other receivables.

The currency risk on assets and liabilities denominated
in US$ which were mainly held by Hong Kong group
entities, the functional currency of which is HK$, is
considered to be minimal as HK$ is currently pegged to

USS.

(i) Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk

The Group’s cash flow and fair value interest rate risk
mainly arises from cash at banks, other financial assets
at amortised cost, financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss, bank borrowings and lease liabilities.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
BRI MR

3 HMERBERE.w
3.1 BEBEZE »
(@ WEEE®)

() SMNERSE (&)

RZE-_NWF=A=+—8"
% BB X B THE ZES%Mm
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(i) HzRERAIAEEFFER

AEENRERERAAEBE
MEmEBRETERBRTRS
HEBEKANRZEMERE
E-EZBBEaRIARBEIK
CEREE RIUTEBEEMEE
BfE-

As at 31 March 2024 and 2023, the Group’s bank RZE-_NER T _=F=

borrowings, cash and cash equivalents are carried at
amortised costs with variable rates, which expose the

Group to cash flow interest rate risk.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BRI HRRME

3 Financial risk management continueo)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continuea)

(@) Market risk (Continued)

(i) Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk (Continued)

As at 31 March 2024 and 2023, the Group’s financial
assets and liabilities at amortised costs, financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss and lease liabilities
which are of fixed interest rates and are also exposed to
the risk of future changes in market interest rates.

However, the Group’s income and cash flows from
operations were substantially independent of changes in
market interest rates as the significant interest-bearing
assets were either fixed or not expected to fluctuate
significantly.

As at 31 March 2024 and 2023, financial assets and
liabilities at amortised costs and lease liabilities at fix
rates exposure the Group to insignificant fair value
interest rate risk as the fixed interest rates approximate
market interest rates.

For the year ended 31 March 2024, if interest rates on
borrowings had been 100 basis points higher/lower with
all other variables held constant, the Group’s loss before
income tax would have been approximately HK$410,000
higher/lower (2023: HK$227,000 higher/lower). The
sensitivity analysis has been determined assuming that
the change in interest rates had occurred at the reporting
date. The 100 basis point increase/decrease represents
management’s assessment of reasonable possible
change in the interest rate which has the most impact on
the Group over the period until the next year end date.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3 Financial risk management (continueq)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(a)

Market risk (Continueq)

(i)

Price risk

The Group’s exposure to price risk arises from
investments held by the Group and classified in the
consolidated statement of financial position at fair value
through profit or loss (Note 24).

To manage its price risk arising from investments in
equity securities, the Group diversifies its portfolio.
Diversification of the portfolio is done in accordance with
the limits set by the Group.

The Group’s investment in securities are publicly traded.
The fair value is determined with reference to quoted
market prices. For the Group’s investment that is not
publicly traded, management is of the opinion that the
fair values of the equity instruments affected by changes
in the market price of the underlying equity instruments is
immaterial (Note 3.3). Accordingly, no sensitivity analysis
is required.

Based on the assumption that the fair values of equity
had increased or decreased by 5% respectively
with all other variables held constant, that all of the
Group’s equity instruments increased or decreased by
HK$450,000 (2023: HK$833,000), that moved in line
with the assumption. The management is of the opinion
that the Group has minimal exposure to the price risk as
at 31 March 2024 and 2023.

(b) Credit risk

The credit risk of the Group mainly arises from cash and cash
equivalents, other financial assets at amortised cost, trade
receivables, deposits and other receivables, financial assets at
fair value through profit or loss and amounts due from related
companies. The carrying amounts of these balances represent
the Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk in relation to
financial assets.
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AEENERRRKEASE
FE IREGHMBARIERD
BRERBEaRAAEBEIRK
ZEE (M5E24) »

REERAZTHFREELZE
RER AEEZTHLERKRE
HeE REEAENZ TR
IR BERE MR G T

AEBRBHZRERFHAET
RGP RABEDZEDSGR
BEE - RAKEBHFLAMAX
ZHREME BEEERDE
s TRAZAABEXAMER
TAMGEREINTELK
(Fft5£3.3) » B iL BB 78 fF h 8=
e

BERA R 2 EED HIER
5%MATEEMESRFTTE
MBRE AEEMEMERZT
B #5450,0008 L (Z 2 ==
#F:833,0008 L) s EEE
BR—B-EEERAAEE
RZEBE-_NEFERER T -_=F=
A=Z+—HEBRHERRRKE
1K o

FERR

AEBzEERRBRI2Z2HRA S MR
TEHEERE RBHEAAI KR ZH
MEMEE BEHRUFKE ek
HEWRE BEBEERAAE
BIfRzERMEENEKREERNA
REEE - ZEFR/EBKEEENRN
SERCREEMAEZEREE
B o

2023/24 3 eprint KEERLT 153



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B O

TSR MTEE

3 Financial risk management continueo)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continuea)

(b) Credit risk (Continued)

Management has credit policy in place and the exposure to
credit risks are monitored on an ongoing basis.

()

(i)

Cash and cash equivalents
Risk management

As at 31 March 2024 and 2023, all the bank deposits
are deposited in the high-quality financial institutions.

Impairment of cash and cash equivalents

Cash and bank deposits are also subject to impairment
requirement of HKFRS 9. Management are of the view
that the Group’s cash and cash equivalents are placed in
those banks which are independently rated with a high
credit rating. Management does not expect any material
losses from non-performance by these banks as they
have no default history in the past.

Other financial assets at amortised cost

Risk management

Other financial assets at amortised cost include loans
receivables. The Group has considered the probability
of default upon initial recognition of assets and whether
there has been significant increase in credit risk on an
ongoing basis throughout each year. To assess whether
there is a significant increase in credit risk, the Group
considered the actual or expected significant adverse
changes in business, financial economic conditions that
are expected to cause a significant change to the third
party’s ability to meet its obligations.
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3 Financial risk management (continueq)
3.1 Financial risk factors (continueq)

(b) Credit risk (continuea)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B O ERR I T

3 BXERERE .
3.1 B¥EKREZE
(b) FEERB#)

(i)

Other financial assets at amortised cost (Continued)

Impairment of other financial assets at amortised cost

Management applies the HKFRS 9 general approach
to measuring expected credit losses which uses a
3-stage expected credit loss model to recognise the loss
allowance for other financial assets at amortised cost.

The Group uses three categories for other financial
assets at amortised cost which reflect their credit
risk and how the expected credit loss provision is
determined for each of those categories. The Group
accounts for its credit risk by appropriately providing for
expected credit loss on a timely basis. To measure the
expected credit losses, management has considered
quantitatively and qualitatively whether there has been
an actual or expected significant increase in credit
risk (i.e. Stage 2 or 3) to the balance since its initial
recognition. Management would base on the credit risk
assessment of the counterparty and adopt the loss rate
with reference from the external credit rating agent. The
loss rate was adjusted to reflect current and forward-
looking information on macroeconomic factors affecting
the ability of the counterparties to settle the receivables.
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BTSRRI

3 Financial risk management continueo)
3.1 Financial risk factors (continuea)

(b) Credit risk (Continued)

(b)

(i) Other financial assets at amortised cost (Continued)

Impairment of other financial assets at amortised cost

(Continued)

A summary of the assumptions underpinning the Group’s
expected credit loss model is as follows:

Category
5l

Stage 1

F—FEER

Stage 2

FEREER
Stage 3

E=FER

Group definition of category

FEBERER T TESR

Receivables have a low risk of default
and a strong capacity to meet
contractual cash flows

BHRRRENRENGOEZNERR
7158 S FE MR IR

Receivables for which there is
a significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition

B ¥ 2 HE R A RS B R K18 Y
FE W FRIE

Receivables for which there is credit
loss since initial recognition

B HRIAREZSEEBENEIR
A
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3.1 BEEREZE

EERB ()

(i) HEBHLASIRZ R M Z HE
E (&)

BRI dk B M 2 i &
ERE (#)

AEEENEEBEERNR
RELLT

Basis for recognition of expected
credit loss provision

BAAHCESERENEE

12 months expected credit loss. Where
the expected lifetime of an asset is
less than 12 months, expected losses
are measured at its expected lifetime

12 AT E EBE - MEENTREF
H 2@ A - BITE BB B IR TR BE
HiztE

Lifetime expected credit loss

THEBEEEE
Lifetime expected credit loss

EHIFAMEEEE
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B ISR
3 Financial risk management continueq 3 HMKEKRERE .
3.1 Financial risk factors (continueq) 31 BEREKBEE
(b) Credit risk (continueq) (b) EERE &)
(i) Other financial assets at amortised cost (Continued) (i) B AR B2 E
E ()
Impairment of other financial assets at amortised cost B K SRR A% &
(Continued) EJHIE (&)
As at 31 March 2024 and 2023, the Group provided RZE_WNEFRZTZ=F=
for expected credit loss provision against other financial A=4+—H8 KN& B3z H
assets at amortised cost as follows: ARSI BR 2 Bt & B & ERTHIE
BHEESERBENT
Stage 1 Stage 2 Total
E-BE E_RE EZRE @t
HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
Tz TET TET TET
As at 31 March 2024 RZEZNF
=A=+-R
Weighted average expected Il F 9B E BB X
loss rate 1.41% - 100% 14.2%
Gross carrying amount RHEAE 30,000 - 4,489 34,489
Loss allowance BEEE 424 - 4,489 4,913
As at 31 March 2023 RZZ-=F
ZA=+-R
Weighted average expected  fEFIHEHBER
loss rate 7.2% 26.5% - 9.7%
Gross carrying amount RHEaE 30,000 4,503 - 34,503
Loss allowance BERE 2,168 1,194 = 3,362
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SRR

3 Financial risk management (conineq 3 HMBEREBRERE .

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued) 3.1 MERBEE )

(b) Credit risk (continuea) (b) EER &)

(i) Other financial assets at amortised cost (Continued) (i)  HEEAAG R B A
EE(#)

Impairment of other financial assets at amortised cost A AR B2 &
(Continued) EHIE (&)
The closing loss allowance for other financial assets at RZE-_NER-_T_=F=
amortised cost as at 31 March 2024 and 2023 reconcile A=+—H Z#HEKXLKYEE
to the opening loss allowance as follows: CEMEMEENF REBR

BEFEVERBREHEROT:

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
E-ER EZRR EZRR @t

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET TR TR

Opening loss allowance R-_Z__FMA—H

as at 1 April 2022 WENBERE 643 1,620 = 2,263
Loss allowance/(reversal FARBREERNILE

of loss allowance) for ERAYR B

impairment of other MEEZREBER

financial assets at &/ (BERERD)

amortised costs recognised

in profit and loss during

the year 1,625 (426) - 1,099

Closing loss allowanceas RZZE==%= A

at 31 March 2023 and ZT-ANEREAE
opening loss allowance BBERR_ZT_=%
as at 1 April 2023 MA—BRFNEE
B 2,168 1,194 - 3,362
Transfer = - (1,194) 1,194 S
(Reversal of loss allowance)/ FRRERERKIKE
loss allowance for HKASIE Bt e
impairment of other BEERME(B#E
financial assets at BERD) /

amortised costs recognised B 1B 4
in profit and loss during
the year (1,744) - 3,295 1,551

Closing loss allowance as at R =F—MF= A
31 March 2024 =t—BHERER
B 424 - 4,489 4,913
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3 Financial risk management (continueq)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continueq)

(b) Credit risk (Continued)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
BRI MR

3 ,E\ZI-;]’%E‘I ﬁﬁ %EE (%)
3.1 B¥EKREZE
(b) FEERB#)

(i)

(i)

Other financial assets at amortised cost (Continued)

Impairment of other financial assets at amortised cost
(Continued)

For the year ended 31 March 2024, the provision of
loss allowance of approximately HK$1,551,000 was
recognised and debited to the profit and loss (2023:
HK$1,099,000).

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Risk management

The Group has investments in listed securities. For listed
equity securities, the Group monitors the credit risks
of its investments through evaluation of credit ratings.
Management did not consider there was material
exposure to credit risks as the investments in listed
equity securities were graded as low risk with reference
to at least one major rating agency.

(i) TR AR BE s @&
E(4#)
BB ER AR B2 &
BT _MFE=A=1+—H
IEFTE - BB H41,551,00008
TEERIFABRZ(ZE =
£ 11,099,000/ 7T ) ©

(i) BEBEmRENABEIERS 2

A E
R E

AEEHEBELTRESFRE -5
AR AESME AEERE
BALEESARERERE
ZEERBR -B2EEL R
EXREFREE RLELPERARE
FZRESFHA/ERR  HE
BERATHFEEREERERR -
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3 Financial risk management continueo)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continuea)

(b) Credit risk (Continued)

(v)

Trade receivables

The Group applies the simplified approach to provide for
expected credit losses prescribed by HKFRS 9, which
permits the use of the lifetime expected loss provision for
all trade receivables. As the Group’s historical credit loss
experience indicates different loss patterns for different
customer segments, the loss allowance is calculated
based on days past due from various customer
segments which are grouped with similar patterns.

To measure expected credit losses, trade receivables
have been grouped based on the days past due and
shared credit risk characteristics.

The expected credit losses on trade receivables are
estimated using a provision matrix based on the Group’s
historical credit loss experience, internal categorisations
and/or the debtors’ credit history with the Group and
ageing profile as at the end of reporting period. The
historical loss rates are adjusted to reflect current and
forward-looking information on macroeconomic factors
affecting the ability of the customers to settle the
receivables. The Group has identified the gross domestic
product and the consumer price index of the countries
in which it sells its goods and services to be the most
relevant factors, and accordingly adjusts the historical
loss rates based on expected changes in these factors.

As at 31 March 2024 and 2023, the loss allowance
for trade receivables was determined as follows, the
expected credit losses below also incorporated forward-
looking information.
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AU SRR MR
3 Financial risk management coninued 3 HMKEKRERE .
3.1 Financial risk factors (continued) 3.1 MEREBEE #)
(b) Credit risk (continueq) (b) EERE &)
(iv)  Trade receivables (Continued) (v) B ZENE &)

Overdue Overdue
Not yet within 31-60 Overdue
due 30 days LEVE 60 days Total
af aH B

R 30KA  31Z60% 60X st
HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000
TET THET TET THET THET

As at 31 March 2024 R=Z-MF
=A=+-H

Paper printing products % EENRIE &

Weighted average expected  fEFIHEHEEX

loss rate 0.1% 1.0% 17.7% 45.5% 7.4%
Gross carrying amount REAE 1,342 103 26 275 1,746
Loss allowance EiEEE 2 1 2 125 130

Overdue Overdue
within 31-60 Overdue
30 days LEVES CDEVE] Total
ki il ol

30XA 31£60X 60X st
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$000
S

As at 31 March 2024 RIB-MF
=ZA=t+-8

Banner printing products & ZEIfIE R

Weighted average expected MEFHEHEEX

loss rate 3.4% 3.3% 7.7% 17.0% 8.3%
Gross carrying amount REAE 1,187 896 705 1,218 4,006
Loss allowance BiEkE 40 30 54 207 331
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Xty e e b
3 Financial risk management continueq 3 HMKEKRERE .
3.1 Financial risk factors (continueq) 31 BKEREKBEE «
(b) Credit risk (Continued) (b) EERE &)

(iv)  Trade receivables (Continued) (v) B ZENE &)

Overdue Overdue
NORY: within 31-60 Overdue
due 30 days days 60 days Total
ek B bt

ABH 30KAN  31E60X 60K st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TRT TR TR TRT TR

As at 31 March 2023 R-ZBZ=%
=A=+-H

Paper printing products  #BENRIE &

Weighted average expected M FIHEHEEX

loss rate 0.5% 2.8% 6.0% 59.5% 7.7%
Gross carrying amount EHAE 1,768 9 24 257 2,147
Loss allowance BREE 9 3 1 153 166

Overdue Overdue
Not yet within 31-60 Overdue
due 30 days days 60 days Total
B B B

FE 30KA  31E60X 60X ot
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAT AT THET THT AT

As at 31 March 2023 R-ZBZ=fF
=A=t-H

Banner printing products EZEIRIE R

Weighted average expected METHEHEEX

loss rate 1.0% 3.0% 9.2% 69.1% 29.0%
Gross carrying amount RHEAE 1,246 501 331 1,365 3,443
Loss allowance EBERE 12 15 30 943 1,000
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BTSRRI
3 Financial risk management (continueq) 3 ERAKRERE .
3.1 Financial risk factors (continueq) 31 BEREKBEE
(b) Credit risk (Continued) (b) EERE %)
(iv)  Trade receivables (Continued) (v) B ZENE &)

The loss allowances for trade receivables as at 31 March
2024 and 2023 reconcile to the opening loss allowances

RZB_MER-_T_=ZF=
A=+—B BEZRUFREE

as follows: BERERFVEERBNEE
AT
HK$’'000
FHETT
Opening loss allowance as at 1 April 2022 RZEZ—FMHA—ANEHY
ER R 1,230
Reversal of loss allowance for impairment of HE—HNBARZE S EWKIE
trade receivables through disposal of BEEERE 2 BD
a subsidiary (64)
Closing loss allowance as at 31 March 2023 and R —E - =F=A=+—HH
opening loss allowance as at 1 April 2023 FREBERBBERR-Z==F
MA—BA®EVEERE 1,166
Loss allowance for impairment of FAREZBRZE S EIFKIE
trade receivables recognised in profit and BB E B
loss during the year 42
Written off during the year F A8 (747)
Closing loss allowance as at 31 March 2024 RZZEZMFE=A=+—HH
FREBEE 461

The creation and release of provision for impaired
receivables have been included in ‘provision for
impairment losses on financial assets’ in the profit and
loss. Amounts charged to the allowance account are
generally written off, when there is no expectation of
recovering additional cash.

& W K R R (B 7 A Y 4 AR N AR
BRESABGZAN[EREE
MEEERE] - BEROME
B —RETE BT A e = B SNR
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B ERR MR

3 Financial risk management continueo)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continuea)

(b) Credit risk (Continued)

v)

Deposits, other receivables and amounts due from
related companies (non-trade) (“Other Receivables’)

Risk management

The Group has considered the probability of default
upon initial recognition of assets and whether there has
been significant increase in credit risk on an ongoing
basis throughout each year. To assess whether there is
a significant increase in credit risk, the Group considered
the actual or expected significant adverse changes
in business, financial economic conditions that are
expected to cause a significant change to the third
party’s ability to meet its obligations.

Impairment of Other Receivables

Other Receivables are subject to impairment requirement
of HKFRS 9. The credit quality of the Other Receivables
has been assessed with reference to historical
information about the counterparties default rates and
financial position of the counterparties. Management
would base on the credit risk assessment of the
counterparty and adopt the loss rate with reference
from the external credit rating agent. The loss rate
was adjusted to reflect current and forward looking
information on macroeconomic factors affecting the
ability of the counterparty to settle the receivables.

For the year ended 31 March 2024, the provision of loss
allowance of approximately HK$379,000 was recognised
and debited to the profit and loss (2023: HK$460,000).
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EER &)
(v) o B ENGIER FE I B &

REIFIE (FES) ([RER
HE])

BB EE

)

AEECEFEFEELEER
NTHRBREERNEORER
EERRESDKIEE M- ST
EEERRESFEABIEN
AEEEZERRYPBERE =7
BITEEBHNENZRLERESR
LR EB R BHEBERRANE
Rk FAHHNERTNES -

HL1th fE W AR R E

H b UK IR 8 <7 BB M 15
HERAEIFRHBERTE - Hfth
YRR ZEEEEEKE2E
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BEHFINEERRIMBLS
ZHNERE AR R B RE AR
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HABARREBAEEUFT LG
BIEWRIARE N 2 RERER
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BE-T-ME=A=+—H
LR CHIAFRBBEERB
#1379,000/8 7T I 1 18 25 7 #1
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3 Financial risk management continueq)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continueq)

(b) Credit risk (Continued)

v)

Deposits, other receivables and amounts due from
related companies (non-trade) (“Other Receivables’)
(Continued)

Impairment of Other Receivables (Continued)
The closing loss allowance for Other Receivables as at

31 March 2024 and 2023 reconcile to the opening loss
allowance as follows:

BRI MR

3 HXRABRER .
31 BREKBREE #

(b) FEERB#)

v)

BE B W E R EK FE
REIHIE (FES) ([RER
HE]) (&)

ELAth fE W R R B (4

RZE-_NER T _=F=
A=+—H HMERKRKIEHD
FREERERFUEBEBERE
HERMT

HK$'000
THETT

Opening loss allowance as at 1 April 2022 RZZEZZFMA—BRFH
R 168
Loss allowance for impairment of F AR R E b FE UK
Other Receivables recognised in profit and BB E B
loss during the year 460
Closing loss allowance as at 31 March 20283 and R = ZE - =F = A=+—HMF XK
opening loss allowance as at 1 April 2023 EEBEHELRR_ZE_=F
MA—BOFEERERERE 628
Loss allowance for impairment of F AR I8 0 MR A E b B U IR
Other Receivables recognised in profit and BEEERE
loss during the year 379
Closing loss allowance as at 31 March 2024 RZZFEZAF=A=+—HHFR
EERE 1,007
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BTSRRI

3.1

(c)

166

Financial risk management continueq)

Financial risk factors (continuea)
Liquidity risk

Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining
sufficient cash and the availability of funding through an
adequate amount of committed credit facilities to meet
obligations when due and to close out market positions. As at
31 March 2024, the Group held cash and cash equivalents of
approximately HK$100,035,000 (2023: HK$125,024,000) that
are expected to readily generate cash inflows for managing
liquidity risk.

The Group monitors rolling forecasts of the Group’s liquidity
requirements to ensure it has sufficient cash flows of cash and
cash equivalents generated from the financing activities and
the operating activities, respectively to meet its operational
needs while maintaining sufficient headroom on its undrawn
committed borrowing facilities at all times so that the Group
does not breach borrowing limits or covenants (where
applicable) on any of its borrowing facilities. This is generally
carried out at local level in the operating companies of the
Group, in accordance with practice and limits set by the
Group. These limits vary by location considering the liquidity of
the market in which the entity operates.

As at 31 March 2024 and 2023, the directors do not consider
that it is probable that the banks will exercise their discretion
to demand immediate repayment after taking into account
the Group’s financial position. The directors believe that such
borrowings and lease liabilities will be repaid in accordance
with the scheduled repayment dates set out in the loan
agreements.
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BEEREE
BEREBREE#
FEE S AR

HENTHECRRKREEREERS T
HREUAREREHANEAHEREE
BMERBEUHRESCUNBITISHE
EREEMEBEFERE - R_Z-_HF
ZAZ+t—"H AEEHEERER
We&EEIEE 4100,035,000/8 7T
(ZZT = =4 :125,024,0005 7T )
EHAERAEERRDECRARE
ERBRA

AEBHRPHESFTRKORF AR
ETER BEREEREREHR
AAGBEERENFABKATHE
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3.1

(c)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Financial risk management (continueq)
Financial risk factors (continuea)

Liquidity risk (Continuea)

Maturities of financial liabilities

The table below analyses the Group’s financial liabilities
into relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining
period at the year-end date to the contractual maturity date.
The amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual
undiscounted cash flows (including interests payments
computed using contractual rates). Where the loan agreement
contains a repayable on demand clause which gives the
lender the unconditional right to call the loan at any time, the
amounts of repayable are classified in the earliest time bracket
in which the lender could demand repayment and no interest
payments were included. The maturity analysis for financial
liabilities is prepared based on the scheduled repayment
dates. The amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual
undiscounted cash flows and the earliest date the Group can
be required to pay.

3.1

(c)

BTSRRI

MBERBRERE
MBEEREE 2
REBESREE #)

T E B EFH

TEROMAEERBEFREHMES
EREEMBENKRTHRE D REEHA
MER M ERABE TRANE
TER/RAMBAANRERE (B
BEORERFENFENR) - WE
A E NE A T E A A BE R R
HERERZ G HEFERMD
BRERAREAEREE IR
YTEATEEMNENKR - EHEBEN
AMBESMIREBEAETERAYR
H-TRABEBESHEARBEAAND
ReRnEBMAEEAKRFRELN
) B o

Between Between
On Within 1 and 2 and
demand 2 years 5 years Total
REX —ZWME WELF @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
TER TAET TER TER TET
As at 31 March 2024 RZZE-MF
=A=1+—8H
Borrowings e 40,951 - - - 40,951
Lease liabilities and interest HEAERMBRAY
expenses - 24,905 21,635 2,809 49,349
Trade payables B HEMNZR = 10,734 = = 10,734
Accruals and other payables AT RIER
H At 5008 - 10,220 - - 10,220
Amounts due to directors EREEHIE - 148 - = 148
As at 31 March 2023 WZEZ=F
ZA=1+—H
Borrowings e 22,682 - - - 22,682
Lease liabilities and interest HEGRBRHEMS
expenses - 19,209 15,685 14,266 49,160
Trade payables B o REMNTIE - 12,211 - = 12,211
Accruals and other payables JESTHIE &
Hfth e 45008 - 10,519 - - 10,519
Amounts due to directors EREEHE = 132 = = 132
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BHPFERERMIFE

3 Financial risk management (conineq 3 HMBEREBRERE .
3.1 Financial risk factors (continued) 3.1 BIREREZE »
(c) Liquidity risk (continued) (c) RBELSEAM &)

Maturities of financial liabilities (Continued) LB ETE &)
TROWMAEEHNETHREE LR
EBEERMEMEETERBHAE
WEFATAMZREREEEROT
5 AHEBEEHER -

The table below analyses the Group’s financial liabilities
into relevant maturity groupings based on the scheduled
repayment dates set out in the loan agreements and the effect
of any repayment on demand clause is ignored.

Between Between
Within 1 and 2 and Over
1 year PATCE [ 5 years 5 years Total
—£R —ZWE MELF EFENE 4t
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
THERT THAT THERT THET THET
As at 31 March 2024 RZTZME
=A=1+—H
Borrowings and interest expenses  f& & & FI B85 %2 4,651 4,477 13,432 24,830 47,390
Lease liabilities and interest HEABERFERAX
expenses 24,905 21,635 2,809 - 49,349
Trade payables EC Y ANE N 10,734 = = = 10,734
Accruals and other payables PR RIE R
H A1 508 10,220 - - - 10,220
Amounts due to directors EREEHIE 148 - - - 148
As at 31 March 2023 RZB-=F
=A=1+-8
Borrowings and interest expenses & & kAl 8% 3,515 2,027 5,559 14,716 25,817
Lease liabilities and interest HEGBRMEMT
expenses 19,209 15,685 14,266 - 49,160
Trade payables B o REMNIE 12,211 - - - 12,211
Accruals and other payables FERTHIE K
H it 1 308 10,519 - - - 10,519
Amounts due to directors ENEZEHAE 132 = = = 132
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Financial risk management continueq)

Capital risk management

The Group’s objectives on managing capital are to finance
its operations with its owned capital and to safeguard the
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern in order
to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other
stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital structure to
enhance shareholders’ value in the long term.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group
may adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders and
return capital to shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets
to reduce debt.

Consistent with others in the industry, the Group monitors
capital on the basis of the gearing ratio. This ratio is calculated
as total debt divided by total equity. Total debt is calculated as
borrowings and lease liabilities and total equity is calculated as
“equity” as shown in the consolidated statement of financial
position.

The gearing ratios as at 31 March 2024 and 2023 were as
follows:

3.2

BTSRRI

EERERE
EXRBER

AEENERAERAR BUHB
BEARZERBESIFIRE
RATIREEELE BARREHD
B SE M E R & A R
EXBEARGER EMERBETK
REE-

RERFIABEANGRE A&EA
HABRNTRRZEKECBNMEER
BREN HTHBIELEEEN
DB o

AEBRITEEN RBEEERE
HRERER - ZLRTDIZERR
B ARGRBEAE-ERERD
REEEMNHEAGHE MR
RERAFMBARARKIER ]

R—ZZBE-_WER-_E-_=%=H4
—t+—HMEEABLERENWOT:

2024
—E_MOE —ET-=

HK$’000 HK$’000

FTHEx FHET

Borrowings (Note 29) 5 (FEE29) 40,951 22,682
Lease liabilities (Note 14) MEBE (ME14) 47,172 46,399
Total debt BB 88,123 69,081
Total equity T ARRE 244,068 251,790
Gearing ratio BEEARLE 36% 27%

As at 31 March 2024, the gearing ratio has increased from
27% to 36% as a result of addition in bank borrowings due to
acquisition of the properties.

RZZE-_ME=A=+—8 -8R
WEMEBERFTEEL N EX
BELEH27% EFE36% °
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BTSRRI

3.3

170

Financial risk management continueq)

Fair value estimation

As at 31 March 2024 and 2023, the carrying amounts of
the Group’s financial assets and financial liabilities, including
cash and cash equivalents, trade receivables, deposits and
other receivables, financial assets at fair value through profit
or loss, other financial assets at amortised costs, amounts
due from related companies, trade payables, accruals and
other payables, amounts due to directors, lease liabilities and
borrowings approximate their fair values due to their short
maturities and/or bear interest rate at market. The nominal
value less estimated credit adjustments for financial assets
and liabilities with a maturity of less than one year are assumed
to approximate their fair values.

The table below analyses the Group’s financial instrument
carried at fair value as at 31 March 2024 and 2023 by level of
the inputs to valuation techniques used to measure fair value.
Such inputs are categorised into three levels within a fair value
hierarchy as follows:

° Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical
assets or liabilities (level 1).

o Inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1
that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly
(that is, as prices) or indirectly (that is, derived from
prices) (level 2).

° Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on

observable market data (that is, unobservable inputs)
(level 3).

eprint Group Limited Annual Report 2023/24

3.3

NREEME
RZE_WFER_FTE_=ZF=ZA
=+—HB &% %@é?&iﬂ
aE(E %ﬁ%&ﬁé#ﬁﬁa
SEWFHIE e R H A EIW R

FEBBE ﬁ@ﬁﬁﬁﬂ%Z@ﬂﬁ
B &%%W$W%2Eméﬂﬁ
E EKEER CEHENR
A S E&E@FH KIE BT
Exxm HEREREE)ZEE
BEEEFzAALBERE RAR
E%@fﬂ &/ﬁﬁﬁ%ﬂfﬁ
B-R—FURAIHzeMEER
E%ZEﬁﬂﬁﬁﬁﬁﬂﬂEF“
SEERNARBEES

DE-3:% %@ﬁﬁ@zﬁ@&m%
%%A%FM% DITAREER
F= Ei&_7_—¢ A=+—
BRAREBEIGKZERTIA-F
B ABE NI TXlm oD B
ADAREBERBAN=EER:

e MHRAEBEEXABENEBRMSH
HE(KRKLHAR) (F—R) -

e BRE—FLFBENREIN Z
EESBENEE (AER)X
MEZE(AERITE)BERNEA
HE(FE_HK)-

e EEXRBEBUIFKEAHR
%@FM%A%?(%TT%
RGABE) (F=4) -



3.3

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Financial risk management (continueq)

Fair value estimation (continueq)

The following table presents the Group’s financial assets that
are measured at fair value at 31 March 2024 and 2023.

3.3

BTSRRI

T —F=ZA=T—HEBELAEHE
AAEMERMEE-

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
] FR E=&
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEx TEx TEx TER
31 March 2024 —E-NFE=ZA=1+—H
Financial assets at fair value BREREAABAEIE
through profit or loss EREE 8,994 - = 8,994
31 March 2023 —E-=F=/A=+—H
Financial assets at fair value FERBRRANBER
through profit o loss LEREE 16,653 - - 16,653

There were no transfers between level 1, 2 and 3 during the
years.

Financial instrument in level 1

The fair value of financial instruments traded in active markets
is based on quoted market prices at the end of the reporting
period. A market is regarded as active if quoted prices are
readily and regularly available from an exchange, dealer,
broker, industry group, pricing service, or regulatory agency,
and those prices represent actual and regularly occurring
market transactions on an arm’s length basis. The quoted
market price used for financial assets held by the Group is the
current bid price. These instruments are included in level 1.
Instruments included in level 1 comprise primarily listed equity
securities and debentures classified as financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
BTSRRI

4 BARSIHEET KA

4 Critical accounting estimates and

judgements

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are
based on historical experience and other factors, including
expectations of future events that are believed to be
reasonable under the circumstances.

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the
future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition,
seldom equal the related actual results. The estimates and
assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year are addressed below.

Impairment of other financial assets at
amortised cost

The loss allowances for other financial assets at amortised
cost are based on assumptions about risk of default and
expected loss rates. The Group uses judgement in making
these assumptions and selecting the inputs to the impairment
calculation, based on the Group’s past history, existing market
conditions as well as forward looking estimates at the end
of each reporting period. Details of the key assumptions and
inputs used are disclosed in Note 3.1(b).

Segment information

The chief operating decision-maker has been identified as
the Executive Directors of the Company. The chief operating
decision-maker has determined the operating segments
based on the reports reviewed by the Executive Directors of
the Company, that are used to make strategic decisions and
assess performance.

The chief operating decision-maker has determined the
operating segments based on these reports. The Group is
organised into three business segments:

Continuing operations:

(@ paper printing segment (mainly derived from the brand
“e-print”);

(b)  banner printing segment (mainly derived from the brand
“e-banner”).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Segment information (continuea)
Discontinued operation:
property agency services segment.

During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Group ceased the
business of property agency services and re-presented the
relevant business as discontinued operation (refer to Note 34
for the details of discontinued operation).

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with
the internal reporting provided to the chief operating decision-
maker.

Management assesses the performance of the operating
segments based on a measure of gross profit less selling
and distribution expenses and administrative expenses that
are allocated to each segment. Other information provided is
measured in a manner consistent with that in the consolidated
financial statements.

The subsidiary incorporated in the People’s Republic of China
(the “PRC”) provides I.T. support services within the Group.
The subsidiary incorporated in Malaysia generated immaterial
external revenue during the year. Since the Group mainly
operates in Hong Kong and the Group’s assets are mainly
located in Hong Kong, no geographical segment information
is presented.

Information relating to segment liabilities is not disclosed
as such information is not regularly reported to the chief
operating decision-maker.

Revenue for the year ended 31 March 2024 consists of the
revenue from paper printing and banner printing. The Group
derives revenue from the sale of goods at a point in time.

Revenue for the year ended 31 March 2023 consists of the
revenue from paper printing, banner printing and property
agency services. The Group derives revenue from the sale of
goods at a point in time and revenue from property agency
services when the services are rendered at a point in time.

During the years ended 31 March 2024 and 2023, no external
customers contributed over 10% of the Group’s revenue.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BTSRRI

5 Segment information (continue)

(a) Segment revenue and results

The following tables present revenue and segment results
regarding the Group’s reportable segments for the years
ended 31 March 2024 and 2023 respectively.

For the year ended 31 March 2024

Paper

printing

REEDFI
HK$’000
TR

(a)

DEE R =
DEMEREE
TERDHEHINAEBRFES I E
E_E_NMFR-_ZFE_=ZF=A
=+ BHUEFE2WER D EBELE -
HEz—_ZET-_NME=A=1+—HI*F
J'g" :

Continuing operations
Banner
printing
& & £l
HK$’000
THERT

Total
@t
HK$’000
TER

Eliminations
1 8
HK$’'000
TER

Segment revenue 72 i
Revenue from external customers & B 5N P ez 223,565 92,712 - 316,277
Inter-segment revenue o EE K E 791 244 (1,035) -
Total it 224,356 92,956 (1,035) 316,277
Segment results NEBEE (13,830) 5,448 (8,382)
Unallocated: RAE:
Loss on disposal of a subsidiary &~ E R 72 EiE (155)
Finance income MERA 4,952
Finance costs BERA (3,518)
Share of loss of an associate ~ fEfE —FRE & 1 B E B (199)
Share of profits of joint ventures 1A 425 1,218
Loss before income tax BETEEAIER (6,084)
Income tax expense FEHRAY (816)
Loss for the year FNER (6,900)
Other information: HtEH:
Provision of impairment losses & B & E R BB B EE

on financial assets (1,895) (77) - (1,972)
Depreciation of property, nE BERXEBNE

plant and equipment (7,850) (2,592) - (10,442)
Depreciation of right-of-use assets £ F#E &L E#f & (17,597) (7,064) 4,071 (20,590)
Capital expenditures BAHY (25,142) (2,332) - (27,474)
Acquisition of a subsidiary - W —RNB LR - ME-

property, plant and machinery BB K& 1E - (28,887) - (28,887)
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5 Segment information (continue)

(@) Segment revenue and results (continuead)

For the year ended 31 March 2023:

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BTSRRI

5 2#ER
(a) PEKRBEREE =)
BHE-_ZT-_=F#=RA=+—HIL#H

B
Discontinued
Continuing operations operation
B&IE
BREEEER B2
Property
Paper Banner agency
printing prining  Eliminations Sub-total services Total
BEENR BEENR i N MERERE @it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FEL FEL FHL FEL THL THL
Segment revenue AEE
Revenue from external customers KB SMBEFUzs 207,582 89,826 = 317,408 9,604 327,012
Inter-segment revenue AEHEKE 625 10 (735) = = =
Total @it 228,207 89,936 (735) 317,408 9,604 327,012
Segment results PHEE (2,612) 11,887 9,275 (1217) 8,058
Unallocated: RAR:
Share based payment expenses iR RS (17,051)
Loss on disposal of a subsidiary HE—RMBLEZER (1,807)
Finance income BEMWA 3,924
Finance costs BERA (1,490)
Share of loss of an associate il il =N 5 (1)
Share of losses of joint ventures EHAELERR (138)
Loss before income tax BEEHAER (8,545)
Income tax expense FIEHAY (1,719)
Loss for the year FREE (10,258)
Other information: HiER:
Provision of impairment losses CHEERNEREERE
on financial assets (1,559) - - (1,559) - (1,559)
Amortisation of intangible assets BYEEEH - = = = (280) (280)
Depreciation of property, nE BERRERE
plant and equipment (8,973) (1,343) - (10,316) (133) (10,449)
Depreciation of right-of-use assets ~ FRELZENE (12,242) (7,389) 834 (18,791) (539) (19,330)
Capital expenditures EARY (5,665) (2,011) = (7,676) = (7,676)
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BTSRRI

5 Segment information (continue)

(b) Segment assets

5 2#ER
(b) »HEE

Continuing operations

Paper Banner
printing printing Total
4 XE ED T 2= EN Rl et
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FET TAT BT
As at 31 March 2024 R-_ZE_HWHFE=A=+—H 182,873 83,504 266,377
As at 31 March 2023 R_E_=F=A=+—H 182,797 52,753 235,550

A reconciliation of segment assets to total assets is provided
as follows:

DHEERBEEHRMT

2024 2023
—E-mEF —E=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Segment assets DEEE 266,377 235,550
Investment in an associate R—EBEARINIKE 1,181 1,380
Investments in joint ventures REETEMNTE 11,061 10,654
Cash and cash equivalents HehkFLEBEEBEE 100,035 125,024
378,654 372,608

Accounting policies — Revenue recognition B BER - WRER

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable and represents amounts receivable for
goods supplied, stated net of discounts, returns and value
added taxes.

Revenue is recognised when, or as, the control of the goods
or services is transferred to the customer. Depending on the
terms of the contract and the laws applicable, control of the
goods and services may be transferred over time or at a point
in time.

The Company bases its estimate of return on historical results,
taking into consideration the type of customer, the type of
transaction and the specifics of each arrangement.
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(b)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Segment information (continueq)

Segment assets (continued)

Accounting policies — Revenue recognition (Continued)
Sales of goods

Sales are recognised when control of the products has
transferred, being when the products are delivered to the
customers, and there is no unfulfilled obligation that could
affect the customer’s acceptance of the products. Delivery
occurs when the products have been shipped to the specified
location and the risks of obsolescence and loss have been
transferred to the customer. As receivable is recognised
when the goods are delivered as this is the point that the
consideration is unconditional because only the passage of
time is required before the payment is due.

Accounting policies - Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with
the internal reporting provided to the chief operating decision-
maker. The chief operating decision-maker, who is responsible
for allocating resources and assessing performance of the
operating segments, has been identified as the chairman and
executive directors of the Group that make strategic decisions.

(b)

B O ERR I T

B EE R
DEEE (#)

B EEX - WEER ()
HEEdm

5 & T 75 BE an O 12 ) R 0 4F oR A AR
RANEERINGEEFPLARE
ABTTHNEBARFEEFPERE
mE-BEEEmCERE T
EREEREKERRARCERER
F-E8mXNTEZK-BEEmMRN
& - W1 % B 2 B aG 0 AT DA (G 1 R
B A AE (2 H A 5KA0 &0 B RO 40 bR
SI) - {3 A HERR A R UK o

I
E‘I_’

BR—- 2 8RE

b=

K

RENHZBERATELERRER
HABBEN BT AZEHR-TB
RERRECHETERSFEHBRRK
MAKBIREEATEST BAED
EREFHERES AL ZRR -

il

>

S

2023/24 £ eprint KEBERLT 177



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SRR
6 Otherincome 6 HflkA
2024
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
Continuing operations BERSEER
Scrap sales RERIE & 3,124 2,694
Government grant (Note) BT #BY (BI5E) 802 424
Software licensing income AT AT A 350 297
Others HAb 959 984
5,235 4,399
Note: There are no unfulfiled condition or other contingencies attaching to Bt 5 ¢ 5% 5 1 B R AR B A R GE R A IR MR S Bt
these grants. These amount mainly represents branding promoting and HABER - ZESETBEABBENN®
upgrading subsidies received from the Hong Kong Government. h B R R T AR A AL
7 Other losses - net 7 HftsiE- F8H
2024 2023
—E-NE —E-=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT FAT
Continuing operations HEKEER
Losses on disposals of property, HEME  BE M&EBE
plant and equipment (4,406) (219
Exchange losses — net PE 5 B8 — F (1,200) (839)
Fair value losses on financial assets FRBmEZEAABEBEYEZ
at fair value through profit or loss TREEN AR EBEER (414) (1,574)
Others HAb (167) 315

(6,187) (2,317)
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B ISR
Expenses by nature 8 EBEMEIEMMEX
Expenses included in cost of sales, seling and distribution TAHEKRA HERDHER XA
expenses and administrative expenses are analysed as FITBHASZOREIZ ST :
follows:
2024 2023
—E_NE —E =
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHT
Continuing operations BFEREEL
Cost of materials MEHR AR 65,312 71,797
Remuneration to the Company’s auditor 7N 2 &) 4% Al Bl &
- Audit services — B IR 1,522 3,026
— Non-audit services — IEE AR 140 191
Remuneration to the other auditors H iz En i <
— Audit services — FBEHR® 244 209
— Non-audit services — IEEE AR 94 34
Bank charges WITFEE 4,865 4,903
Employee benefits expense (Note 9) EERMAEZ (M) 104,333 113,794
Depreciation of property, plant and Y- REREBTE
equipment 10,442 10,316
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEENE 20,590 18,791
Outsourced customer support expenses NI P X185 2 18,763 16,407
Subcontracting fee DEEA 43,799 41,230
Operating lease for short-term and RHREEEHEZKLEHRE
low value lease (Note 14) (MF3E14) 3,409 3,714
Repairs and maintenance HIERIRE 4,788 4,465
Distribution costs AR 16,030 15,525
Utility expenses NARBEZ T 4,977 4,445
Others HAth 22,582 16,860
Total cost of sales, selling and HEKAS - HE RN HERAX
distribution expenses and ARAITER A 58
administrative expenses 321,890 325,707
Others mainly represent advertising and promotion expenses HMFTEEEERREHEAIREM
and telecommunication expenses. X
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BTSRRI

9 Employee benefits expense (including 9 EEFIHX (BREEERK

= - y o
directors and senior management’s SREEEEHM)
emoluments)
2024 2023
—E-mEF —T=F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FH&T
Continuing operations BEREER
Salaries and allowances (Note a) & K2 (HiEa) 89,294 77,564
Bonuses and commissions A KA 8,635 9,547
Pension costs — defined contribution BRREKA—RE
plans (Note b) HERETE (MI5Eo) 5,296 4,612
Share based payment expenses AR B (FH5E35)
(Note 35) - 17,051
Welfare and other benefits &) B At ) & 1,108 5,020
104,333 113,794
Notes: P 3E
(@)  Salaries and allowances @ EHekER
During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Group has not received BHE_ZT-_NF=A=+—BLFE"
any benefit from Hong Kong governments under COVID-19 related £ B 7 4 U B F S U A COVID-1948
employment support schemes (2023: HK$5,179,000). ARERDFEBETHAMNERN (=
=4 :#95,179,000/ 7T ) °
()  Pension costs — defined contribution plans (o) BRARSKA— REH-KGE
The Group has arranged for its employees to join the Mandatory AEBELEEESMAFEATES
Provident Fund Scheme (the “MPF Scheme’), a defined contribution B (8B TE])  mZst &l Al —
scheme managed by an independent trustee. Under the MPF Scheme, BEMZEATEN—ERAEHRNRE S
each of the Group’s subsidiaries (the employer) and its employees make RERESFTE ASENSHNEBEA
monthly contributions to the scheme generally at 5% of the employees’ Al(EX)REEBHAERAMZTEIH#
earnings as defined under the Mandatory Provident Fund legislation. o MBEAHMEATBSEN  fR&HE
The monthly contributions of each of the employer and the employees —REBEBRANSY ZREREKEEN
are subject to a maximum contribution of HK$1,500 (2023: HK$1,500) FAHERERA1,5008 T (ZE_=F:
per month and thereafter contributions are voluntary. The Group has no 1,500/ 70)  BH ER 2 H R EB B Fa gt
further obligation for post-retirement benefits beyond the contributions. Ko BRI - AR5 B P 4 E 5 BR R AR
BBEANHET-
The Group is also required to contribute to an Employees Provident AEBENEAHERATHEERE ST
Fund Scheme in Malaysia. Each of the employer and employee make BELHAR - BEEZREESA —RZE
monthly contributions to the scheme generally at 13% of the employees’ BHEH13%E ZATEEL R B E
salaries respectively. The Group has no further obligation for post- HHRIN AEEW EHEMRKERFZ
retirement benefits beyond the contributions. BfE-
As stipulated by rules and regulations in the PRC, the Group contributes BN BEERI ROERFRE AEBA
to state-administered retirement plans for employees in the PRC. The BEFEREEMBAEREEMNRKG
employees contribute up to 8% (2023: Same) of their basic salaries, B R - EEREHFIELE&EZ8% (ZF
while the Group contributes approximately 14% to 15% (2023: 14% ZEF R ZHEFK MAEBERZRE
to 16%) of such salaries. The Group has no further obligations for the BEH©H14%E15% (ZTZ=F:14%
actual payment of pensions or post-retirements benefits beyond these E16% ) EE R - BRZ FHFIN K&
contributions. The state-administrated retirement plans are responsible WEE B BER S ERE SRR
for the entire pension obligations payable to the retired employees. BRMNZEF-RRKEEZDEKRESE

EHERERMNRKGBIEE-
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Employee benefits expense (including
directors and senior management’s
emoluments) (continuea)

Notes: (Continued)

(o)

Pension costs — defined contribution plans (Continued)

For the year ended 31 March 2024, the amount of the Group’s
employer contributions to defined contribution plans was approximately
HK$5,296,000 (2023: HK$4,612,000). There were no forfeited
contributions to the MPF Scheme (2023: HK$399,000) which has
been utilised for the year ended 31 March 2024. As at 31 March 2024,
contribution payable to the MPF Scheme amounted to approximately
HK$608,000 (2023: HK$563,000).

Five highest paid individuals

The five individuals whose emoluments were the highest in the Group
for the year include one director (2023: Same), whose emoluments are
reflected in the analysis shown in Note 39. The emoluments payable to
the remaining four (2023: Same) individuals are as follows:

9

BTSRRI

EEEANHZ (BEEER
SREEREEHHN) o

BE: ()

(0)

RS A— REHRKEE (&)

HE-_ZT-_NWF=ZRA=+—HLFE"
AEBREEIMATHRTEERD
5,296,000/ 7T ( = Z = = 4F : 4,612,000
BT) BE—ZE-_WE=A=+—8H
IFFEVECSHANELRAESTE
HH(ZZT = =4 :399,00087T) ° X
ZE_MNFE=ZR=+—H ERM®RES
51 2 X 49608,0008 T (Z T = =4F:
563,000/ 7T ) °

haEsHFAL

FAAEENEERSHFALEE -
REE(ZTE_=F R ZEE=F
B 357 B B 5 B TES92 51 B9 5 AT Bk o
BNSTOEAL(ZE_=%F:18R)
B H BT

2024 2023

gl 11 3 —E-=F

HK$’000 HK$’000

FHET FHBT

Salaries and allowances e RER 4,655 4,428
Discretionary bonuses [RERIEAN 695 529
Share based payment expenses % 1 3B 2 - 7,675
Pension costs — defined contribution plans 3R K& pk A& — F5E 7k 5+ 2 72 72
5,422 12,704

The emoluments of these individuals fell within the following bands:

ZEALTHOHFMNFATHE:

Number of individuals

A

2024

—E-mE
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 7L 1,500,000 7T 3 -
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,600,001 7T %2,000,0005% 7T 1 =
HK$2,500,001 to HK$3,000,000 2,500,001 5% 7T 3,000,000 7T = 1
HK$3,000,001 to HK$3,500,000 3,000,001 7T £3,500,0005% 7T = 3
4 4

No emoluments were paid by the Group to any of the directors or other
members of the five highest paid individuals as an inducement to join,
upon joining the Group, leave the Group or as compensation for loss of
office.

AEEREANTAESRRERESFA
THMEMCKEINMESERSRSIME
AEE B BER AR E R RE K
TE BRI (E
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BTSRRI T

9 Employee benefits expense (including
directors and senior management’s
emoluments) (continveq)

Accounting policies - Employee benefits

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

Employee leave entitlement

Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised
when they accrue to employees. A provision is made
for the estimated liability for annual leave as a result of
services rendered by employees up to the reporting
date.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity leave
are not recognised until the time of leave.

Bonus plans

The expected cost of bonus payments is recognised
as a liability when the Group has a present legal or
constructive obligation as a result of services rendered
by employees and a reliable estimate of the obligation
can be made.

Liabilities for bonus plans are expected to be settled
within 12 months and are measured at the amounts
expected to be paid when they are settled.

Pension obligations

The Group operates defined contribution retirement
benefits schemes for its employees. Contributions are
made based on certain percentage of the employees’
basic salaries and are recognised as employee benefit
expense as they become payable in accordance with the
rules of the schemes. The Group has no further payment
obligations once the contributions have been paid. The
assets of the schemes are held separately from those of
the Group in independently administered funds.

Long service payment

The Group’s net obligation in respect of long service
payments to its employees upon the termination of their
employment or retirement when the employee fulfills
certain circumstances under the Hong Kong Employment
Ordinance is the amount of future benefit that employees
have earned in return for their services in the current and
prior periods.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

9 Employee benefits expense (including
directors and senior management’s
emoluments) (continueq)

Accounting policies — Employee benefits (continuea)

(d)

(e)

Long service payment (Continued)

The obligation is calculated using the projected unit
credit method, discounted to present value and reduced
by entitlements accrued under the Group’s retirement
plans that are attributable to contributions made by the
Group. The discount rate is the yield at the reporting
date on high quality corporate bonds which have terms
to maturity approximating the terms of the related liability.

Remeasurement are charged or credited to equity in
other comprehensive income in the period in which they
arise.

Share-based compensation benefits of the
Group

Share-based compensation benefits are provided to
employees via the share option scheme, the executive
short-term incentive scheme and share appreciation.
Information relating to the scheme is set out in Note 35.

The fair value of options granted under the share option
scheme is recognised as an employee benefits expense
with a corresponding increase in equity. The total amount
to be expensed is determined by reference to the fair
value of the options granted:

- including any market performance conditions (e.g.
the entity’s share price),

—  excluding the impact of any service and non-market
performance vesting conditions (e.g. profitability,
sales growth targets and remaining an employee of
the entity over a specified time period), and

- including the impact of any non-vesting conditions
(e.g. the requirement for employees to save or hold
shares for a specific period of time).

The total expense is recognised over the vesting period,
which is the period over which all of the specified vesting
conditions are to be satisfied. At the end of each period,
the entity revises its estimates of the number of options
that are expected to vest based on the non-market
vesting and service conditions. It recognises the impact
of the revision to original estimates, if any, in profit or
loss, with a corresponding adjustment to equity.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SRR
10 Finance income - net 10 MEWA — FHE
2024 2023
—E-F =
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FH&T
Continuing operations BEREER
Finance income BB WA
— Interest income from loan receivables — FEUE FF| 2 A 1,829 2,263
— Interest income from bank deposits — RITFERFBBA 3,123 1,653
— Unwinding of interests on refundable — AR EHSHEHNFER
rental deposits FE - 8
S 4952 3,924
Finance costs BhE R A
— Interest expenses on lease liabilities —HEaGBENERAX (2,205) (775)
— Interest expenses on borrowings —BEMNBERAX (1,289) (705)
— Others — HAb (24) -
. 3,518 (1,480) _
Finance income — net BB WA~ FEE 1,434 2,444

Accounting policies - Interest income

Interest income is presented as finance income — net, where
it is earned from financial assets that are held for cash
management purposes. Any other interest income is included
in ‘finance income — net’.

Accounting policies - Borrowings costs

General and specific borrowing costs directly attributable to
the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assets,
which are assets that necessarily take a substantial period
of time to get ready for their intended use or sale, are added
to the cost of those assets, until such time as the assets are
substantially ready for their intended use or sale.

Investment income earned on the temporary investment of
specific borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying
assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for
capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit and loss in
the period in which they are incurred.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

11 Income tax expense

BTSRRI

11 FiSHAxX

2024 2023
—E_F =

HK$’000 HK$'000

FTERT TET

Continuing operations BEREER
Current income tax EHFTEH
— Hong Kong profits tax — BENEFH 952 856
(Oven)/under-provision in prior years BAEFE (BEEE)
BET R (256) 136
696 992
Deferred income tax expense (Note 30) iEMEFTEHIF X (M5E30) 120 721
Income tax expense FrigBim X 816 1,713

Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime of Hong Kong
profits tax, the first HK$2,000,000 of profits of the qualifying
group entity will be taxed at 8.25%, and profits above
HK$2,000,000 will be taxed at 16.5%. The profits of group
entities not qualifying for the two-tiered profits tax rates regime
will continue to be taxed at a flat rate of 16.5% (2023: Same).

Subsidiary incorporated in the People’s Republic of China
(“PRC”) is a High and New Technology Enterprise defined by
Shenzhen Finance Bureau, Administrator of Local Taxation of
Shenzhen Municipality and Shenzhen Municipal office of the
State Administration of Taxation, the PRC and therefore was
entitled to 15% preferential tax rate for PRC enterprise income
tax for three years starting from year ended 31 December
2020 and three years starting from year ended 31 December
2023 according to the New PRC Enterprise Income Law. The
PRC enterprise income tax is calculated at 15% preferential
tax rate on the estimated assessable profit for the years ended
31 March 2024 and 2023.

BIEE BTG RO RH F SR G
B -AEREEEEAH2,000,000
7 TT 48 A 15 12 8.25% MY B R T -
M &8 12,000,000 7T &9 & 7 5 1%
16.5% M T R B - T & MR H F
SHREENEBEER N B EER
B —HE165%BH (ZE==F:
HE) -

PEARLMBE ([FE])EMK
ST AR LR BRI TS
FY M FHEEREBERRERD
FITRERATES RS
Eit - RIBEFOPBRPERSR L
ZLrENBEE_ZT-_ZF+=A
“T+—HLIEFERBRA=FAKREE
—E-_=ZF+-_A=Z+—HLFE
B =ZFERNZEZ15%N R EDEAT
SHERBRE -FECEMBRIZ
BE-_ET-_NER-_TE-_=F=#
=t+t—HUEFEZHAERBEF
HIS%EEHREGTH -

2023/24 3 eprint KEERLT 185



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SRR

11 Income tax expense (continued) 11 FiBBiM
The taxation on the Group’s loss before income tax differs A& B /B BT S B AT & 18 T 2B A
from the theoretical amount that would arise using the ME IR B R E ARG R B A
weighted average tax rate applicable to profits/losses of the EREEBENESHEENENBED
consolidated entities in the respective jurisdictions as follows: MEFHREAENERSBERN

TR ABERDT :

2024 2023
—E-lmE =
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT FET
Loss from continuing operations BRETISTIFA S AT FF B &
before income tax expense ¥BEE (6,084) (5,511)

Tax calculated at domestic tax rates BEEBRZERN (R ERZ

applicable to profits/(losses) in B ERAE 2 1A
the respective countries (996) (878)
Tax effects of: NTRIBENHIEBERE:
— Share of loss of an associate — E(h— R E AR EE 33 6
— Share of (profits)/losses of joint —EEEERE (&F)
ventures B8 (201) 23
— Income not subject to tax — AR A (796) (1,182)
— Expenses not deductible for — NA IR A X
tax purposes 1,076 3,699
— Tax losses and other temporary — W iE R RIREFT ST A9 B IR
differences for which no deferred EERAMEREERE
income tax was recognised 1,957 39
— Utilisation of previously unrecognised  — E/@A KRN IEERE
tax losses (1) (130)
— (Oven/under-provision in prior years ~ — BEFEE (HBEEE)
BHETE (256) 136
816 1,713
Note: The Group was subject to tax in different tax jurisdictions which are Mzt : AEEBEARTRBBAEZER (EER
mainly Hong Kong, the PRC, Malaysia with tax rate ranged from 15% to ERA HPBERSRAT)HET HENT
24%. 15%Z524% °
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B ISR
12 Loss per share 12 SREE
(a) Basic loss per share (a) BREXEE
Basic loss per share is calculated by dividing the loss EREAEEDNREBEARAARERF
attributable to equity holders of the Company by the weighted EABRGBEERUNBEZE S _NF
average number of ordinary shares in issue for the years T =F=ZRA=+—HLFE
ended 31 March 2024 and 2023. BERTEBERMETHEGE-
2024
—E_MF
Loss from continuing operations RATERTFE ARBRRE
attributable to equity holders of KEEBBE (THET)
the Company (HK$'000) (8,306) (11,675)
Loss from discontinued operation RARIERFEAEARGEE KL
attributable to equity holders of KEEBEBE (THET)
the Company (HK$'000) - (2,568)
(8,306) (14,243)
Weighted average number of ordinary & 217 & 1@ A% hi4E 19 &
shares in issue (thousands) (F) 550,000 550,000
Basic loss per share attributable to ZAQTERZZFEAELER
the equity holders of the Company E & i
From continuing operations (HK cents) #4482 25 (FB1L) (1.51) (2.12)
From discontinued operation (HK cents) T 4% |FAE & ¥ 7 (GB1l) - (0.47)
Total (HK cents) et OB) (1.51) (2.59)
(b) Diluted loss per share (b) BREBEEE
Diluted loss per share is calculated by adjusting the weighted REBEEETRABAERZITEI
average number of ordinary shares outstanding to assume TR MNE TS A RZERA
conversion of all dilutive potential ordinary shares. During the FHEELETBRAE - BE_-T
years ended 31 March 2024 and 2023, the diluted loss per THEERZE_=F=A=+—H
share is the same as the basic loss per share as the share FEFE BREEEBEREERER
options outstanding were anti-dilutive. EEMER DHREARITERERE
BEERBERE-
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BTSRRI

13 Property, plant and equipment 13 ME -BERRE

Computer,
furniture Motor
Leasehold Plant and and vehicles
Buildings improvements machinery  equipment and yacht Total

g8
BF HENRKE HERAE ERf  REREE it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TiEm TR TR TR T T

At 1 April 2022 WZE--FWE-H
Cost KA 77,201 15,333 109,511 23,349 1727 227,121
Accumulated depreciation RHTE (12,137) (14,676) (77,168) (18,501) (1,727) (124,209)
Accumulated impairment ZifE - - (4,007) - = (4,007)
Net book amount REFE 65,064 657 28,246 4,848 = 98,815
Year ended 31 March 2023 BE-Z-=f=A=1-H

IFE
Opening net book amount FOREFE 65,064 657 28,246 4,848 - 08,815
Additions RE = 1,251 4,694 1,220 511 7,676
Disposals e - = (501) (14) = (515)
Disposal of a subsidiary (Note 34)  tH&E—TEM B A (Fi5E34) - - - (135) - (135)
Depreciation & (2,576) (276) (5,757) (1,797) 43) (10,449)
Currency translation differences ERES = (6) (1) (13 - (20)
Closing net book amount FREAFE 62,488 1,626 26,681 4,109 468 95,372
At 31 March 2023 RZEZ=F=fA=+-H
Cost AR 77,201 16,462 97,175 23,528 2,238 216,604
Accumulated depreciation ZithE (14,713) (14,836) (69,277) (19,419) (1,770) (120,015)
Accumulated impairment ZiAE - = (1.217) = s (1217)
Net book amount REFE 62,488 1,626 26,681 4,109 468 95,372
Year ended 31 March 2024 BR-T-_WE=-A=1-H

ILEE
Opening net book amount FNEETE 62,488 1,626 26,681 4,109 468 95,372
Additions RE 18,005 1,747 4,806 1,434 1,482 27474
Acquisition of a subsidiary (Note 33) Ui — R B2 & (F1533) 28,887 S = = = 28,887
Disposals e = = (6,542) (52) - (6,5%)
Disposal of a subsidiary HE-FHRBARF - ) (14) (60) = 83)
Depreciation & (3,831) (507) (4,132) (1,748) (224) (10,442)
Currency translation differences EHES = () (1) (19 - (25
Closing net book amount FREDFE 105,549 2,852 20,798 3,664 1,726 134,589
At 31 March 2024 RZZ-_mF=f=1+-H
Cost A 130,269 17,999 56,721 24,016 3,717 232,722
Accumulated depreciation ZithE (24,720) (15,147) (35,301) (20,352) (1,991) (97,51)
Accumulated impairment 2iRME - - (622) = = (622)
Net book amount REFE 105,549 2,852 20,798 3,664 1726 134,589
Note: B 5T
As at 31 March 2024, buildings with the carrying amounts of approximately RZE-_NF=ZA=+—-—H KREEARY
HK$105,549,000 (2023: HK$62,488,000) were pledged to banks to secure 105,549,000/ 7t ( — & — = : 62,488,000
bank borrowings of approximately HK$40,779,000 (2023: HK$20,946,000) BIL)NEFEEBTRIT UERSBEAY
(Note 29). 40,779,000 7T ( —F = =4F : 20,946,00075 7T.)

MIRTTIER (Hi529) -
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13 Property, plant and equipment continueq)

Depreciation of the Group’s property, plant and equipment has
been charged to the profit and loss as follows:

BTSRRI

13 MR BERRE

AEBNYE BMELRBZINE
ERESP G BEBERMOT :

2024 2023

—EmEF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FE&xT F&E T
Cost of sales $HE KA 5,115 6,482
Selling and distribution expenses HERDHEAS 2,781 2,734
Administrative expenses THHEX 2,546 1,233
10,442 10,449

Accounting policies - Property, plant and
equipment

Buildings comprise mainly offices. All property, plant and
equipment are stated at historical cost less depreciation.
Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable
to the acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount
or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when
it is probable that future economic benefits associated with
the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be
measured reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part is
derecognised. All other repairs and maintenance are charged
to the profit and loss during the period in which they are
incurred.

Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method to
allocate their cost to their residual values over their estimated
useful lives as follows:

Buildings 30 to 50 years
Leasehold improvements 5 years
Plant and machinery 510 15 years
Computer, furniture and equipment 5 years
Motor vehicles and yacht 5 years

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and
adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each reporting period.

EBEER-ME -BERRE

BFIEREMAZE-MAEDE K
FEREBEABELRABRITEZ7 -
BEERABERKEREEREHRD
P o

2 IR E BB A R IRAEEF & Al e
MAREE  ANIEB KA S
AER HERAT @t AEENRR
HEXERRBLEE (WEM) -
EENONEEERKLERER M
FHEMEERRERXEEEHME
RIBEE P 8 -

FERRAUATHMGE A ERFHS
RAREREDBER R EEFE

i 30Z50%F
BEMELE 5%
B B2 52155
B RERRE 5%
RE R 54

BEMNHKREELREREFHES
EREMRETRT REEER

AE-
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BTSRRI

13

14

(a)

190

Property, plant and equipment continueq

Accounting policies - Property, plant and
equipment continueqd)

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its
recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is greater
than its estimated recoverable amount.

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing

proceeds with the carrying amount and are recognised in the
profit and loss.

Right-of-use assets and lease liabilities

The Group has lease contracts for machinery, equipment and
stores.

Balances recognised in the consolidated
statement of financial position

The consolidated statement of financial position shows the
following amounts relating to leases:

13

14

(a)

ME-BEREZE
ENBEX-VE - BERRKE

(#)

fisd B 2 & AR E B R 38 B b 5 AT A [
288 A& & /9 R E (E 5 BN B MOR
EHAKROIBEE-

HENARBEMERRARTEL
B EZRET UNBEPHER -

EREEEREESE

AEBCATLHE RBEBED

HEAH-

REGFH BN KRR ZEER

EHMBRARKBRIATNEHEHESR
AT

2024
—E-MF
HK$’000
FHExT
Right-of-use assets ERAEEE
Machinery and equipment W3S K 3R - 368
Machinery and motor vehicle under BEREE TAKE RTE
finance lease 18,775 2,314
Stores B 35,894 45,526
54,669 48,208
Lease liabilities HEAG
Current portion mENER 23,408 17,680
Non-current portion ERENE 23,764 28,719
47,172 46,399

Note:
As at 31 March 2024 and 2023, the machinery and motor vehicle under

finance lease were secured by personal guarantees provided by a related party
of the Group. For details, please refer to Note 37(c).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

14 Right-of-use assets and lease liabilities

(b)

(c)

(Continued)

Amounts recognised in the profit and loss

EREEERE
HEREMNEFX

Depreciation of right-of-use assets
Interest expenses on lease liabilities

BRI MR

14 FREEEREEREBE

(b)

Operating lease rental for short-term and EH M EKEEHREZKLHEE

A& (MEEs)

low value leases (Note 8)

The total cash outflow of leases for the year ended 31
March 2024 was approximately HK$28,673,000 (2023:
HK$23,446,000)

During the year ended 31 March 2024, depreciation of
approximately HK$13,588,000 (2023: HK$11,189,000) has
been charged in ‘cost of sales’, approximately HK$5,423,000
(2023: HK$5,567,000) in ‘seling and distribution expenses’
and approximately HK$1,579,000 (2023: HK$2,574,000) in
‘administrative expenses’ respectively.

The Group’s leasing activities and how these are
accounted for

The Group leases various stores, machineries, and office
equipment. Rental contracts are typically made for fixed
periods of 1 to 4 years but may have extension options as
described in (d) below.

Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis and
contain a wide range of different terms and conditions. The
lease agreements do not impose any covenants other than
the security interests in the leased assets that are held by
the lessor. Leased assets may not be used as security for
borrowing purposes.

(c)

REZHEIHRR

2024 2023

—FoNE T =F

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET THETT

20,590 19,330

2,205 785

3,409 3,714
BHE_T_WHWF= ﬂ =t+—RBi1k
28,678,0005%7_5( T - =

23,446,000% 7T ) °

HEZE_-_ZT-_WEF=ZA=Z+—H8 1t
f?J* %ﬁ%*£®13,588,0005%7’c(:
T - =4 :11,189,0008 L) *
495,423, ooof%rc T =4
5,667,000/ 7t ) & 491,579,000/ 7T
ZE - =4:2,574,0005 7T) D B
RIEEKRAR] THERDHMAX]
RITHAX] -

EF%%Z*HE)‘EE!J&EAREE
I

AEBEHEZHEBE SHEERER
MARB-HEAHN —RB/IE4F
BB T HARR - ME R A N X (d) R At
MRE RIE R

HEGRDRENEEER 25
ERARGRLGH -HEHZL
5 R e AR AR
HMEEETWERESANGEIIN-A
EEETHRERIEENER-
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BTSRRI

14 Right-of-use assets and lease liabilities

(d)

(Continued)

Extension options

Extension options are included in a number of leases across
the Group. These terms are used to maximise operational
flexibility in terms of managing contracts. The majority of
extension options held are exercisable only by the Group
and not by the respective lessor. Extension options are only
included in the lease term if the lease is reasonably certain to
be extended.

Accounting policies - Leases
The Group as a lessee

Leases are recognised as a right-of-use asset and a
corresponding liability at the date at which the leased asset is
available for use by the Group.

Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are initially measured
on a present value basis. Lease liabilities include the net
present value of the following lease payments:

° fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments),
less any lease incentives receivable; and

° the exercise price of a purchase option if the Group is
reasonably certain to exercise that option

Lease payments to be made under reasonably certain
extension options are also included in the measurement of
the liability. The lease payments are discounted using the
interest rate implicit in the lease. If that rate cannot be readily
determined, which is generally the case for leases in the
Group, the lessee’s incremental borrowing rate is used, being
the rate that the individual lessee would have to pay to borrow
the funds necessary to obtain an asset of similar value to the
right-of-use asset in a similar economic environment with
similar terms, security and conditions.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

14 Right-of-use assets and lease liabilities

(d)

(Continued)

Extension options (continued)

Accounting policies - Leases (Continuead)
The Group as a lessee (Continued)

To determine the incremental borrowing rate, the Group uses
recent third-party financing received by the individual lessee
as a starting point, adjusted to reflect changes in financing
conditions since third party financing was received.

Lease payments are allocated between principal and finance
cost. The finance cost is charged to profit and loss over
the lease period so as to produce a constant periodic rate
of interest on the remaining balance of the liability for each
period.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the
following:

° the amount of the initial measurement of lease liability;
and

° any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date less any lease incentives received

Right-of-use assets are generally depreciated over the shorter
of the asset’s useful life and the lease term on a straight-
line basis. If the Group is reasonably certain to exercise a
purchase option, the right-of-use asset is depreciated over the
underlying asset’s useful life.

Payments associated with short-term leases are recognised
on a straight-line basis as an expense in profit and loss. Short-
term leases are leases with a lease term of 12 months or less.
Low-value assets comprise small items of office furniture.

B O ERR I T

14 ERAREERBEEM

(d) ERZEZE 2

SHE-HE (@)
FEFBAHA (8)

RETEEEEMNX AXEEEH
BRI ABRAZROESNE=TRE
AOEHFLHARE URRBES
FZTBMEAKRBE GO ES -

HENZTRAS MTBHRA 2 FHIE
HofR-MBAEREHERNIE
BsG BEUACEHRNABERE
HIR A R — e

ERAEEERRATE BRAT
BIE:

e HEBREMVIHTESHE M

e MHEBHIZAXNOEMAE
ENFREEREMEEESR

ERAREE-—RREEANEAFH
SHEHEH (ABREELSE)RERE
EHEFE-MASESEEETT
EEEEZEE AEREEEXH
MEENAERFHATUAE

HEHESERENNRUANERER
BEaASRX EHHELAEE
H1I2EAXATHHEE-KEEE
ESENERAEHRE-
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BTSRRI

15 Intangible assets

At 1 April 2022

15 B EE

Brand name

n hE B 78

HK$'000
TAT

R-E-_—FmA—H

Goodwill
mE
HK$’000
TAT

Total
wt
HK$’'000
FHET

Cost B AR 1,400 9,683 11,083
Accumulated amortisation 2 51 #f 44 (93) - (93)
Accumulated impairment Z5HRE - (3,086) (3,086)
Net book amount REFE 1,307 6,597 7,904
Year ended 31 March 2023 #HE—_ZE-_=F=-A=+—H
IHEFE

Opening net book amount  F ¥R EFE 1,307 6,597 7,904
Disposal (Note 34) & (FEE34) (1,027) (5,872) (6,899)
Amortisation 5 4 (280) - (280)
Closing net book amount & KEREF(E - 725 725
At 31 March 2023 RZEZ_=F=HA=+—H

Cost B AR - 725 725
Accumulated amortisation 2 51 # 44 - - -
Net book amount BREFE = 725 725
Year ended 31 March 2024 HZE-ZT-_NF=A=+—H

IHEE

Opening net book amount ~ F ¥R EFE - 725 725
Amortisation 5 - - _
Closing net book amount & KEREF(E - 725 725
At 31 March 2024 RZFTEZWMF=A=+—H

Cost B AR - 725 725
Accumulated amortisation 2 51 #f 44 - - -
Net book amount BREFE - 725 725
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15 Intangible assets (continveq)

Impairment test for goodwill

(i)

Goodwill arisen from acquisition of e-banner

Management reviews the business performance of
the Group based on the products and services the
respective business provided. Goodwill is monitored
by management at the operating segment level. The
Group’s goodwill was arisen from the acquisition of
additional 11% equity interests in e-banner Limited on
1 April 2015 and it is allocated to the banner printing
operating segment.

Management reviews annually whether the carrying
amount of a CGU is higher than the recoverable amount
which results in impairment of goodwill. The carrying
amount consisted of property, plant and equipment,
right-of-use assets and goodwill. The recoverable
amount of a CGU is determined based on value-in-
use calculation. The calculation use pre-tax cash flow
projections based on financial budget approved by
management covering a five-year period with the first
year growth rate of 6% (2023: first year growth rate of
3%), the second year growth rate of 6% (2023: 5%) and
forecasted average revenue growth rate for third to fifth
year at 5% (2023: 5%). Gross profit margin are assumed
to be 45% — 47% (2023: 44%) for the forecast period.
Cash flows beyond the five-year period are extrapolated
using the estimated growth rate of 3% (2023: 3%) and
pre-tax discount rate of 11.1% (2023: 13.6%).

Management determined the revenue growth rate based
on past performance and expectations on market and
operational development. The discount rate applied by
the Group is rate that reflect current market assessment
of the time value of money and the risk specific to the
CGU.

B O ERR I T

BB E R =

(i)

Ui BBe-bannerEE N E

EEEENSERREBZER
MIRBEENAEE XK EE -
EREEEEKE P HER 2T
B AEEHER-_ZE—A1EF
/M A — HE Ee-banner Limited
BIMA1% 2 BRIEES I 5 AL
EugiEDﬂJ%ﬁ&/\_L

EREBTRIRESELEEN
FHEELES SN WE &% m
iﬁz1§?€%/m1§ REERRED
¥ BEERXE FHAREEK
BHE-BEEALEMHNIUKE
CHRFEREBEFTEETE %
HERAENEIEBHOEN R
ENTFHENYREERESF
BHMERER(ZE-_=ZF:'§8
FERERI%) -F_F6% (=
T _=fF: 5%)E’\Ji§$&i‘ﬁ
MEBEB=ZFFZF £$5%(:;
ZE=EF 5% )MIEH K EER
ZEENTHRARE S RS TE R -

RIER BB R EF X B45%
FAT% (ZEZ=F 1 44%) ©

ZhAFHEZENRETER
B ERR3I% (22 ==
F: 3%)&%)%%1‘%@%%1 1%
ZE-=F:13.6%)#

EEEERMSREEERZ
NEXENHEEE WRIER
K- AEEHERAZAEREXRBR
ERRHEEAEZEM MGG
NI & EE B ERR -
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15 Intangible assets (continueq)

Impairment test for goodwill «continuea)

(i)

Goodwill arisen from acquisition of e-banner
(Continued)

Management assumes the cash flows under VIU
calculation would be more or less the same but the
FVLCTD would be approximately lower than the VIU as
“discount for lack of marketability” and “cost to disposal”
will be deducted under FVLCTD calculation. Based on
the VIU result (the higher in value), there are sufficient
headroom for the CGUs with no impairment noted. As
the recoverable amount is the higher of FVLCTD and
VIU, we considered there would have no impact to our
conclusion when FVLCTD is either higher or lower than
VIU calculation and therefore, concur with management
of the selection of VIU calculation.

As a result of the impairment review, the recoverable
amount calculated based on the value-in-use
calculation exceeded carrying amount by approximately
HK$23,822,000 (the headroom) as at 31 March 2024
(2023: HK$35,716,000). As a result, no impairment loss
was charged for the year ended 31 March 2024 (2023:
Nil).
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i

BERENR »)

(i)

W BBe-bannerE £ E (&)

EEERREMEEFETH
RemnEXNBMER HEAIARE
1B R & BN 8 K KRR A
BE RAZLIRZMERAEMGE
PRl R THEKRK]KHERR
BEROEXATE THE-
REEHAEEER (KSE) -
BeEEBEUERANGEE
B - 3 B IRAEDRE - R A
W el & 8B A AR EERGLEK
REFEREENESE  HAM
RELABEREERASR
FERERBEEFESIGR
ExMmem ALREEE
BEBEREENS-

HABRERS R_T_WNF
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T {E 923,822,000/ 7T (= %8)
(ZEZ=4%:85,716,000/%
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BTSRRI

16 Subsidiaries

The following is a list of the subsidiaries at 31 March 2024
and 2023: =

Name of company

REER

Directly held:
EERE:

Promise Network
Holding Limited

RaRARER
ARAA

eprint Digital Holding
Limited

E-print Group Limited

eprint Holdings Limited

e-print Trading Limited

Indirectly held:
BERE:

Promise Network
Printing Limited

RERELEDR
BRAR

Invoice Limited

EREIRARAT

Place of incorporation
and kind of legal entity

EMRIEHREEERRR

The British Virgin Islands (‘BVI"),
limited liability company

RERAEE ([(XBRREE])
BREMERA

The BV, limited liability company
EBRAHE BREMLA

The BV, limited liability company
KBRLHS BREMAA

The BV, limited liability company
RERAHS BREAAR

The BV, limited liability company
RERAHS BREAAR

Hong Kong, limited liability company
B EREAAA

Hong Kong, limited liability company
EE BRREAA

Proportion of
ordinary shares held
by the Group (%)

Particulars of
issued share capital

BRTRARE

AREEAEERLA(%)

202
it a1

2023
—T-=F

2,887 ordinary shares of 100% 100%
US$1 each
2887TIRERMEIETH
1 ordinary share of US$1 100% 100%
each
IREREBIZTNL AR
50,000 ordinary shares of 100% 100%
US$1 each
50,000% R EE1ETH
LEk
1 ordinary share of US$1 100% 100%
gach
REREEIETHLBR
1 ordinary share of US$1 100% 100%
each

1hEREEIETNEER

2,886 ordinary shares of 100% 100%
HK$1 each

2,886/ R EE1E T
Lak

1,000 ordinary shares of 100% 100%
HK$1 each

1,000R B REE BT

LEk

2023/24 F5  eprint EEERAT

Proportion of ordinary
shares held by
non-controlling interest (%)
FERERER
BERLAI%)

2024
—EomE

2023
—E--F

Principal
activities and
place of operation
TEEHEDR
BEHY

Investment holding in
Hong Kong

Investment holding in
Hong Kong

Investment holding in
Hong Kong

Investment holding in
Hong Kong

Investment holding in
Hong Kong

Provision of printing
services in Hong
Kong

HER RAERIRT

Provision of printing
services in Hong
Kong

EFBREDFRS
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BTSRRI

16 Subsidiaries (continueq) 16 B A F] »

Name of company

NEER

Place of incorporation
and kind of legal entity

BB P59 | o

Indirectly held: (Continued)

MEsE: (F)

Particulars of
issued share capital

BRTRAFE

Proportion of
ordinary shares held
by the Group (%)

RRERAEERLAI%)

2024
it 1] 3

2023
—E-CF

Proportion of ordinary
shares held by
non-controlling interest (%)
FEREESRE
LR (%)

2024
oM

Principal
activities and
place of operation
FTEEREHR
EESE

Kimley Technology (HK)  Hong Kong, limited liability company 2,775 ordinary shares of 100% 100% - - Investment holding in
Limited B BREAAR HK$1 each Hong Kong
SRHE (FE) 2,175l BREEE LA ERREAR
ERAR ERR
Kimley Development Hong Kong, limited liability company 10,000 ordinary shares of 100% N/A - - Dormant
Limited® EE BRRAAA HK$1 each TER LRER
SRARBRAF 10,000 EREE1ETH
Lak
Kimley Trading Limited*  Hong Kong, limited liability company 10,000 ordinary shares of 100% N/A - - Property investment
SREHERLR  BE BREALA HK$1 each TER in Hong Kong
10,0005 & REE 1 L8 EENERE
LAk
Dajinlai Technology The PRC, limited liability company 1,000,000 ordinary shares of 100% 100% - - Provision of I.T.
(Shenzhen) Limited™2 &l BREFAF RMB1 each services in the PRC
RERRE ORI 1,000,000% B HEE P ERAEARE
BRAR? ARBATHEBR TR
Lucky Gainer Limited ~ Hong Kong, limited liability company 2 ordinary shares of HK$1 100% 100% - - Provision of
ERERAF BA EREALA gach management
RERAEBETHEER services in Hong
Kong
EEBREERRYK
Design Easy Limited Hong Kong, limited liabilty company 2,775 ordinary shares of 100% 100% - - Provision of printing
#it 5 (B B BEREALRA HK$1 each services in Hong
BRAT 2,175l EREEE LA Kong
LRk EEBREDRIRS
eprint Investments The BV, limited liability company 1 ordinary share of US$1 100% 100% - - Property investment
Limited RERAES BREAAR each in Hong Kong
RERAEIZTHLBR BENERE
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REER

16 Subsidiaries continued)

Place of incorporation
and kind of legal entity

AR IEAREERRRE

Indirectly held: (Continued)

MEsE: (R)

eprint Property
Investments Limited

e-banner Limited

Digital Printing Centre
Limited
YBIRIRLERAT

Ebanner Solution Sdn.
Bhd.

E-Boss Co., Limited
(‘E-Boss”)

ZERERLA
([£E8))

eprint Japan Limited"®
eprint Japantf A g4t

010 Limited®

The BV, limited liability company

ABRREE ERALAA

Hong Kong, limited liability company

B8 EREAAF

Hong Kong, limited liability company

R ARALAT

Malaysia, limited liability company

SREE BRELAT

Hong Kong, limited liability company

B8 EREAAA

Japan, limited liability company
AR AREMLAA

Hong Kong, limited liability company

B ARALAA

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BTSRRI

Particulars of
issued share capital

BRTRAFE

1 ordinary share of US$1
each

IRERAEIETHERR

40,133,000 ordinary shares
of HK$1 each

40,133,000 SR AR
BT LR

10,000 ordinary shares of
HK$1 each
10,000k BREEETH

400,000 ordinary shares of
RM1 each

400,000 B EEI L EH
EER

1 ordinary shares of HK$1
gach
REREBIETHEBR

100 ordinary shares of
JPY25,000 each

1008k & AR I B25,0008
HERR

765 ordinary shares of
HK$1,000 each, 735
ordinary shares of
HK$534 each and 2,400
shares of HK$100 each

7650k SRR E E1,000% T &
LER 7R ERARE
534BT L AR 2,400
BRERAEI00ETH
R

Proportion of

2024

—g-pE

100%

51%

51%

51%

100%

N/A

TER

N/A
TER

ordinary shares held
by the Group (%)

AEERHLERLAI%)

2023

_ﬁ__i
£-=
5

100%

51%

51%

51%

100%

100%

51%

2023/24 F5  eprint EEERAT

16 i B2 =) )

Proportion of ordinary
shares held by
non-controlling interest (%)
FEREERE
LR ELB(%)

2024
—EomE

49% 49%

49% 49%

49% 49%

N/A 49%
TER

Principal
activities and
place of operation
TEEREBR
EESL

Property investment
in Hong Kong

Provision of digital
printing services in
Hong Kong

ERBREZTFDR
R

Investment holding in
Hong Kong

Provision of printing
services in Malaysia

EBRET RG]
TR

Investment holding in
Hong Kong

Dormant

TEXT

Trading of optical
products
KEERZ S
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BTSRRI

16 Subsidiaries (continueq) 16 B A F] »

Proportion of Proportion of ordinary Principal
Place of incorporation Particulars of ordinary shares held shares held by activities and
Name of company and kind of legal entity issued share capital by the Group (%) non-controlling interest (%) place of operation

FERBERE IREREDR

NGES FMRIHEREEERER BRTRAHE KEBBELER L FI(%) T3 Rt (%) RS
2024 2023 2024 2023
ZE-ME —T-=F ZBCME CZB-=F

Indirectly held: (Continued)

BEsE: (8
TTTH Limited Hong Kong, limited liabilty company 10,000 ordinary shares of 51% 51% 49% 49%  Dormant
BA EREALA HK$1 each EREH
10,000 FREE1ETH
ERR
WAB2 Group (HK) Hong Kong, limited liability company 10,000 ordinary shares of 51% N/A 49% N/A~ Property investment
Limited” A BERELLA HK$1 each TEA T@A  inHong Kong
10,000 B REE 1 TH) ERWERE
ERR
e-gabuy Limited® Hong Kong, limited liabiity company 10,000 ordinary shares of 51% N/A 49% N/A Trading of goods
EE BRREAA HK$1 each TER TER HmE3
10,000 EREEIETH
LEk
1 English translation is for identification purpose only L EXEHEHE
2 Registered as wholly foreign owned enterprises under PRC law g BEPBEEFMAINEBEDE
3 Kimley Development Limited was incorporated on 6 June 2023 g CRABRBRARANR-ZZEZ=ZFARN
H Ak sz
4 Kimley Trading Limited was incorporated on 17 April 2023 g ERESGERQAAR-ZZT_=FTA
=LAV
e eprint Japan Limited was dissolved on 29 June 2023 e eprint Japan Limited® =& = =% /X A
Z+ B
6 010 Limited was disposed on 6 February 2024 6 010 Limited R —Z =& = ANAHE
U WAB2 Group (HK) Limited was acquired on 13 July 2023 U WAB2 Group (HK) Limitedi® —& = =4
tA+=BwHKE
e e-gabuy Limited was incorporated on 31 July 2023 e e-gabuy LimitedARZZE=Z=F + A

=+—HEMiKz
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BTSRRI

16 Subsidiaries (continue) 16 MIE A Tl =

(a) Material non-controlling interests (a) EXRFERER

The total non-controlling interests as at 31 March 2024 is
HK$14,219,000 (2023: HK$12,743,000), in which the majority
of amount is attributed to e-banner Limited and its subsidiaries
(“e-banner Group”).

Summarised consolidated financial information on
subsidiaries with material non-controlling interests

Set out below is the summarised consolidated financial
information for the e-banner Group that have non-controlling
interests that are material to the Group. The amounts
disclosed for e-banner Group are before inter-company
eliminations.

Summarised consolidated statement of financial position

R-ZE-_ME=/A=+—H 3k
fi% # 25 42 %8 514,219,000 7T ( —
T~ =4 :12,743,000/8 7T ) * K &6
2B Re-banner Limited % H 18 A
7l ([e-banner&=@ )

BEEAFZREZNNBLRZ
O BERNBE

TXEINEAEEMESBERNNE
A I RL # Z Me-bannerEE 2 &
HEEERBE - Fle-bannerE B AT
FENEEAARMIKEANEEE-

BHUBENRILHE

e-banner Group
e-banner&k &

2024 2023
—E-MEF —E-=
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHExT FH T
Current e

Assets BE 22,200 29,264
Liabilities afE (43,765) (23,427)
Net current (liabilities)/assets wnE(alk) BEFE (21,565) 5,837

Non-current JERBD
Assets BE 59,048 28,659
Liabilities affE (7,544) (7,727)
Net non-current assets EREBEEFTE 51,504 20,932
Net assets EEFEE 29,939 26,769
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BTSRRI

16 B2 =) =
(a) EXFERELS =)

16 Subsidiaries continveq)
(a) Material non-controlling interests (continuea)

BREEAFEZEREZNHNEBLTAZ

Summarised consolidated financial information on

subsidiaries with material non-controlling interests EHMBERBE »)
(Continued)
Summarised consolidated statement of comprehensive B e Nm X E

income

e-banner Group
e-banner& B

2024 2023

—E-NE

HK$’000

FExT
Revenue e 92,956 89,936
Profit before income tax Fx BT 15 B B0 g 3,737 11,306
Income tax expense FrigBim (450) (1,673)
Profit for the year F RS A 3,287 9,633

Accounting policies - Subsidiaries

(@)

Consolidation

Subsidiaries are all entities (including structured entities)
over which the Group has control. The Group controls
an entity when the Group is exposed to, or has rights to,
variable returns from its involvement with the entity and
has the ability to affect those returns through its power
over the entity. Subsidiaries are consolidated from the
date on which control is transferred to the Group. They
are deconsolidated from the date that control ceases.

Intra-group transactions, balances and unrealised
gains on transactions between Group companies are
eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated. When
necessary amounts reported by subsidiaries have
been adjusted to conform with the Group’s accounting
policies.
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16 Subsidiaries (Continued)

(@) Material non-controlling interests (continued)

Accounting policies — Subsidiaries (Continued)

@

Consolidation (Continued)

()

Business combinations

The Group applies the acquisition method
to account for business combinations. The
consideration transferred for the acquisition
of a subsidiary is the fair values of the assets
transferred, the liabilities incurred to the former
owners of the acquiree and the equity interests
issued by the Group. The consideration
transferred includes the fair value of any asset or
liability resulting from a contingent consideration
arrangement. ldentifiable assets acquired and
liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a
business combination are measured initially at their
fair values at the acquisition date.

The Group recognises any non-controlling interests
in the acquiree on an acquisition-by-acquisition
basis. Non-controlling interests in the acquiree that
are present ownership interests and entitle their
holders to a proportionate share of the entity’s net
assets in the event of liquidation are measured at
either fair value or the present ownership interests’
proportionate share in the recognised amounts
of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. All other
components of non-controlling interests are
measured at their acquisition date fair value, unless
another measurement basis is required by HKFRS.

Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.

If the business combination is achieved in stages,
the acquisition date carrying value of the acquirer’s
previously held equity interest in the acquiree is re-
measured to fair value at the acquisition date; any
gains or losses arising from such re-measurement
are recognised in profit and loss.

B O ERR I T

16 MIB 2T«

BN BE-WEARE (&)

@

& o (%)
() B
REBERBEBE LG EH

BHAKR-BE —FHHKB
REIEZENNKE B
HWREE HHRKBETH
RIFAAMEENEER
REEBITHORAERD
RABE-FAEENKE
BRIARNEBELHFELEN
ERNEEXBENAAE
BE-REBEHEMBEER
A P R E B N BT AR
BERIAREGE NFRK
KRR B B8 2R EEE

=
E-°

AEBIRZFRAREREE
B B2 0 1 WL U7 2 (R AAT 3F
TREm e RIEBE T 2
FERER (AREMA
BiED BRSHEBAA
ERERNBREZFER—
ELPIZEERE)UR
R EENKARE A EE
sIREAIDEREBETE
WS 2 Al BB B E R (E AT
E-BEBMBEHmEER
REBERS —FTEEE
SN PR A E A IR AR S
Mo TEREERHROA
REEFE-

WEBHARARELERX
B °

HWEBE D EBRET
WiE 7 R UE B a5 A
FY) 1% LB U5 ) RCAE A BR T
BEEREREBEHRZA
REBEEEMFE EHE
Mt EMELENTWNAE
RIB R
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B OISR R M EE

16 Subsidiaries (Continued) 16 w% i\\ ﬁ_l (4%)

(a) Material non-controlling interests (continued) (a) ERFERER &)

Accounting policies — Subsidiaries (Continued) B BE-WEAR (&)
(a)  Consolidation (Continued) (@ EHE)
() Business combinations (Continued) ) EBEEHE)
Any contingent consideration to be transferred AEBEMEZENTMRKA
by the Group is recognised at fair value at the RERKBEBZAR
acquisition date. Subsequent changes to the BEBR HRIE—FE
fair value of the contingent consideration that is EXERENSIARELIR
deemed to be an asset or liability is recognised in BENEEZEY BEE
accordance with HKAS 39 either in profit and loss BB ERAFIR K
or as a change to other comprehensive income. BaERkERAHMER
Contingent consideration that is classified as equity AR EEY - O EAE
is not re-measured, and its subsequent settlement ERAREBBEEINGT
is accounted for within equity. E MEREERERZA
The excess of the consideration transferred, the FrgERE REWES
amount of any non-controlling interest in the ZIEMEERERZSE R
acquiree and the acquisition-date fair value of any ERERRFERIEE R 2
previous equity interest in the acquiree over the AEZREEBBEHRHZ AR
fair value of the identifiable net assets acquired is EBEEBAFKENTZRRIE
recorded as goodwill. If the total of consideration EFEzZALEBE AEE
transferred, non-controlling interest recognised UM EYR NEZE
and previously held interest measured is less than BARNEBELT FIEER
the fair value of the net assets of the subsidiary B KHEREERERHE
acquired in the case of a bargain purchase, the SR FMIEERITE 2R
difference is recognised directly in the profit and BERFTKEHRBRAREE
loss. FEZAREBE EEZR
EERTEmhmER-
(i) Changes in ownership interests (i)  HTEE#EREE)

Transactions with non-controlling interests that do REESEEIETRER
not result in a loss of control are accounted for as BT EBUR A
equity transactions — that is, as transactions with NRXGAERERR S
the owners of the subsidiary in their capacity as BIEAfff B N R FT A & U H
owners. The difference between fair value of any ERFIBEEMETHR
consideration paid and the relevant share acquired SN ERMREND
of the carrying value of net assets of the subsidiary £ B8 B2 A8 78 FE (5 P Uk BB
is recorded in equity. Gains or losses on disposals MEBAR FEERBTEN
to non-controlling interests are also recorded in EHOE AR MIEE
equity. RiERNEENRE I

SR M2 -
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16 Subsidiaries (Continued)

(@) Material non-controlling interests (continued)

Accounting policies — Subsidiaries (Continued)

@

Consolidation (Continued)

(i)

Changes in ownership interests (Continued)

When the Group ceases to consolidate or equity
account for an investment because of a loss of
control, joint control or significant influence, any
retained interest in the entity is remeasured to
its fair value with the change in carrying amount
recognised in profit or loss. This fair value becomes
the initial carrying amount for the purposes of
subsequently accounting for the retained interest
as an associate, joint venture or financial asset.
In addition, any amounts previously recognised
in other comprehensive income in respect of that
entity are accounted for as if the Group had directly
disposed of the related assets or liabilities. This
may mean that amounts previously recognised in
consolidated statements of comprehensive income
are reclassified to consolidated statements of profit
or loss or transferred to another category of equity
as specified or permitted by applicable HKFRSs.

If the ownership interest in a joint venture or an
associate is reduced but joint control or significant
influence is retained, only a proportionate share of
the amounts previously recognised in consolidated
statements of comprehensive income are
reclassified to consolidated statements of profit or
loss where appropriate.

B O ERR I T

16 MIB 2T«

BN BE-WEARE (&)

@

& o (%)

(i)

FrERESEE (%)

=N B A TR K
ARZEHNEXEAZE N
mMABAEMFRE S RERS
AR—HEERER RZE
BHEAREROEER
AREBEEEHNFE FEE
WEPHNBERER -FH
BARIEBZERE &
ERAREMEENRE
BEMS Z2AABER
VIREREE - b5 Al
R E A &R G Y s R B X
EREBENENSRRE
WAEBCERHERR
BESRENTAARK-
ERIEBRE RN G G
FAKRERERNTHRE
MOBREAHIERRNE
BRzEaRAEMBEREE
AIFTIE B S RF Al M 55 — #E
SmBRIA -

(DR=N N TNE % RN
P 6 # #E 25 4% BB D R
BARZHEIEATE
N RIERR G HERE K
mARERNEREE T
Pt BEH D BEES G
BER (WEm) -
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BTSRRI

16 Subsidiaries (Continued)

(@) Material non-controlling interests (continued)

Accounting policies — Subsidiaries (Continued)

16 BT
(a) EXFERELS =)
EHEE-KEBAT (4

@

©®)

Consolidation (Continued)
(i) Closure of subsidliaries

When the Group ceases to consolidate or equity
account for an investment because of a loss
of control, any retained interest in the entity is
re-measured to its fair value at the date when
control is lost, with the change in carrying
amount recognised in profit and loss. The fair
value becomes the initial carrying amount for
the purposes of subsequently accounting for the
retained interest as an associate, joint venture or
financial asset. In addition, any amounts previously
recognised in other comprehensive income in
respect of that entity are accounted for as if the
Group had directly disposed of the related assets
or liabilities. It means that amounts previously
recognised in other comprehensive income are
reclassified to retained earnings as permitted by
applicable HKFRSs.

Separate financial statements

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost
less impairment. Cost includes direct attributable costs
of investment. The results of subsidiaries are accounted
for by the Company on the basis of dividend received
and receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries
is required upon receiving dividends from these
investments if the dividend exceeds the total
comprehensive income of the subsidiary in the period
the dividend is declared or if the carrying amount of
the investment in the separate financial statements
exceeds the carrying amount in the consolidated
financial statements of the investee’s net assets including
goodwill.
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17 Investment in an associate

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

17 KA —

BB HRRM

BEEQRNRE

2024 2023

—E-MEF —ET-=F

HK$’000 HK$’000

FERT FAET

At beginning of year NG 1,380 1,421
Share of loss of an associate JE(h —EEtE A REE (199) 41)
At end of year RER 1,181 1,380

Details of the Group’s investment in an associate are as

follows:

Name of company

EL

Step Wise Limited Hong Kong 15% 15%  Provision of premium
REBRAF BE car wrap service
REBEERERY
Notes: B2
(i) There are no commitments and contingent liabilities relating to the (i)
Group’s interest in an associate.
(i) Although the Group owns not more than 20% interest in Step Wise (i)

Place of business/
country of
incorporation

ERhE/
A3 B

Effective interest held

as at 31 March
R=RA=t+-H
REERER
2024
“EoNE

AEBR -—BBRERRNREFE

m -

Principal activities

TEERED

2023
—E_=F

Limited (“Step Wise”), it is able to exercise its voting rights by virtue of
the fact that 1 out of 3 directors of Step Wise are elected by the Group
and the Group is able to influence the activities of Step Wise which
significantly affect the returns.

Measurement
method Carrying amount
FTEREE REE
2024 2023
—BomE —T-=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
TR TER
Equity 1,181 1,380
BRE

TEABASEN ML RN
AERRARAE

BERAREAEEREERAR ((HE])
THB20%RVE LS - A KR = REFF
) — e AR EE R Ut AR A
s S I DT e CE
W EE B AR EHEBED-
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BTSRRI

18 Investments in joint ventures 18 REELENRE

HK$’000 HK$’000
FHExT FAET
At beginning of year REH] 10,654 12,303
Share of profits/(losses) of joint ventures [E{G & & ME%EF, (FHiE) 1,218 (138)
Dividend received (Note (ii)) B A% B (Bt &EGi)) - (1,000)
Currency translation differences N ZERR (811) (511)
At end of year RER 11,061 10,654

Details of the Group’s joint ventures are as follows: AEBzAELEFBOT

Place of business/

country of Percentage of Measurement
Name of company incorporation ownership interest Principal activities method Carrying amount
E 331
ARER A LE R FERERE DL TEERED HEAE BREE
2024 2023 2024 2023
“EoRE  —TC-=F “BomE —T-=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
TET TR
e-print Solutions Sdn. Bhd.  Malaysia 30% 30%  Provision of printing Equity 9,536 9,535
BRED services B
REEDRIRS
Top Success Investment The BVI 50% 50%  Provision of finance Equity 1,525 1,119
Group Limited EERETHES leasing of yacht R
TFRERERRERAT REGEHEREEE
Notes: Bt 5
0] As at 31 March 2024 and 2023, the Group has no commitments and 0] RZTEZMERZF_=F=A=+—
no contingent liabilities relating to the Group’s interest in joint ventures. A AEBUEEBRAEEREGELE
R ERFRERKABE-
(i)  For the year ended 31 March 2023, final dividend amounted to iy BHEZTEZ=F=ZA=t+t—HLFE"
HK$1,000,000 has been declared and paid by Top Success Investment A REREERERQFBEEIR KK
Group Limited. AR 3R B1,000,00078 7T °
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18 Investments in joint ventures continueo)

Accounting policies - Joint arrangement

The Group has applied HKFRS 11 to all joint arrangement.
Under HKFRS 11 investments in joint arrangements are
classified as either joint operations or joint ventures depending
on the contractual rights and obligations of each investor.
The Group has assessed the nature of its joint arrangement
and determined them to be joint venture. Joint venture is
accounted for using the equity method.

Under the equity method of accounting, interest in a joint
venture is initially recognised at cost and adjusted thereafter
to recognise the Group’s share of the post-acquisition profits
or losses and movements in other comprehensive income.
The Group’s investment in a joint venture includes goodwill
identified on acquisition. Upon the acquisition of the ownership
interest in a joint venture, any difference between the cost of
the joint venture and the Group’s share of the net fair value of
the joint venture’s identifiable assets and liabilities is accounted
for as goodwill. When the Group’s share of loss in a joint
venture equals or exceeds its interest in a joint venture (which
includes any long-term interests that, in substance, form part
of the Group’s net investment in the joint ventures), the Group
does not recognise further losses, unless it has incurred
obligations or made payments on behalf of a joint venture.

Unrealised gains on transactions between the Group and its
joint venture is eliminated to the extent of the Group’s interest
in a joint venture. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless
the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the
asset transferred. Accounting policy of a joint venture has
been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with
the policies adopted by the Group.

B O ERR I T

EHMERRTEEAEE
SEANFEIR -REBEFEBY

SERFER REARTHZ
EDBRAERBIAZELE
TRESRETZENENNMEE
DB - AEECHBEERARTH
ZHE YEBEZFHRAZHERAG
BEE-RLELCERAEDEAR

REEDZSTE RAZEXZ2E
o P 2 R K AN FE AR - BB 1R HE 1T B
DA fiE SR 7R &2 B R 1 W 12 0 NI 3K S
BREMGANRENES KAEE
RAEELEEZREERRNEBRE
WAl s B -RBBEELR A
EREGZR AELEZRAER
SEREEELEXZATHEANEENR
BEZAARBEFEZEMNEZRA
EABE-MAKEEREEGEDLR
MBBRESERABBEMBAEEERZ
R (BRERLBANAEERE
EhEZREFETDNEMNRHE
) AKEETEBEREIR K
FAEHELSEINRRAZELE
3% RUE Bl o

AEBRSECEIFHHNRER W
BEHHE UAKEERABEELE
BERR-BRIFBEEBEB RIS T
PEEEELBRRBE TRRER
BETEHHE A2 XZEFR
REOEL BB HREXEEMR
Ry 2R — B
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BTSRRI

19 REHETHEMTA

19 Financial instruments by category

Financial
asset Financial
at amortised assets at
costs - fair value
loans and through
receivables profit or loss
Bk z FERBRIE
SRMEE- DAEEIIERZ
B RERRE CRMEE
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHET
Assets BE
As at 31 March 2024 RZE-_WMF=A=+—H
Trade and other receivables & 5 & H ftb e Y 718
(excluding prepayments) (TEREEMNFE) 15,194 - 15,194
Amounts due from related e BB B 5B
companies 328 - 328
Other financial assets at REHEK AR 2
amortised cost Hhe@EE 29,576 - 29,576
Financial assets at fair value ~ #EBBREAAEE
through profit or loss SRRz G BB E - 8,994 8,994
Cash and cash equivalents RekBeEEER 100,035 - 100,035
145,133 8,994 154,127
Assets BE
As at 31 March 2023 KRZZE_=F=A=1+—H
Trade and other receivables & 5 & E fth el 578
(excluding prepayments) (TEERARE) 14,532 - 14,532
Amounts due from related Y B E A R FE
companies 377 - 377
Other financial assets at BEHHEN AR 2
amortised cost HtemEE 31,141 - 31,141
Financial assets at fair value  BZBREREALBE
through profit or loss SRz EREE - 16,653 16,653
Cash and cash equivalents RekFeEEIER 125,024 - 125,024
171,074 16,653 187,727
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BTSRRI

19 Financial instruments by category coniness 19 RERIE TN EBWMIT A »

Financial
liabilities at
amortised cost
R R A
SRR 2
tHEes
HK$’000
FHEIT
Liabilities BfE
As at 31 March 2024 WRZZEZME=A=+—H
Amounts due to directors EREERIE 148
Borrowings & 40,951
Trade payables, accruals and other payables B 5N FIE BRI R
(excluding contract liabilities) HiEAZIE (TREEaNaE) 20,954
Lease liabilities HEAG 47,172
109,225
Liabilities Bf&
As at 31 March 2023 RZB_=F=HA=+—8H
Amounts due to directors JERTEE A 132
Borrowings BE 22,682
Trade payables, accruals and other payables S EMNRIA - EETRIAR
(excluding contract liabilities) HMmENFIE (TBEEEHNEaRE) 22,730
Lease liabilities HEBE 46,399
91,943
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SRR
20 Inventories 20 78
2024
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHExT FAET
Raw materials R4 8 5,108 6,574
Work-in-progress T2 123 471
Finished goods BIFX oh 101 749
5,332 7,794
The cost of materials recognised as an expense and included ( ZE_ZFE_MFE=A=+—HIEF
in ‘cost of sales’ amounted to approximately HK$65,312,000 B HEREBIWLH A THEEKAK]
for the year ended 31 March 2024 (2023: HK$71,797,000). B BB AR 49 565,312,000 7T (=
T - =4 :71,797,0008 L) °
Accounting policies - Inventories SR EX-FE
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable GFEDNERKAHEA SR FERE 2
value. Cost is determined using the first-in, first-out (FIFO) BEEEH KA TR L ALtk
method. The cost of inventories comprises materials to be BT - FTEXNABRERREERBER
consumed in the rendering of services. It excludes borrowing BEEZMEB - BFEXARTBIERE
costs. Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the BER A AR FEDIEATEY
ordinary course of business, less applicable variable selling HENZHAEE RER2TE
expenses. HEMIZEaTe
21 Trade receivables 21 ESEWRIE
2024
—E-MF
HK$’000
FHExT
Trade receivables 2 5 W IE 5,752 5,590
Less: loss allowance B EEEE (461) (1,1606)
Trade receivables — net 2 S EBGRIE— F 58 5,291 4,424
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21 Trade receivables (continueq)

Notes:

(0)

(i

(i)

(V)

The directors of the Company apply the simplified approach to provide
for expected credit losses prescribed by HKFRS 9, which permits
the use of the lifetime expected loss provision for trade receivables.
To measure the expected credit losses, these receivables have been
grouped based on firstly shared credit risk characteristics and then
aging from billing.

See Note 3.1(b) for credit risk exposure and expected credit loss
provision for trade receivables and information about how impairment
losses are calculated.

Movements of the Group’s loss allowance for impairment of trade
receivables are detailed in Note 3.1(b).

As at 31 March 2024 and 2023, the maximum exposure to credit risk is
the carrying amounts of trade receivables and the Group does not hold
any collateral as security.

As at 31 March 2024 and 2023, due to the short-term nature of trade
receivables, the directors of the Company consider that the carrying
amounts of trade receivables approximate their fair values.

As at 31 March 2024 and 2023, the carrying amounts of trade
receivables are mainly denominated in Hong Kong dollars.

Payment terms granted to customers are mainly cash on
delivery and on credit. The average credit period ranges from
30 days to 60 days. The ageing analysis of the gross trade
receivables based on invoice date is as follows:

BTSRRI

21 EZREWFEIE

(i

(i)

(v)

ARBEERBELCTEHREEYB
BEENEMRENRACEELRE &
RS REEREYE o FFE E B UK
BEER2BEREERE - R EED
FEER ZSEEFBACEEREHR
REERBREBSE REBEKRELE
TTRRER DA

EHREBESERFENEERRHEORE
HEBEBEBRESG AR ERES
BRER F28ME3.1(0)

AEEE S EYGHBEREBERFENE
B RN ES (D)

R-E—NER-_F_=ZF=A=+—
A &ZHEREERRTE S EKK
TA 1) B [ B M AN 52 [ 30 4 45 A (T () 3K
mIEER -

R -_NMER T -_=ZF=Zf=+—
B BERESERFEBOEHEESE AA
AEERAEIRRFENREESRL
AREBERE-

R-E-_NMER T -_=ZF=f=+—
A BSRKRFENEREEEEZNET
FTfE-

AEFRERENNREREERER
R R FHEE BN FI0H
Z60H -REZRHHEAONE SR
WRIEERBRE DM T

2024

—E_mEF

HK$’000

FHET
0 - 30 days 0£30H 2,747 2,862
31 - 60 days 31260H 1,150 793
Over 60 days H@E60H 1,855 1,935
5,752 5,590
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ABETBERIE
21 Trade receivables (conined 21 B 5 EWFIE
Accounting policies - Trade receivables B BE-ES5EWRRE
Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for good BEORWAIEARTHBEBKBRER
sold or services performed in the ordinary course of business. HEEERIRHERBEKER®
If collection of trade receivables is expected in one year or B -WEESHERRNEEHRN —
less (or in the normal operating cycle of the business if longer), FR—FUA(KMBREFERH - A
they are classified as current assets. If not, they are presented N—MEBEEARRE) KB K
as non-current assets. WHOBEARBMEE TAHEZNA
EMEBEE -
Trade receivables are recognised initially at fair value and B oRKABRVIRAABEER
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective HgBILEBRA S AR EHK AN
interest method, less provision for impairment. See Note 41.5 BEUWHBRBEREGE EEAEEE
for further information about the Group’s accounting for trade SERFBEEFRECEMER K
receivables and description of the Group’s impairment policies. ERAEBEBERK MM &
FtE41.5 ©
22 Deposits, prepayments and other 22 & -FANFEREMER
receivables MIE
2024
—E-MF
HK$’000
FTERT
Deposits and prepayments (Note (i) e RIER A (HIEE) ) 25,210 23,755
Other receivables H h & W kI8 1,323 5,185
26,533 28,940
Less: non-current portion B IEMBIER S
Deposits and prepayments e RIERRIE (21,223) (20,184)
Deposits, prepayments and e AR & E A UK
other receivables — current portion RIBE— mEE S 5,310 8,756
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22 Deposits, prepayments and other
receivables (continueq)

Notes:

(0)

(i

(i)

()

Amount mainly represents rental deposits, and prepayments for utility,
prepayments for machineries, insurance expenses and sub-contracting
fee.

For deposits and other receivables, the Group applies the HKFRS 9
general approach to measure expected credit losses which uses a
3-stage model to measure loss allowance.

See Note 3.1(b) for credit risk exposure and expected credit loss
provision for deposits, and other receivables and the information about
how impairment losses are calculated.

As at 31 March 2024 and 2023, management considered that the
expected credit loss for deposits and other receivables was immaterial,
thus no loss allowance was made.

As at 31 March 2024 and 2023, the maximum exposure to credit risk
is the carrying amounts of deposits and other receivables as the Group
does not hold any collateral as security.

As at 31 March 2024 and 2023, the directors of the Company consider
that the carrying amounts of deposits and other receivables approximate
their fair values.

As at 31 March 2024 and 2023, the carrying amounts of the
Group’s deposits, prepayments and other receivables are
mainly denominated in the following currencies:

22&$:ﬁﬁ

BRI MR

R IE Ko Ho A fE IR

FRIE )
B R

(i) ZERIBERERERARRBEEN
R ERENRE RBREXRYBE
e

(ii) RERESREMERFENS  AEEK
AEBY KRS EDER: — A AT E
EHEEER EERA-BRELNE
EEEE-

BEE S REAM B EERR KA
&%E%ﬁ%%%%aﬁﬁ»&ﬁ%ﬁﬁuﬁﬁ:é
BEBENER  F28ME310) -

RZBE-_NER T -_=F=R=1+—

ERERALRES REMERKIEN
BHEEBBETEXN AL RTHRES
B

iy R-ZFE-WNFER-_T-_=F=ZA=+-—
B ANEBE W AREA E AR R EER
AZHEREERR RS R H A4 RE K
FRIBREREE -

vy RZTEZHWFER-ZT=Z=F=ZA=+-—
H RAAREZERAE Ze REMBUK
EREAERE QR EEES-

R-P-MER-F-=%=8
S E ARmES EHRAR
H ity OB R A E B A T 5
WA

2024 2023
—E_NE —E=F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FTERT FAET
HK$ BT 11,861 11,617
JPY H 12,925 16,590
Euro BT 1,206 =
Others HAb 541 733
26,533 28,940
Accounting policies - Other receivables SITEE - Htt B FKIE
Other receivables are recognised initially at fair value and HERRERVIZARBEER
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective ,H\ 1% R LA B B A BOE H B 88 A AR
interest method, less provision for impairment. See Note 41.5 BUHRBERE EEASBEHM
for further information about the Group’s accounting for other ERFEETEECEMERKE
receivables and description of the Group’s impairment policies. FAAREERERK M 7 RHE
415 -
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BTSRRI

23 Other financial assets at amortised cost 23 R#EEREFEZ2EME

2024 2023

—E-NE —E—=
HK$’000 HK$’000
FTHEx FHETT
Loan and interest receivables (Note a)  ERE R K F & (Mtta) 34,489 34,503
Less: loss allowance (Note b) o EERE (MsEb) (4,913) (3,362)
29,576 31,141
Less: current portion BB E D - (2,390)
Non-current portion FERBNE 29,576 28,751

(a) Movement of loan and interest receivables (a) EWEREANENES

2024 2023
—EWE —E =4
HK$’000 HK$’000
FTERT FHETT

At beginning of the year NG 34,503 38,908

Additions NE - 1,000

Accrued interest FEETFI B 1,829 2,263

Settlement for the year FEHE (1,843) (7,668)

At end of the year RER 34,489 34,503

As at reporting date, the balance mainly composed of: RWERM ARFERE:

(i)  Aloan arrangement with the subsidiary of a joint venture (i) $%@ —E2-ZTF=A++AH
— Top Success Investment Group Limited entered by %A%‘*J/E% EHRER
the Group on 17 March 2020. As at 31 March 2024 ﬁ% BRABERQRHK B ARG
and 2023, the principal amount of the loan amounted to _LEI’JE RELHE - R T ZOF &
approximately HK$30,000,000, with interest bearing at ZEZ=F=ZA=+—H BEX
6% per annum and repayable in 2025. N4 #9 £30,000,00058 7T 1% &

M RNt B ER_ZT_AF
&

(i) A loan arrangement with the then associate — E-Post i AEBR : = T F M A
Limited entered by the Group on 22 April 2020. The T+ REEN *Hﬁ NI R
principal amount of the loan amounted to approximately E-Post Lmﬂed;.lLﬁ]%?ﬂf?ﬁF °
HK$4,991,000, with interest bearing at 5% per annum B 4/54,991,0008 7T * &
and repayable for the year ending 31 March 2025. FMNERFA B -EREBEE_T

—ERE=ZRA=+—HLFEE
B
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23 Other financial assets at amortised cost
(Continued)

(a)

(b)

Movement of loan and interest receivables
(Continueq)

)

Certain loan arrangements with the then associate —
E-Post Limited were entered by the Group from 28
January 2022. As at 31 March 2022, the principal
amount of the loans amounted to approximately
HK$3,340,000, with interest bearing at 8% per annum
and repayable for the year ending 31 March 2025. The
amount was settled during the year ended 31 March
2023.

A loan agreement with the then associate — E-Post
Limited entered by the Group on 7 April 2022. The
principal amount of the loan amounted to HK$1,000,000,
with interest bearing at 8% per annum and repayable for
the year ending 31 March 2025. The amount was settled
during the year ended 31 March 2023.

Loss allowance

As at 31 March 2024 and 2023, the Group applies the
HKFRS 9 general approach to measure expected credit losses
which uses a 3-stage model to measure loss allowance for
other financial assets at amortised cost.

See Note 3.1(b) for credit risk exposure and expected credit
loss provision for other financial assets at amortised cost and
the information about how impairment losses are calculated.

Movements of the Group’s loss allowance for impairment of
other financial assets at amortised cost are detailed in Note
3.1(b).

B O ERR I T

23 RBEREIRz2EME

(a)

(b)

BERERKRANEWNES o)

iy AEBHA-_Z-_—_F—A=-+N
BREER —XBE QA -
E-Post Limitedd] &/ FE R %L
- -RZEBE-_—_F=ZHA=+—
B ExXAE 4 /3,340,000
T IR FE R K% B ERE
E_E_RAF=A=+—H1t
FEEE - BEZBEREE-Z
T ZF=ZA=+—HILFE#H
ife

vy AEERZ-ZZTE-__FWALH
B — R % QA —E-Post
Limited?] (2 W B K 3% - ERA
% 41,000,000 T © & F & K
8%t B EREBE_T_AF
Z—A=Z+—BHBILEEEE-B
BREREE_E_=ZF=A4
Zt+—HLFELEN-

BRERE

RZE-_WMFEFR_ZT_=ZF=A
=t+—RB AEBEREEVERS
ERFESE—MA LT EBHEES
B EERA-RERAT SRS HEK
KAz Hith B EREBRE-

BRAGEER B O IR HR AR
ZEMEHMEENTEHEEBBRE
URABOAEEREBEHER
B2 HMEE3.1(0) °

REBIRBHX ARz EibE B

EERESEREG2EHFBHRN
B 5E3.1(b) °
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BTSRRI

23 Other financial assets at amortised cost
(Continued)

(b) Loss allowance (continued)

As at 31 March 2024 and 2023, the maximum exposure to
credit risk is the carrying amounts of other financial assets at
amortised cost as the Group does not hold any collateral as
security.

As at 31 March 2024 and 2023, the carrying amount of other
financial assets at amortised costs are dominated in Hong
Kong dollar.

24 Financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss

23

(b)

24

BREBERARS R EME
BMEE

EBEEE o

R_FB_NER-_FT-_=ZF=A
_-1- EI A PO AN SR (B 3 455 8 (R 4E
Mo tEER MESEERRSRHEHE
RAG R Bt & B E ERRRE(E -

R-ZEF-_NMER-_FT-_=ZF=FH
_—f- EI WEMERATIRZ b S
MEENREEAETAHE

BRERERAAEEY K
ZEMEE

2024 2023

—E-mE —E =4

HK$’000 HK$’000

FERT FHET

Debentures and equity investments BEHERBRAIEE 8,994 16,653
Notes: MfsE -

(i) The fair values of the debentures and equity investments are based on
quoted prices in active markets and are classified within level 1 of the
fair value hierarchy.

(i) Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss is presented within
investing activities in the consolidated statement of cash flows.

(iii) Changes in fair value of financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss are recorded in ‘other losses — net’ in the consolidated profit and
loss (Note 7).

(iv) Information about the relevant accounting policy and fair value
estimation is provided in Note 41 and Note 3.3, respectively. For an
analysis of the Group’s exposure to the price risk and credit risk, please
refer to Notes 3.1(a) and 3.1(b).

218 eprint Group Limited Annual Report 2023/24

) EFERERAEENAABEIRENE
BHSNBEFEESENAREES
MEVE—RA -

(ii) ERBREAANEBEINRZCBHEESR
NREHRERERZRETHR-

iy BRBEERAABEIEZEHEED
AR EEESHHREHER [HiEE -
Frl (MIsE7) -

vy BEEBESTERRIEAABEMGITHE
B BERH 41 R ES3 - B A L
ERROERRBRREERBRD N F
2B 5E3.1(@@) K%3.1(b) °



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

25 Cash and cash equivalents

BTSRRI

25 ReRhBREEEEE

2024 2023

—ENEF —E-=F

HK$’000 HK$’000

FEx FHE T

Cash at banks and on hand RITIREeMFERES 74,095 53,539
Short-term bank deposits (Note (i) FEHARIT 17 3 (P REG) ) 25,940 71,485
Cash and cash equivalents HehkBELEHEEBEE 100,035 125,024

Notes:

(i) It represents short-term bank deposits with an original maturity of three
months or less from the date of acquisition.

(ii) Cash at banks earn interest at floating rates based on daily bank
deposits rate.

(iii) Cash at banks and on hand of approximately HK$1,051,000 (2023:
HK$1,130,000) are denominated in Renminbi. The conversion of
Renminbi denominated balances into foreign currencies and the
remittance of such foreign currencies denominated bank balances and
cash out of PRC are subject to the relevant rules and regulations of
foreign exchange control promulgated by the PRC government.

The carrying amounts of the cash and cash equivalents are
denominated in the following currencies:

(i) HEREEASHE RIHAA=EA
HARZEBRITER

iy WITHRSBESARITERNRIZZH
F R BEERFI S o

(i) WITRFEHEL41,051,0008T(=F
Z =% :1,130,000% 7T) Ty A A R 8 &1
B - LGARBHENGEH LBKINE
Rz EINEHENRITERRIESE
AR B 9788 SR BT AR A RO 4B R
HNEE E I 33 Rl ROE AR o

BeMREeFEREMNE@RENRT
SIEHEHE

2024

—E_NF

HK$’000

FExT
HK$ BT 81,707 94,757
Renminbi AR 1,051 1,130
uss$ ETT 16,102 27,588
Others EAth 1,175 1,549
100,035 125,024

Accounting policies — Cash and cash equivalents

In the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash
equivalents include cash in hand, deposits held at call with
banks.

g%—rﬂz%—ﬁﬁﬁiﬁﬁﬁﬁlﬁ
REHRERERT Re RS

TEEBREFARS BT 2E
HIFH -
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BTSRRI

26 Share capital and share premium

Authorised capital - ordinary FERA- BREEONET

Number of

26 BRARB D RE

Nominal
value

of ordinary
shares
EEREE
HK$'000
TAET

Share
premium
A3 5B

HK$'000

TET

shares

ROHE
(thousands)

()

shares of HK$0.01 each )5 3 A
At 1 April 2022, 31 March RZE-—FWA—H"
2023, 1 April 2023 and “E-=f=fA=1+—-8"
31 March 2024 “E-=FMA-HR
“E-ME=A=1+—H 10,000,000 100,000 -
Issued and fully paid: EETRER:
At 1 April 2022, 31 March RZZ-_Z_FMA—HB"
2023, 1 April 2023 and “E-=f=fA=1+—-8"
31 March 2024 “E-=FEMA-AK
“E-ME=A=1+—H 550,000 5,500 132,921
Notes: Bt 5
() The ordinary shares entitle the holders to participate in dividends, and 0] LTRRETREALERSDEAER -

to share in the proceeds of winding up the company in proportion to the
number of and amounts paid on the shares held. The ordinary shares
entitle the holders to one vote per share at meetings in person or by

Proxy.

(ii) Share premium represents the excess of the issuance price of the
Company’s shares over its nominal value.

Accounting policies - Share capital
Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs

directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options are
shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.
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BTSRRI

27 Other reserves 27 HittfEfE
Share
Capital based  Exchange
reserve Other payment reserve Retained
(Note i) reserve reserve (Note ii) earnings Total
ERfE iy MNERHE
(B i) HitffE EA ( B i) REBR EH
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FEL FEL FEL FEL THL THL
At 1 April 2022 RZE-_ZFMA—H 6,593 1) - (2,426) 99,231 103,377
Loss for the year FREE - - - - (14,243) (14,243)
Currency translation differences ERER
- Group -1 &M - - - (98) - (98)
- Joint ventures and an associate  —AELER—M
HE DT - - - (511) - (511)
Share based payment expenses RN (M3E35)

(Note 35) - - 17,061 - - 17,051
Dividends (Note 31) RE (MF31) - - - - (4,950) (4,950)
At 31 March 2023 and 1 April 2023 HR=-E-=F

ZA=Zt-BR

“E-=FNA-H 6,593 1) 17,061 (3,035) 80,038 100,626
Loss for the year FREE - - - - 8,306) (8,306)
Currency translation differences ERER
- Group -15E - - - (81) - 81)
- Joint ventures and an associate ~ —AEPER—M

YN - - - (811) - (811)

Transfer upon lapse of share options ~ FBE AR 1 S A 48 % - - (1,950) = 1,950 =
At 31 March 2024 RZZ_ME

ZR=t—H 6,593 (1) 15,101 (3,927) 73,682 91,428
Notes: B &E
0] Capital reserve [0) e

R —NMER-_TE_=ZF=ZA=+—
B AEENEAREEEXNAESER
EFTHBRARMBRARRKRDRENGE
on

As at 31 March 2024 and 2023, capital reserve of the Group represents
the aggregate values of share capital and share premium of certain
subsidiaries comprising the Group.

(ii) Exchange reserve (ii) HNEE 4 1

K FEA BT R B AN S B B AT E
AREHZEREMGE KEER I
REZANEBREER Rt R 2%
BRHESIINEE G EENERE R

Exchange differences arising from the translation of the foreign
controlled entity are recognised in other comprehensive income as
described in Note 41 and accumulated in a separate reserve within
equity. The cumulative amount is to be transferred to profit and loss
when the respective foreign controlled entities are disposed.
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Xty e e b
28 Trade payables, accruals and other 28 BESZEMNFIE BitRER
=%
payables Hth B FIE
2024 2023
—F-NE T =F
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FHET FHET
Trade payables 2 SN RIA 10,734 12,211
Accruals and other payables: FE 5T SR8 I H 4t & < RRIR
Accrued expenses FEETFA X 25,430 28,771
Contract liabilities BHEE 5,029 5,419
Other payables H fth & 3R 872 946
Accruals and other payables JE &1 3R I8 N H Ath FE 1< 5RIB 31,331 35,136
Less: non-current portion B IERBEB D (877) -
Accruals and other payables FE &t 5K I8 I H i FE - IR
— current portion — REE S 30,454 35,136
Notes: B3
() Payment terms granted by suppliers are mainly on credit. The credit i) HEFREONRAIREEZEARE -
period ranges from 30 to 90 days. EHN F308 E90H °
(i)  For the year ended 31 March 2024, HK$5,419,000 (2023: iy MREE-_Z-_NF=A=+—HILtFE"
HK$5,592,000) of revenue recognised was included in the contract REUEE5,419,0008 T (ZF ==
liabilities balance at the beginning of the period. 5,592,000 7T ) st AV A K B Bk ek -
(i) As at 31 March 2024 and 2023, all trade payables, accruals and other iy RZBEZMFRZZZ=F=RA=+—
payables of the Group were non-interest bearing, and their carrying B A"EBEFRBESENMNKIE  EFRIE
amounts approximated their fair values due to short maturities. REMEMFESEMNS -AREEBEA

BE REMNREEREE AR EEES -

(iv)  The carrying amounts of the Group’s trade payables, accruals and other vy ZAEENESEMNKE EBitRBERE
payables are mainly denominated in Hong Kong dollars. e SRIER EREE X E LB TAHE -

The ageing analysis of the trade payables based on invoice BORNRBBEREZR KRR

date was as follows: ST
2024 2023
—z-me

HK$’000 HK$’000
THET FHET
0 — 30 days 0&30H 5,769 7,677
31 - 60 days 31260H 4,604 3,567
61 — 90 days 61290H - 915
Over 90 days B @90H 361 52
10,734 12,211
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28 Trade payables, accruals and other
payables (Continued)

Accounting policies - Trade and other payables

Trade payables are obligation to pay for goods or services that
have been acquired in the ordinary course of business from
suppliers. Trade and other payables are classified as current
liabilities if payment is due within one year or less (or in the
normal operating cycle of the business if longer). If not, they
are presented as non-current liabilities.

Trade and other payables are recognised initially at fair value
and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method.

29 Borrowings

BTSRRI

28 BESENFIE EFFER
H b EFRIE 0

%E—HE&%— BEZREMENK
!

EHRMNRIBZEFEBBEDR
HEDBEERAEXREMES
N REE-WE D &EMENK
BE-—FH—FARNINE (HWE
RERRE AL -—REBLERY
RE)ADBARBEME SRIE
2 RIERBEE

B2 REMENFTARNERR(E
BERR UHERZERNS A RS
AR E

20 B8

2024

—E_NF

HK$’000

THET
Trust receipt loans SR E R - 632
Bank loans |ITER 40,951 22,050
40,951 22,682

Notes: b=

(i) The borrowings of the Group are subject to financial covenants and
the Group is in compliance with the financial covenants as at 31 March
2024 and 2023.

(ii) As at 31 March 2024, the borrowings of the Group were secured
by personal guarantees provided by a related party of the Group
(Note 37(c)). Included in bank loans to the extent of approximately
HK$40,779,000 (2023: HK$20,946,000) are mortgage loans which
are secured by properties of the Group with carrying amount of
approximately HK$105,549,000 (2023: HK$62,488,000) (Note 13).

(i) The carrying amount of bank borrowings approximate their fair value
as the interest payable on these borrowings is either close to current
market rates or the borrowings are of a short-term nature.

(iv) Details of the Group’s exposure to risks arising from borrowings are set
out in Note 3.1(c).

(V) The carrying amounts of borrowings are denominated in Hong Kong
dollars as at 31 March 2024 and 2023.

0] R-ZE-—NMER-_F-_=ZF=A=+—
B AEBENEEEAISBREZLAR G
BASEE-—HETESRREL -

(ii) RZBE-_WMFEF=ZA=+—H £5£H
WEEDNHASBENBEEFRENE
AEREBER (K 5E37(c)) ~RITE
B E 440,779,000 T (ZE ==
%F:20,946,0008 L) U AEEBEFE®@
fE#9105,549,0008 L (Z T = =4
62,488,000/ 7T ) K W) £ (E B MM IZIBE
R (HIEE18) »

(i) SRITEEMEEEEREAAABEMRSE
THRZEGEENENFSEARITH
SRR EEBEIILE -

vy ZAEEREBEM@HENRBREOFES
RETFES.1(0) °

v RIEZWNFERZT=F=ZA=+-—
A BENEREAENASTTE.
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BTSRRI

29 fHE

29 Borrowings (continued)

The table below analyses the Group’s borrowings into relevant
maturity groups based on the scheduled repayment dates
set out in the loan agreements and ignore the effect of any
repayment on demand clause:

TRRBAEBRBERGEMETE
EZ%??’(EIEH&WE%@JE%HE'J%N &Y
f DA W EE AEMIRERE
fﬂ:n’%xﬂ']‘ixs:

2024 2023

—E_ME —E-=
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT FHET
Within 1 year —FN 3,534 2,987
Between 1 and 2 years —EWFE 3,460 1,626
Between 2 and 5 years MERF 11,005 4,546
Over 5 years AELE 22,952 13,523
40,951 22,682

Note:

Bank borrowings contained a repayment on demand clause which enables
the bank to exercise at its sole discretion. Accordingly, the entire balance was
classified under current liabilities.

The weighted average effective interest rates per annum were
as follows:

Trust receipt loans St WIRE R N/ATE A 4.83%
Bank loans fﬁﬁgm 3.57% 2.53%
Note: Bt 5

The fair values of the borrowings approximate to their carrying amounts as
at 31 March 2024 and 2023 as all the borrowings carry interests which are
benchmarked against Hong Kong Dollar prime rate or Hong Kong Interbank
Offered Rate (“HIBOR”).

Accounting policies — Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of
transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently
carried at amortised cost; any difference between the
proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption value
is recognised in the profit and loss over the period of the
borrowings using the effective interest method.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group
has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for
at least 12 months after the end of the reporting period.
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30 Deferred income tax

Deferred income tax is calculated in

differences under the liability method using the tax rates
enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date.

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when there
is legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets against
current tax liabilities and when the deferred income taxes
related to the same fiscal authority.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BTSRRI

30 JEEFTFEH

BEERBRIREABEERZNE
FHEEMKELDRMAOHE
RUEZREHEAE-

full on temporary &
'

L=y —iVAN

£ A &)X A] 98 Hl #h 17 # A A 5 B AR
MEEEENHPHRAAGEE B
EXEFT 1S B8 & A — B B R - R
EXGHEERBELRENE-

The analysis of deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities BEREBEBEEMEEHRBEES T
is as follows: (I
2024 2023
—E_NE —EE =G
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FExT FBTT
Deferred tax assets EETRIBE E
— Deferred tax assets to be recovered ~ — #2381+ — & A 1& 15 F Uk 8 #)
after more than 12 months EERIBEE 256 707
Deferred tax liabilities BEERIBBAE
— Deferred tax liabilities to be recovered — #8381+ — 1@ A% ¥ T Y@ &
after more than 12 months EEFHIBEAE (3,836) (4,167)
Deferred tax liabilities — net REHERE - F8 (3,580) (3,460)

The gross movements on the deferred income tax account are

EEFBHREENEZSHMNT:

as follows:
2024
—E-mE
HK$’000
FET
At beginning of year REH (3,460) (2,970)
Disposal of a subsidiary HE—HEHBAA - 231
Charged to the consolidated profit and R & fFEE P Ik (MIFE11)
loss (Note 11) (120) (721)
At end of year RE R (3,580) (3,460)
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Xty e e b
30 Deferred income tax (continuec) 30 EZEREBH »
The movements in deferred income tax assets and liabilities BEMEMEERBERAMTFE
for the years, without taking into consideration the offsetting of (REZRBRA-—BHEAZEHRIEH)
balances with the same tax jurisdiction, are as follows: FEWNT
Fair value change of Accelerated tax
intangible assets depreciation
BREEAAEEEZD MEH I E
2024 2023 2024 2023
—E-ME —E-=F —EoME —T-=fF
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
TER THEL TER THT
Deferred tax liabilities BERERRE
At beginning of year REA - (231) (4,626) (5,464)
Credited to the consolidated REFERFPA
profit and loss - - 336 838
Disposal of a subsidiary HE—HBAR - 231 - =
At end of year RER - - (4,290) (4,626)

Set-off of deferred tax assets ~ REEBE B BET

pursuant to set-off provisions ~ FIEEE - - 454 459
- - (3,836) (4,167)
Tax losses
RIEFRE
2024
113
HK$’000
FTHExT
Deferred tax assets ERETRIEE B
At beginning of year NG 1,166 2,725
Charged to the consolidated RE B mEP R
profit and loss (456) (1,559)
At end of year RER 710 1,166
Set-off of deferred tax liabilities RIFE R B IR T
pursuant to set-off provisions MIEEE (454) (459)

256 707
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30 Deferred income tax continueq)

Deferred income tax assets are recognised for tax losses
carry-forwards to the extent that the realisation of the related
tax benefit through future taxable profits is probable. Tax
losses in the PRC can be carried forward to offset against
future taxable profits for 10 years and tax losses in Hong Kong
and Malaysia can be carried forward to offset against future
taxable profits without expiry date.

As at 31 March 2024 and 2023, the Group had the following
recognised and unrecognised tax losses available for offsetting
against future taxable profits.

Unrecognised tax losses expiring:

AERNE HHIBEEE

BRI MR

EIEFTSH

BEIEFT B E E T E M IE R A
ﬁ%aﬁﬂ$X$%mmﬂ“ﬁﬁ
MG E o HIEBBELER R
B Y B T8 B 48 AT 45 65 DA 3K 85 R 2R 10
FHERP G REBMERAE
O T IA 5 18 1) 45 8 A K 6 R SR R

FomA - |EmBHE-
R-ZZE-_WMER T -_=ZF=A

_‘I' H - A"EEEAUATE#HRR
R HE SR RO B IR B 18 AT R 70 8H R 2K
FERRTL A

2024 2023
“ENE —E—_=
HK$’000

FHE T

HK$’000
FEx

— Within 10 years — MMOER 18,951 12,071
— Unlimited — R HAPR 10,618 9,532
29,569 21,603

The Group did not recognise deferred income tax asset of
HK$6,829,000 (2023: HK$3,916,000) in respect of tax losses
amounting to HK$29,569,000 (2023: HK$21,603,000). Tax
losses in Hong Kong can be carried forward to offset against
future assessable profits and have no expiry date in 2024
(2023: Same). Tax losses in PRC can be carried forward to
offset against future taxable profits for 10 years (2023: Same).

31 Dividends

No dividend in respect of the years ended 31 March 2024 and
2023 has been declared as of the date of approval of these
consolidated financial statements.

A dividend in respect of the year ended 31 March 2022 of
HKO0.9 cents per share, amounting to a total dividend of
HK$4,950,000, was proposed by the Board on 19 August
2022 and approved by the shareholders of the Company at
the annual general meeting on 30 September 2022. The final
dividend was settled on 24 October 2022.

31

$ @iﬁﬁﬁu/u/\ﬁﬁlg)gﬁTg
29,569,000 T (=& = =& :
21,603,000/ 7T ) B B HVIEEFTSHL
& 6,829,000 T (ZE = F:
3,916,000 7T) - R T — Y F -
EEHIEBERAA iii}ﬂ%bv\#ﬁfﬁﬂiX

ERDEM BYWEEMAH(ZF
“ZF MR P EBREEIRA A

EFHEATR%*XmiE‘JE‘EE%ﬁEE%U
—E=F:ERA) -

iz B2

HEZEe6HYBEHRERILERT
$E%4B¥5’dz%zi_$_m¢&_7 -
FZAZ+—HIEFEERERE -

EEeR_TE-__FNA+TILBR
ERARFABEBEER-_T__FAN
A=+BzZREAFRKE L EE
E-E-__F=ZRA=+—HLHF
EWREER.OEN EZRE A
4,950,000 T KRB ERNR=F
T —HE+A-tTMB&ER-
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BTSRRI

32 Notes to the consolidated statement of 32 S§4fREKRERM T

cash flows
(a) 2 EEXENES
2024 2023

—E-OF
HK$’000

(a) Cash generated from operations

HK$'000

Loss from continuing operations

BT IS TR R R S & X 7%

FTER

THETT

before income tax &5 18 (6,084) (5,511)
Loss from discontinued operation BRETEHATE RIEKEET
before income tax E518 - (3,034)
Loss before income tax including BRETSMATEE (BEE&LE
discontinued operation TS (6,084) (8,545)
Adjustments for: AT HIBETHRAE:
Depreciation of property, plant and ¥ % - &&= MR EITE
equipment 13 10,442 10,449
Depreciation of right-of-use assets  FREEETE 14 20,590 19,330
Losses on disposals of property, HEWE BERZENEE
plant and equipment 32(b) 4,406 224
Loss on disposal of a subsidiary HE—HHNBARAEE 155 1,807
Impairment loss on financial assets & &l & E BEE 18 1,972 1,559
Fair value losses on financial assets BBEHZIE AR BEVIEZ
at fair value through profit or loss TREENAABEEE 7 414 1,674
Amortisation of intangible assets M EEHEE 15 - 280
Dividend income % B A (25) (98)
Recovery of trade receivables WE SR E S
previously written off FE W IR - (93)
Gain on early termination of lease IRATAX IEHE MY e (56) (4)
Finance income B E WA 10 (4,952) (3,924)
Finance costs =YD %N 10 3,518 1,490
Share based payment expenses REMRAX 9 S 17,0561
Share of loss of an associate FE(h— B E A REE 17 199 41
Share of (profits)/losses of EEeErEZ CaFl)
joint ventures &8 18 (1,218) 138
Changes in working capital EEETEE
— Inventories -FE 2,282 1,768
— Trade receivables — B Hr KA (909) (571)
- Deposit, prepayments and —1%e BNREREM
other receivables JE YRR 2,328 6,864
- Trade payables — B ZEMFIE (1,215) 646
— Accruals and other payables — FEETRRIA R E M FE A
NIE (3,883) 7,015
— Amounts due to directors —ENESHE 16 63)
— Amounts due from joint ventures ~ — EIA &> FKIA 49 (144)
— Amount due from the then — FEWE BB & A R FIAR
associate - 643
Cash generated from operations EEEANIRE 28,029 57,437
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BTSRRI

32 Notes to the consolidated statementof 32 8 EESRERMET «
cash flows continueq)

(b) In the consolidated statement of cash flows, (b) REHBREREXRDP HEY
proceeds from disposal of property, plant and X BERRENFASRES
equipment comprise: &

—BomE  —Z-o=fF
HK$’000 HK$’000
THT FHEIT
Net book amount (Note 13) BREDFE (MH5E13) 6,594 515
Losses on disposals of property, HEYE BEAREER
plant and equipment (4,406) (224)
Proceeds from disposals HEMEHRIA 2,188 291
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BTSRRI

32 Notes to the consolidated statement of

cash flows (continueq)

(c) Net cash reconciliation

(c) BE&FEHYKR

32 SHBEERERMTE o

Lease
Borrowings liabilities
BE HEASE
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
As at 1 April 2022 W-B-—FmA—Q (26,216) 9,714)
Cash movements: HeEE:
Proceeds from bank borrowings fEﬂ BEMERE (19,494) -
Repayment for bank borrowings ERBIEE 22,898 =
Payment for lease liabilities YNHEEAE - 19,732
Payment for interest expenses TRFERX 705 =
Non-cash movements: HHETE
Termination of leases BRI - 304
Loss on disposal of a subsidiary HE—MBIB AR EE 130 597
Acquisition of leases WEE 4 - (56,560)
Accretion of interest expenses F BRI (705) (785)
Foreign exchange adjustments AN 2 = 27
As at 31 March 2023 R-E-=f£=A=+-8 (22,682) (46,399)
Cash movements: He#
Proceeds from bank borrowings fEmﬁEFﬁ’%?ﬁ( (71,548) =
Repayment for bank borrowings BEBITEE 53,279 -
Payment for lease liabilities XNHEEE - 25,264
Payment for interest expenses IAMERZ 1,289 -
Non-cash movements: HELE
Termination of leases ®IETED - 4,437
Acquisition of leases WAL - (28,288)
Accretion of interest expenses F SR M (1,289) (2,205)
Foreign exchange adjustments SN 7 B - 19
As at 31 March 2024 R-E-mME=A=+—8 (40,951) (47,172)
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32 Notes to the consolidated statement of
cash flows continueq)

(d) Significant non-cash transactions:

Except for the additions of right-of-use assets and lease
liabilities upon commencement of leases, accretion of interest
expense and foreign exchange adjustments, there were no
other significant non-cash transactions during the years ended
31 March 2024 and 20283.

33 Asset acquisitions through acquisition of

a subsidiary

On 1 June 2023, e-banner Limited (“e-banner”), an indirect
non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into a
share purchase agreement with Mr. Li Cham Kuen (“Mr. Li")
and Mr. Lee Wut Chuen (“the Vendors”), pursuant to which
the Vendors agreed to sell and e-banner agreed to purchase
10,000 issued ordinary shares in the share capital of WAB2
Group (HK) Limited (“WAB2”), a limited liability company
incorporated in Hong Kong, presently legally and beneficiary
held by the Vendors, representing 100% of the existing
issued shares of WAB2, and a loan due to Mr. Li at a total
consideration of HK$28,861,000.

The transaction was identified as acquisition of assets and
liabilities which required the cost of acquisition to be allocated
to individual identifiable assets and liabilities of WAB2 on the
basis of their relative fair values at the date of acquisition as
summarised below:

32

(d)

33

BTSRRI

EHRERERMEE o

EXFREXRS:

REBEEZE_MFEFR_FT_=F=
A=+—BLHFEE BREERK
BABETRAEEERBEEASE A
BRI EmMEINEFTEIN HEE
HMERIRERH -

ERWEE —E B D RE
TEEWES

RZEBE-_=ZFA—8 &AQa2zMH
¥ IE2 &K B A Fle-banner Limited
(lTe-banner ] ) BEAZHEL £ ([ZF
EEDRFEREE(TERI)A
VHERBE B BEARELHEM
e-banner[@ E R EWAB2 Group (HK)
Limited ([WAB2]) (—HR BB
MLz BRAR)BRAFERBE

BEE =T A 10,0000 B #17
TAAY (B E RWAB2EE A2 %17
MZ100% ) R ERNFTEEER &
K& £28,861,000/% IT

ZEXRGHEHNABEERABEBEHK
B ABREBRAZREERSHN
HE AR EED B EWAB28 E 7l 7]
BREERAE BEAMENT:

HK$'000
TET

Property, plant and equipment W WBERE& 28,887
Cash and cash equivalents Re kRS EEIEE 30
Other payables H A FE A 5RI8 (56)
Total identifiable net assets at fair value acquired T UWEIZA A BETEMH A5

BEFEHER 28,861
Satisfied by: ATH A
Cash consideration ReRE 28,861
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BT ER R MR

33 FRWE BB RQAE
TEEWE »

WE=E=BE2IBERES>MNAT:

33 Asset acquisitions through acquisition of
a subsidiary (continueq)

An analysis of the cash flows in respect of the acquisition are

as follows:
HK$’000
FHT
Cash consideration HeRE 28,861
Cash and cash equivalents acquired FrfiERe RIREFEIER (30)
Net outflow of cash and cash equivalents FFAREBESGRERECHER
included in cash flows from investing activities ~ IR& HEE R i F5E 28,831

34 BRIEKREER
(a) ERIEEEXEKHHEM

34 Discontinued operation

(a) Description of discontinued operation

On 31 March 2023, E-Boss, an indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, entered into a share purchase
agreement (the “Disposal Agreement”) with an independent
third party, pursuant to which E-Boss agreed to sell and the
independent third party agreed to purchase 4,650,000 issued
ordinary shares in the share capital of Sakura Japan Property
(Hong Kong) Limited (“Sakura Japan”), a limited liability
company incorporated in Hong Kong, presently legally and
beneficiary held by E-Boss, representing 62% of the existing
issued shares of Sakura Japan, at a total consideration of
HK$4,171,000 (the “Disposal”).

Upon the completion of the Disposal on 31 March 2023,
the Company disposed all of its equity interest and cease
its controls in Sakura Japan. As a consequence, the related
financial information of Sakura Japan was classified as
discontinued operation in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income for the year ended 31 March 2023.
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BTSRRI

34 Discontinued operation (continueq 34 BRIEEEER »

(b) The results of discontinued operation are as (b) ERILRKREXEKEBUNT

follows:
2023
—E-=
HK$’000
FExT

Revenue W 25 9,604
Cost of sales SHE KA (4,707)
Gross profit E7 4,897
Other income Ebug A 726
Other gains — net H Wz — 558 3
Selling and distribution expenses HERDHAS (1,832)
Administrative expenses TERAX (5,011)
Operatingloss ... BEEE (1,217)
Finance costs B & A A (10)
Loss before income tax MRATER AT EE (1,227)
Income tax expense Frie A X -
Loss after income tax of discontinued ERUEREXEBRTEHAEE

operation (1,227)
Loss on disposal of a subsidiary HE—HHBRARZEE (1,807)
Loss from discontinued operation ERIEREXEKER (3,034)

2023
—E-=

HK$’000

TET
Operating cash flows KRERSME (1,170)

Investing cash flows KRER®RE 10
Financing cash flows BMERESRE (651)
Total cash flows RenERE (1,811)
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SRR
34 Discontinued operation (coninueq) 34 BRIEREER
(c) Details of disposal of a subsidiary (c) HE—HKHBARNFEE
An analysis on the loss on disposal of a subsidiary is as HE—HNBARIZBESTWT
follows:
2023
HK$’000
FET
Consideration satisfied by: REATHEXEZ A
— Cash consideration —ReNRE 4,171
Less: Net assets disposed of: BT EEEFRE:
Brand name on hE 4 T (1,027)
Goodwil S (5,872)
Property, plant and equipment M BE REHE (135)
Right-of-use assets EREEE (604)
Trade and other receivables B 5 M H bW IR (1,615)
Tax recoverable AU B F I8 (89)
Cash and cash equivalents fﬁ‘i\ MRS EEIEE (629)
Trade payables, other payables and accruals B REMNE IE H R FRIE R
JE T FRIE 3,339
Lease liabilities HEAE 597
Bank borrowings RITEE 130
Deferred tax liabilities ELEIEAE 231
Net assets disposed of P EEEFR (5,674)
Non-controlling interest E (304)
Loss on disposal of a subsidiary HE—HHEBRR/EIE (1,807)
Net cash inflow arising on disposal: HEEANRESREFHE:
Cash consideration received BEWIRERE 1,000
Consideration receivable as at 31 March 2023 RZ-ZE-_=ZF=A=+—HEWKKE 3,171

4,171
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35 Share option scheme

The Company adopted a share option scheme (the “Scheme”)
on 13 November 2013 pursuant to the written resolutions of
the then Shareholders passed on 13 November 2013. The
Scheme is a share incentive scheme and is established to
recognise and acknowledge the contributions of the Eligible
Participants (as defined in the prospectus of the Company
dated 20 November 2013 (the “Prospectus”)) have had or may
have made to the Group. Pursuant to the Scheme, the Board
may, at its discretion, offer to grant an option to subscribe of
new Shares in aggregate not exceeding 30% of the Shares in
issue from time to time.

Pursuant to the Scheme, options were granted by the Group
to eligible employees, including directors of the Company,
to subscribe for shares of the company at pre-determined
exercise price during the exercisable period, as a part of their
remunerations.

49,500,000 share options were granted to the employees
of the Group during the year ended 31 March 2023. The
fair value of share options granted was determined using
the Binomial option pricing model. The fair value of the
share options were approximately HK$17,051,000, and
the Group recognised a share based payment expenses of
HK$17,051,000 during the year ended 31 March 2023.

The assumptions used in estimating the fair value of share
options granted were as follows:

BTSRRI

35 BREE

BEERERER=-_ZE—=F1+—A8
+ZABBEMNEBrAZR AAQF
RZZE—=F+—A+=ZBHEH—
EERERE ([ZErEl)) - %Et 8
B—ERMEBFTE EEEER
RAUAGERL2HEE (EERLART
AfA-ZE—=ZF+—A=+HHKH
BRER([BRER]) )EAEE
EELSKATRE B EH M E R - IRIE
Zag EEgURNBEROBERE
URBHRG BHETEBATKE
BT HI30% °

REZTE AEERNEEREER
(BRARBEST) REBRENLR
ATEREARAEBEE ZTEE
REARR KD FREFHHMN

— 55 -

 E_E_=F=Z=A=+—H 1t
FE 49,500,000 BRES K T
rEBEE-EREBERENRA
BENFERA-_BEXAERECEE
AYUEF - #HE_ST_=ZF=A4
ST+ HBLEFE - BRENAAE
517,051,000 0 A £ B R
% #E 1<t 31 B 2 #917,051,00058 7T °

REAERHBRENRABER
FrAREBRINT

As at

the grant date

REHBEH

Share price IR (E HK$0.79
0.79% 7T

Exercise price ITIEES HK$0.79
0.79% 7T

Expected volatility TEH R 18 103.58%
Risk-free interest rate 2 3 fa 1) & 4.3%
Expected option term (life) TEHARE AR PEHAMR (5 HR) 2
Early exercise behavior RAIITEITR 2.2-2.8
Post-vesting exit rate HEBEmAR 15%
Fair value per share option BhEREZAREE HK$0.332-0.355
0.332%8 L E

0.355/ 7T
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BTSRRI

35 BRESTE

35 Share option scheme (continveq)

The exercise price of the options was determined by the
highest of: (i) the closing price of the shares as stated in the
daily quotation sheet of the Stock Exchange on the offer date,
which must be a trading day; (i) the average closing prices of
the shares as stated in the daily quotation sheets of the Stock
Exchange for the 5 consecutive trading days immediately
preceding the offer date; and (i) the nominal value of the
shares. The risk-free rate was determined with reference to
the yield rate of the Hong Kong Exchange Fund Notes with a
similar to the expected life of the options. The expected life of
the options was the contractual life to maturity of the options.
The expected volatility of the underlying security of the options
was determined based on the historical volatility of the share
prices the Group. The post-vesting exit rate was determined
based on the historical record provided by the management of
the Group.

The Scheme was terminated by the shareholders at the annual
general meeting of the Company held on 22 August 2023
(2023 AGM”). No further options shall be granted under the
Scheme. Outstanding options granted under the Scheme but
not yet exercised shall continue to be valid and exercisable in
accordance with the Scheme.

The following table summarises the movements during the
years ended 31 March 2024 and 31 March 2023:

BRENTEEBRBATSEZE
BEEE: (WOHORENHER(ASR
XPAIRBZAERARERP A
MIRHE: (ROREERENAH
RISEEER 5 ARBXXE B RE
R PRI U B R i) A £
MEE - BRRMET2REERK
REMFHRE BB INEESE
ShaEBE-BRERAFHS
EEBERENIHENSOFH-
BREAEEFNBHREDRE
7R B B B LR IR T B E o 5R
BERREDIREASEEEREM
RENELLHETAEE -

ZiTER—E_=F N \A=-+=H
BTN ARRARRBFRAE ([ZF
TZFRERAFAG]) EABRREK
e ZE T BERTHEBRE -REZ
FFEIREEEMARITENBERES &
BEB - WA REZT ST

TERBHEBEE ST -_MWE=A
=+ —BR-_E-_=F=H=+-—
BIEFEMNEE:

2024
“ECNE

Exercise Exercise
price per No. of share price per No. of share
share HK$ options share HK$ options

=1 Bk

TRER T ER
BT BREHA AT BikES A

Employees EE

At 1 April RIUA—A 0.79 49,500,000 - -
Granted B - - 0.79 49,500,000
Lapsed BRM 0.79 (5,500,000) = =
At 31 March R=ZA=+—H 0.79 44,000,000 0.79 49,500,000
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BTSRRI

35 BRESTE »

RER | RITENBRENED
BHIRITEERDT

35 Share option scheme (continveq)

Share options outstanding at the end of the year have the
following expiry dates and exercise prices:

Closing price

per share
immediately Exercise
before the price per No. of share
Grant date Expiry date date of grant share options
FERH
HEATH =34
RHAH J& 5% B & sRKTE TEER BREHA
HK$ HK$
BT BT
16 December 2022 16 December 2024 0.64 0.79 49,500,000
—E--F+=-A+~B Z—TE-WFE+=-A+<AH
At 31 March 2024 44,000,000
RZFE-—_MF=A=+—H
At 31 March 2023 49,500,000

R-F-=%=A=+—"

At the 2023 AGM, the shareholders approved the adoption
of the new share option scheme (the “New Share Option
Scheme”) to enable the Group to grant options to the eligible
participants as incentives or rewards for their contribution
to the Group; to attract and retain personnel to promote
the sustainable development of the Group; and to align the
interest of the grantees with those of the shareholders of the
Company to promote the long-term financial and business
performance of the Company. The New Share Option Scheme
was adopted on 24 August 2023, being the date on which
the New Share Option Scheme becomes unconditional, and
the number of options available for grant under the scheme
mandate is 55,000,000 new shares.

RZE-_ZFREFRFRE L K
R ERMFT R ET S ([FER
i E]) SARKEEAREERKZ
HERLERE ERAREFHASE
EFEE RN B O R ARS
BB AT REAEBEHN]FE
BER OUARFEARANFZERD
AIREMFE B REARFHN
RH R EBHRIR - FERET
R —_FE-_=ZFNA=-+mITA (A
FEREFEXNAEKYE AR
Mo RBE BB R DA R E
# B A55,000,000 0 # I 1D -
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BTSRRI

36

37

238

Commitments

Capital commitment

Capital expenditure contracted for at the end of the year but
not yet incurred is as follows:

36

3
BAREE

ERDIHEHRELENEARY
mT

2024 2023

—E-ImF —E=F

HK$’000 HK$’000

FExT FAET

Property, plant and equipment Y BB MR 9,525 =
Related party transactions 37 BERRS

Parties are considered to be related to the Group if the party
has the ability, directly or indirectly, to exercise control or
significant influence over the Group in making financial and
operating decisions, or vice versa. Related parties may be
individuals (being members of key management personnel,
significant shareholders and/or their close family members)
or other entities and include entities which are under the
significant influence of related parties of the Group where
those parties are individuals. Parties are also considered to be
related if they are subject to common control.

The directors of the Company are of the view that the
following individuals and companies were related parties that
had transactions or balances with the Group:

Name of related party

MELEH

RASEERER

ME—FTAEERIMEEELNB
REERRBRETHAEEITHEE
BEXERAZED ANEZTEN
SEAMEE RZNR-BEITAR
AAMNEZEEEAR TEHRR
R/RBEERERREKE) S E
MEER BREIXHSEANKNEE
MESTEAFENER- %%HE
B R BT TR BB B

ARREEFRL TIHEARRT
RBEAEBETXHAFTELEH
MRED

Relationship with the Group

Mr. She Siu Kee William

SBELE MITESKER

Mr. Chong Cheuk Ki Executive Director
HeEBEE HITES

Mr. Leung Wai Ming Non-executive Director
RERLAE FNTES

Mr. Poon Chun Wai Non-executive Director
BB FNTES

Mr. Ma Siu Kit Non-executive Director
BIKAREE FHITES
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37 Related party transactions (continueq)

Name of related party

BESEHE

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BTSRRI

37 BERRS =

Relationship with the Group
B A K BRR

Mr. Fu Chung
BREE

Ms. Yu Mei Hung
REALZ L

Mr. Chan Kong Hung Chris
PSR el 2 52 A

Mr. Foo Pei Pan
B &

Mr. Cheng Sze Tok
B EERLE

CTP Limited

e-print Solutions Sdn. Bhd.

eprint Limited

King Profit International Limited
ZHBEREFRA A

Protoss IT Sdn Bhd

Profit More Rich Limited
BEZHRAA

Promise Properties Limited

ReBMEFRAA

E-Post Limited

Non-executive Director

FRITES

Non-executive Director

FBITES

The then non-controlling interests of a subsidiary of the Group
AEBEHBRARERIEERERIFTAA

Non-controlling interests of a subsidiary of the Group
AEEMBRARFERESERA

Non-controlling interests of a subsidiary of the Group
AEEMBRARFERESERA

Controlled by the directors of the Company
AR A EFE

Joint venture of the subsidiary of the Group
AEEMBRARINEGERE

Ultimate holding company (Note i)
AR AT (MEE)

Controlled by the directors of the Company
AR A E S

Controlled by a joint venture of the Group
HASES &

Controlled by the directors of the Company
B AR B E BT

Controlled by the directors of the Company
AR A E R

The then associate of the subsidiary of the Group
AEEFBAREHNBEAT
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Xty e e b
37 Related party transactions (continueq 37 BEARS «

Name of related party Relationship with the Group

BEFER PN ] RES

VVV Limited Controlled by the directors of the Company

HARARE S

Top Success Investment Group Limited Joint venture of the subsidiary of the Group

T RBEREERER AT REBBRARIMNEEDE

Top Success Investment (Hong Kong)  Joint venture of the subsidiary of the Group

Limited

A SEBREE(FB)ERAF REBBRARIMNEGEDE

Step Wise Limited Associate of the subsidiary of the Group

REBFRAA REBMB QRN E AT

Kimley (HK) Limited Controlled by the spouse of a director of the Company

RER(BEB)BERAT BARAEFHNER B

Note: Bt 5
i. The Company is controlled by eprint Limited, which owns 56.9% of the i, A feprint Limited?s fl] o )X — & — 1Y

Company’s shares as at 31 March 2024 and 2023, and is beneficially FR-ZZFZ=F=ZHA=+—H eprint
owned by Mr. She Siu Kee Wiliam, Mr. Chong Cheuk Ki, Mr. Lam Limited# B A A 8 256.9%M% 17 + W A&
Shing Kai, Mr. Leung Wai Ming, and Mr. Leung Yat Pang. The directors BESE FEaHEE MEEEE R
consider eprint Limited, a company incorporated in the BVI, being the FHEERR - BEEERHEE -EF
immediate and the ultimate holding company. 2 Aeprint Limited (R EBE 2 B &5

B2 RR)) REERREZERAF
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BTSRRI

37 BEFRS
(a) HEBEEFNRS
AREBEBAEHDHETUTR S

37 Related party transactions (continueq)

(@) Transactions with related parties

The following transactions were undertaken by the Group with

related parties. In the opinion of the directors of the Company, x

the related party transactions were carried out in the normal
course of business and at terms negotiated between the
Group and the respective related parties.

Rental expense of plants and machinery, E{JskE TR BB HEE &

premises, stores and carparks in
Hong Kong payable or paid

s BEPT B RIFES
HEMX

RAEER/ BEIRXRSIRNLE
FEBBRETEASEESHEES
7 TE B IR FRETT o

2024 2023
—E-OF —ET_=
HK$’000
FH T

HK$’000
FTRET

— CTP Limited — CTP Limited 5,429 4,886
— Profit More Rich Limited —RBEZABRAA 642 608
— Promise Properties Limited —RERYERR QA 1,875 1,507
- VVV Limited — VVV Limited 2,605 1,866
- King Profit International Limited — ZEFEEREBR AR 800 760
11,351 9,627
Emolument payable or paid JE 15 5 B 1 37 B
— Mr. Chan Kong Hung Chris — R W) 2 S A 535 848
— Mr. Foo Pei Pan — BER A 1,799 1,124
— Mr. Cheng Sze Tok —EBEEAE 875 830
3,209 2,802
|.T. license fee income receivable or FEUR S B Y E AR F A
received EHECIE=3ON
— e-print Solutions Sdn. Bhd. — e-print Solutions Sdn. Bhd. 102 106
Subcontracting fee payable or paid e BEA
— Protoss IT Sdn. Bhd. — Protoss IT Sdn. Bhd. 10 6
Revenue from sales of goods and FEWsSBEWHEEER R
services receivable or received R 75 W 2=
— Protoss IT Sdn. Bhd. — Protoss IT Sdn. Bhd. 2,013 1,998
— E-Post Limited — E-Post Limited - 37
2,013 2,035
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Xty e e b
37 Related party transactions (continueq 37 BEIRS
(a) Transactions with related parties (continueq) (a) HEBREFNRS (#)

2024 2023
—B-mE ==

HK$’000 HK$'000
FTERT THET

Interest income from other financial JE UG B B Wi i S K AN B BR 2
assets at amortised costs receivable or  E & @& E 2 2 WA

received
— Top Success Investment (Hong Kong) — b5 RERIEE (FH)
Limited BRAA] 1,800 1,800
— E-Post Limited — E-Post Limited - 305
— Step Wise Limited — REBRAA - 23
1,800 2,128
Dividend income receivable or received & Y sk = U A% B Uk A
— Top Success Investment Group — It REREEERERAA
Limited - 1,000
Service fee payable or paid RS E R E
— E-Post Limited — E-Post Limited - 106
— Step Wise Limited —REBERAA - 39
- 145
Purchase of property, plant and HWEWE BEREHE
equipment
- Kimley (HK) Limited —RE&ER (HE)BRRAF 1,000 =
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B ISR
37 Related party transactions (continueq 37 BEARXS =
(b) Key management compensation (b) TEEBEAESFHMH
Details of the key management compensation are disclosed in TEEBABTFM oFBEERW

Note 39. ¥39 ¢

(c) Guarantees and securities provided by related (c) BEFFIREHERIEA
parties

Guarantees and securities provided by related parties for BEAGEE (Hiad2) kHEAE
borrowings (Note 29) and lease liabilities (Note 14) were as (MIzE14) FTiR B R AT 0T -
follows:

2024 2023
—E-EF —E-=F

HK$’000 HK$’000
FEx TR

Guarantees provided by a director of MASE—EHRBARZ
a subsidiary of the Group EERHER 35,500 35,500
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BTSRRI

37 BERFRS »
(d) EEREE F & 8%

37 Related party transactions (continueq)

(d) Balances with related parties

2024 2023
—B-mE ==

HK$’000 HK$'000
FTERT THET

Amounts due from related companies:  FEUL B8 & A &) A -

(Notes i, ii and iii) (B 7 ~ i Reii )
e-print Solutions Sdn. Bhd. e-print Solutions Sdn. Bhd. 16 26
Protoss IT Sdn. Bhd. Protoss IT Sdn. Bhd. 312 351
328 377
Other financial assets at amortised costs: & # #4551 8 2 E & &b
(Note 23) BE: (M:E23)
Top Success Investment (Hong Kong) 1t REREE (FH)BR
Limited /NS 29,576 27,832
Amounts due to directors: ERTE B RIE
Mr. She Siu Kee, William REBEFLAE 28 32
Mr. Chong Cheuk Ki AR AEA 20 20
Mr. Leung Wai Ming REREE 20 20
Mr. Poon Chun Wai EIRE A& 20 20
Mr. Ma Siu Kit BIRAREE 20 20
Mr. Fu Chung (8 e 20 20
Ms.Yu Mei Hung REALZL 20 =
148 132
Lease liabilities: MEAE:
CTP Limited CTP Limited 10,244 13,688
Profit More Rich Limited B=%HBRAF 1,230 1,809
Promise Properties Limited RERMERR AT 3,593 5,281
VWV Limited VVV Limited 4,993 7,340
King Profit International Limited EF BB ER A A 1,534 2,255
21,594 30,373
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(d) Balances with related parties (continuea)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B O ERR I T

37 BEARXRF
(d) EEREE R &8k (&)

Notes:

(i)

(i

(i)

(V)

The above balances with related parties are unsecured, interest-free
and are repayable on demand. The carrying amounts of these balances
approximate their fair values.

For amounts due from related parties, the Group applies the HKFRS 9
general approach to measure expected credit losses which uses a
3-stage model to measure loss allowance.

As at 31 March 2024 and 2023, management considered that the
expected credit loss for intercompany receivables was immaterial, thus
no loss allowance was made.

The amounts due from related companies do not contain impaired
assets. The Company does not hold any collateral as security.

The above related party balances with related parties are denominated
in Hong Kong dollars.

(i

(i)

(v)

tREREETEENAESHRAERER 2
BORAREFEER ZEEARNREER
H

HRELBESFEME AKEARAE
RIS R F —RITAFT R
EEEE HRA-BRENAEEE
B

R -—_MER-_E_=F=A=+—
B BEERBA R MEERKIERNTES
FEEBBIYTERN B RELEBEE
e

BREEARRETBEREEE K
REAWEFSEEAEIRRIERER -

ik SR T TR B KB LA T
st

2023/24 3R  eprint EEERAT 245



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BTSRRI

38 Statement of financial position and 38 AR BEMRRREFHEE
reserve movement of the Company S E
Statement of financial position of the Company PNUNETEE B 37 O
2024 2023
—E-NE —E-—4F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET T T
Assets BE
Non-current assets EMENEE
Investments in subsidiaries  RKMERFEMESE 73,897 73897
Current assets REBEE
Prepayments and other receivables T8 3k 18 & H b & Iz 18 187 219
Current income tax receivable JEU Z BRFT ISR - 177
Financial assets at fair value BREBREAREBEIERZ
through profit or loss TRMEE 6,336 12,890
Amounts due from subsidiaries JE U B BB A B FRIE 151,945 141,947
Cash and cash equivalents BeMB2EFEMEER 2,514 4,513
... 160982 159,746
Total assets EEMEE 234,879 233,643
Equity R
Equity attributable to owners of AAaER AE(LER
the Company
Share capital A& A< 5,500 5,500
Share premium f&fnimE 132,921 132,921
Other reserves H & a 95,638 94,366
Totalequity #=®® 23408 232,787
Liabilities aE
Current liabilities mEBE
Accruals FEET B 454 728
Amounts due to directors BN ZEEFIB 148 128
Current income tax payable FERTE BRFTIB R 218 -
Total liabilites ~~~~ &f®® 820 . . 856
Total equity and liabilities ERRAEBEARE 234,879 233,643

246 eprint Group Limited Annual Report 2023/24



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B ISR

38 Statement of financial position and 38 AR MBMRRARKFHE

reserve movement of the Company B85

(Continued)

Statement of financial position of the Company KRB HBERRE &)

(Continued)

Note: Bt 5

(@)  Reserve movements of the Company (@ ARARREBESD

Share based

Capital payment Retained
reserve reserve earnings Total
EXf#EE RESRKRE REZR st
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FHET FHT FHET
At 1 April 2022 RZZE-_—FMA—AH 73,508 - 22,147 95,655
Loss for the year FREE - - (13,390) (13,390)
Share based payment &4 <t SR BA S (P RE35)
expenses (Note 35) - 17,051 - 17,051
Dividends (Note 31) g 2 (HIFE31) - - (4,950) (4,950)
At 31 March 2023 and RZEZ=%F
1 April 2023 =A=+—8K
—EZ=FMA—H 73,508 17,051 3,807 94,366
Profit for the year F 75 A - - 1,272 1,272
Transfer upon lapse of share 7 B I 7 25 20 i &3 3%
options - (1,950) 1,950 -
At 31 March 2024 RZZTZmEF
—A=+—8H 73,508 15,101 7,029 95,638
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BTSRRI

39 Benefits and interests of directors 39 EEREmRER
(a) Directors’ emoluments (a) E=EFHH
Mr. She Siu Kee William is the chief executive officer of the RBEEERBAEBHNITRER
Group. The emoluments of each director of the Company for AARBE_T_NF=A=+—
the year ended 31 March 2024 is set out as below. BIEFESES2HMEINDAT-
Other
emoluments
paid or receivable
in respect of
director's
other services in
connection with
the management
Employer's of the affairs of
Allowances contribution to the Company or
Performance and benefits a retirement Share-based its subsidiary
Salaries bonuses inkind  benefit scheme payments undertaking
RESEE
LCERL] |
AIEHZEN
BEWER EERHEEAD
e RARAL  REREYEN RAHEMR RENT  BUNEBHE @it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
ThR ThR TER TET TR Thx ThR
Executive Directors #iEs
M. She Siu Kee Wikam ApEEE 330 4020 3% g 18 5 = 4703
M. Chong Cheuk Ki Helts 2%0 20 100 - 18 - - 1,078
Non-executive Director FES
M. Leung Wi Ming 2EHEE 24) 720 % e 18 e e 1,003
Independent Non-executive ~ BUFHTES
Directors
M. Poon Chun Wai EREE %0 - - - - - - 20
Mr. Ma Siu Kit Y Gy 240 - - - - - - 240
M. Fu Chung fERkE 240 - - - - - - 240
Ms. Yu Mei Hung FEORL 180 - - - - - - 180

1,710 5,460 460 o 54 = 0 7,684
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BTSRRI

39 Benefits and interests of directors conineg 39 EEFIHZ R EZ

(a) Directors’ emoluments (continueq) (a) EEHM »
Mr. She Siu Kee William is the chief executive officer of the RBELEERAEBNITHAH -
Group. The emoluments of each director of the Company for AARBE_ZTE_=Z=F=AH=+—
the year ended 31 March 2023 is set out as below. HIEFESES2HMEINBAT -

QOther

emoluments

paid or receivable

in respect of

director’s other

services in

connection with

the management

Employer's of the affairs of

Alowances contribution to the Gompany or

Performance and benefits arefirement Share-based its subsicliary
Salaries bonuses in kind benefit scheme payments {

2K b ; &l
HKS 000 HK§ 000
T T T
Executive Directors #7Es
M. She Siu Kes Wiiam AREEE 385 3120 2% s 18 = = 3,758
Mr. Chong Cheuk Ki EenEs 280 1,020 80 - 18 - - 1,398
Non-executive Director FunEs
M Leung Wai Ming RS 280 300 - - 3 - - 583
Independent Non-executive ~ BUFHTES
Directors
M Poon Chun Wai ERAEE 240 - - - - - - 20
M. Ma S Kit EkAEE 2% = = s = = = 2%
Mr. Fu Chung fBRkE 240 - - - - - - 2%0
1,665 4440 315 s % = = 6,459
No directors waived or agreed to waive any emoluments in HE_ZT-_NFR-ZZTZ=F=A1
any of the years ended 31 March 2024 and 2023. =+t BLEERAFE BEESFK

RAREBHEETAME -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
BTSRRI T

39 Benefits and interests of directors continued)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

Directors’ retirement benefits and termination
benefits

No Directors’ retirement benefits or termination benefits were
paid during the years ended 31 March 2024 and 2023.

Consideration provided to third parties for
making available Directors’ services

The Company did not pay consideration to any third parties
for making available Directors’ services during the years ended
31 March 2024 and 2023.

Information about loans, quasi-loans and other
dealings in favour of Directors, controlled bodies
corporate by and connected entities with such
Directors

Save as disclosed in Note 37(d), no loans, quasi-loans and
other dealings were made available in favour of Directors,
body corporates controlled by and connected entities with
such Directors subsisted at the end of the year or at any time
during the years ended 31 March 2024 and 2023.

Directors’ material interests in transactions,
arrangements or contracts

No significant transactions, arrangements and contracts in
relation to the Group’s business to which the Company was a
party and in which a director of the Company had a material
interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of
the year or at any time during the year (2023: Nil).
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40

41

4141

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Subsequent events

On 17 May 2024, the Group entered into a shareholder
agreement with the shareholders of Top Success Investment
Group Limited (“Top Success BVI”) in which the Group
and the shareholders agreed to subscribe for 290,000 and
70,000 new shares in Top Success BVI at the consideration
of HK$14,500,000 and HK$3,500,000, respectively. Upon
completion of the share subscription, Top Success BVI is held
as to 77.5% by the Group and Top Success BVI becomes a
non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Company.

In April 2024, the Group entered into a purchase agreement
with an independent third party (“the Vendor”) pursuant to
which the Group agreed to acquire a property in Hong Kong
from the Vendor at the total consideration of HK$10,404,000.

Summary of other potentially material
accounting policies

This note provides a list of other potentially material
accounting policies adopted in the preparation of these
consolidated financial statements. These policies have
been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless
otherwise stated. The consolidated financial statements are
for the Group consisting of the Company and its subsidiaries.

Associates

Associates are entities over which the Group has significant
influence but not control, generally accompanying a
shareholding of between 20% and 50% of the voting
rights. Investments in associate are accounted for using the
equity method of accounting. Under the equity method, the
investment is initially recognised at cost, and the carrying
amount is increased or decreased to recognise the investor’s
share of the profit and loss of the investee after the date of
acquisition. The Group’s investments in associate include
goodwill identified on acquisition. Upon the acquisition of
the ownership interest in associate, any difference between
the cost of the associate and the Group’s share of the net
fair value of the associate’ identifiable assets and liabilities is
accounted for as goodwill.

If the ownership interest in associate is reduced but significant
influence is retained, only a proportionate share of the
amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive
income is reclassified to profit and loss where appropriate.

41

411

B O ERR I T

H&ER

R-ZE-_WNFRA++H AEE
HAbHFREREEERBR AR (18
BREE|)VRETLBRERZ B
A EBERERED BUARE
14,500,000/% 7t 5&3,500,000/% 7T 7R
#£290,000/% K2 70,0000% & B 4% & 1
fEn - IRIR D RBEME  BREE
MAREEHB77.5%E BESKE
BRBARRIFEZENBAR -

EA_?_EEP_TIH CAREEEBTE
=H(IERT L BEBEmE Btk
$$lﬁﬁméﬁﬁgfﬁﬁ#%
BHI Y BRE /10,404,000
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B PTRRSRaRT T
41 Summary of other potentially material

411

252

accounting policies (continueo)

Associates (continuea)

The Group’s share of post-acquisition profit or loss is
recognised in the profit and loss, and its share of post-
acquisition movements in other comprehensive income
is recognised in other comprehensive income with a
corresponding adjustment to the carrying amount of the
investment. When the Group’s share of losses in associate
equals or exceeds its interest in the associate, including any
other unsecured receivables, the Group does not recognise
further losses, unless it has incurred legal or constructive
obligations or made payments on behalf of the associate.

The Group determines at each reporting date whether there is
any objective evidence that the investments in the associate
are impaired. If this is the case, the Group calculates
the amount of impairment as the difference between the
recoverable amount of the associate and its carrying value
and recognises the amount adjacent to ‘share of losses of
associates’ in the profit and loss.

Profits and losses resulting from upstream and downstream
transactions between the Group and its associates are
recognised in the Group’s consolidated financial statements
only to the extent of unrelated investor’s interests in the
associates. Unrealised losses are eliminated unless the
transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the asset
transferred. Accounting policies of associates have been
changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the
policies adopted by the Group.

eprint Group Limited Annual Report 2023/24
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

41 Summary of other potentially material
accounting policies (continueq)

41.2 Foreign currency translation

(a)

(b)

Functional and presentation currency

[tems included in the financial statements of each of
the Group’s entities are measured using the currency of
the primary economic environment in which the Group
operates (the “functional currency”). The consolidated
financial statements are presented in Hong Kong
dollars, which is the Group’s functional and presentation
currency.

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the
functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing
at the dates of the transactions or valuation where items
are re-measured. Foreign exchange gains and losses
resulting from the settlement of such transactions and
from the translation at year-end exchange rates of
monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are recognised in the profit and loss.

Foreign exchange gains and losses that relate to
borrowings and cash and cash equivalents are presented
in the profit and loss. All other foreign exchange gains
and losses are presented in profit and loss within ‘other
losses — net’.
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BRI HRRME

41 Summary of other potentially material
accounting policies (continueo)

41.2 Foreign currency translation (continued)

(c)

(d)

Group companies

The results and financial position of all the Group entities
(none of which has the currency of a hyper-inflationary
economy) that have a functional currency different
from the presentation currency are translated into the
presentation currency as follows:

() assets and liabilities for each consolidated
statement of financial position presented are
translated at the closing rate at the reporting date;

(i) income and expenses for each profit and loss
are translated at average exchange rates (unless
this average is not a reasonable approximation
of the cumulative effect of the rates prevailing on
the transaction dates, in which case income and
expenses are translated at the rate on the dates of
the transactions); and

(i) all resulting exchange differences are recognised in
other comprehensive income.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from
the translation of any net investment in foreign entities
are recognised in other comprehensive income. When
a foreign operation is sold or any borrowings forming
part of the net investment are repaid, the associated
exchange differences are reclassified to profit and loss,
as part of the gain or loss on sale.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the
acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets
and liabilities of the foreign entity and translated at the
closing rate. Current translation differences arising are
recognised in other comprehensive income.

Closure of foreign operation

On the closure of a foreign operation that involving loss
of significant influence over an associate that includes
a foreign operation, all of the currency translation
differences accumulated in equity in respect of that
operation attributable to the owners of the Company are
reclassified to profit and loss.

254 eprint Group Limited Annual Report 2023/24

Hih Al g E R ST BURHE
B

4.2 HhEBRE ()

(c)

(d)

EELQF

DEE R E2EE TR Z A
EKEIAL(Q%E S B =
RERBREERBZER)Z
EE RN B IRIAT IR
BERENNEE:

() BAaHMBRARKRZENZ
BEMABEHOUREEH
Z W R

(i) BEZZWARRIRYF
BE R E (BRIFFHE
RUHEAMR S BHR
TEXRBZENGELY
goRNZBERATN BAR
X RN 5 B E X
BmE) R

(iif) %ﬁ%ﬁ%i%%%&ﬁ
4R A U 2 P ERR

REE FAREHNERZ
BREFRARELNE S =]
RE M &S das iR - i b
SR EBRERTABEBRER
BEFRARLOWEE B
EREREMOBMBEAR F
REFERIN -

WEBINERMELANEER
AR EBEEABYEREINER
MEBEERAE WKW THEX
ﬁ* ?E%%Eﬂ%ﬁ\ﬁ
fil 7 & Was P HERR

B BRI 1R S SR 35

KBRS R REHBSHEINE
BLBMERRBEATE NN
BINRGE  E#Em AN EZIA
EBHEBAYRBRARBHEAR
AZFTBERFTELZRHERN

/_\*E2K$§/\o



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

41 Summary of other potentially material
accounting policies (continueq)

41.3 Intangible assets

(a)

(b)

Goodwill

Goodwill arises on the acquisition of subsidiaries
represents the excess of the consideration transferred,
the amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree
and the acquisition-date fair value of any previous equity
interest in the acquiree over the fair value of the identified
net assets acquired.

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired
in a business combination is allocated to each of the
cash-generating units (“CGUs”), or groups of CGUs,
that is expected to benefit from the synergies of the
combination. Each unit or group of units to which the
goodwill is allocated represents the lowest level within
the entity at which the goodwill is monitored for internal
management purposes. Goodwill is monitored at the
operating segment level.

Goodwill impairment reviews are undertaken annually or
more frequently if events or changes in circumstances
indicate a potential impairment. The carrying value of
the CGU containing the goodwill is compared to the
recoverable amount, which is the higher of value in use
and the fair value less costs of disposal. Any impairment
is recognized immediately as an expense and is not
subsequently reversed.

Brand name
Brand name acquired in a business combination is

recognized at fair value at the acquisition date. It has a
finite useful life of 5 years.

HtAseERE
Em

B O ERR I T

TR AR

7=

MIEBETEE

(a)

(b)

2023/24 F3R eprint EEER AT

BmE

WEMBRAREE ZEEEM
BRERAE RREBDZEM
FEVE Mt 2 & B AT A R AT IO
BT 2 RARa RN KR
Hi 2 A (BB i 8 P B AT 3
BREEFEZAREBENER

%ﬁ@ﬂﬁﬁ?’#ﬁAﬁ%
ESHNEEEIEEBEHEX
é%éﬁ%ﬂ&ﬁmxﬁiﬁ
B ([ReEEEMN])HR
CESBMMAR -HEFDE
MEBEMNREMNARNAEE
FTAXEEENMEETHEY
Eﬁﬁm BETIREE D EB
REITEER ©

BMESFETRERS HE
BEEHHBRKXBANERTRA
REHRBMER FHERER
B ERRBLREELEN
FREESRTKOSEIELER.
AREmBEREREERAA
BEERLERANKSE -E
MR ENRER AR BX
BAEED-

fm b R
REHBAHTEBOmEZHE

REBEEBMNRABERER-
HERAEAFHRF -

255



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B ERR MR

41

41.4

41.5

Summary of other potentially material
accounting policies (continueo)

Impairment of non-financial assets

Intangible assets that have an indefinite useful life or intangible
assets not ready to use are not subject to amortisation and
are tested annually for impairment. Assets that are subject to
amortisation are reviewed for impairment whenever events or
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount
may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for
the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its
recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of
an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in use. For the
purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the
lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable cash
flows (cash-generating units). Non-financial assets other than
goodwill that suffered an impairment are reviewed for possible
reversal of the impairment at each reporting date.

Investments and other financial assets

(a) Classification

The Group classifies its financial assets and liabilities in
the following categories:

o those to be measured subsequently at fair value
through profit or loss, and

° those to be measured at amortised cost.

The classification depends on the entity’s business model
for managing the financial assets and the contractual
terms of the cash flows.

For assets measured at fair value, gains and losses will
be recorded in profit and loss.

The Group reclassifies debt investments when and only
when its business model for managing those assets
changes.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

41 Summary of other potentially material
accounting policies (continueq)

41.5 Investments and other financial assets (continueq)

(b)

(c)

Recognition and derecognition

Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are
recognised on the trade-date — the date on which the
Group commits to purchase or sell the asset. Financial
assets are derecognised when the rights to receive cash
flows from the investments have expired or have been
transferred and the Group has transferred substantially
all risks and rewards of ownership.

Measurement

At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial
asset at its fair value plus, in the case of a financial
asset not at fair value through profit or loss, transaction
costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition of
the financial asset. Transaction costs of financial assets
carried at fair value through profit or loss are expensed in
profit and loss.

Financial assets with embedded derivatives are
considered in their entirety when determining whether
their cash flows are solely payment of principal and
interest.

Debt instruments

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments depends
on the Group’s business model for managing the asset
and the cash flow characteristics of the asset. There
are two measurement categories into which the Group
classifies its debt instruments:

° Amortised cost: Assets that are held for collection
of contractual cash flows where those cash flows
represent solely payments of principal and interest
are measured at amortised cost. Interest income
from these financial assets is included in finance
income using the effective interest rate method. Any
gain or loss arising on derecognition is recognised
directly in profit and loss and presented in ‘other
losses — net’ together with foreign exchange gains
and losses. Impairment losses are presented as
separate line item in profit and loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
BTSRRI T

41 Summary of other potentially material
accounting policies (continueo)

41.5 Investments and other financial assets (continueq)

(c)

Measurement (Continued)
Debt instruments (Continued)

° Fair value through profit or loss: Assets that do not
meet the criteria for amortised cost or fair value
through other comprehensive income are measured
at fair value through profit or loss. A gain or loss on
a debt investment that is subsequently measured
at fair value through profit or loss is recognised
in profit and loss and presented net within ‘other
losses — net’ in the period in which it arises.

Equity instruments

The Group subsequently measures all equity investments
at fair value. Where the Group’s management has
elected to present fair value gains and losses on equity
investments in other comprehensive income, there is
no subsequent reclassification of fair value gains and
losses to profit or loss following the derecognition of the
investment. Dividends from such investments continue to
be recognised in profit or loss as other income when the
Group’s right to receive payments is established.

Changes in the fair value of financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss are recognised in ‘other losses —
net’ in the profit and loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

41 Summary of other potentially material
accounting policies (continueq)

41.5 Investments and other financial assets (continueq)

(d)

Impairment

The Group assesses on a forward looking basis
the expected credit losses associated with its debt
instruments carried at amortised cost. The impairment
methodology applied depends on whether there has
been a significant increase in credit risk.

For trade receivables, the Group applies the simplified
approach permitted by HKFRS 9, which requires
expected lifetime losses to be recognised from initial
recognition of the receivables, see Note 3.1(b) for further
details.

For other financial assets at amortised cost, including
cash and cash equivalents, deposits and other
receivables, other financial assets at amortised cost, and
amounts due from related companies, the Group applies
general approach permitted by HKFRS 9, which uses
3-stage expected credit loss model to recognise the loss
allowance from initial recognition. See Note 3.1(b) for
details.

For financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, are
not subject to review for impairment as the impairment
losses would include in the fair value changes and
recognised in “other losses — net” in the profit and loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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Summary of other potentially material
accounting policies (continueo)

Offsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount
reported in the statement of financial position when there is
a legally enforceable right to offset the recognised amounts
and there is an intention to settle on a net basis or realise
the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. The legally
enforceable right must not be contingent on future events and
must be enforceable in the normal course of business and in
the event of default, insolvency or bankruptcy of the company
or the counterparty.

Current and deferred income tax

The income tax expense or credit for the period is the tax
payable on the current period’s taxable income based on the
applicable income tax rate for each jurisdiction adjusted by
changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities attributable to
temporary differences and to unused tax losses.

(@) Current income tax

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis
of the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at the
year end date in the countries where the Company’s
subsidiaries, an associate and joint ventures operate
and generate taxable income. Management periodically
evaluates positions taken in tax returns with respect to
situations in which applicable tax regulation is subject to
interpretation. It establishes provisions where appropriate
on the basis of amounts expected to be paid to the tax
authorities.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

41 Summary of other potentially material
accounting policies (continueq)

41.7 Current and deferred income tax (continued)

(b)

Deferred income tax

Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the liability
method, on temporary differences arising between the
tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying
amounts in the consolidated financial statements.
However, deferred tax liabilities are not recognised if they
arise from the initial recognition of goodwill. Deferred
income tax is also not accounted for if it arises from
initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction
other than a business combination that at the time of the
transaction affects neither accounting nor taxable profit
or loss. Deferred income tax is determined using tax
rates (and laws) that have been enacted or substantially
enacted by the end of the reporting period and are
expected to apply when the related deferred income tax
asset is realised or the deferred income tax liability is
settled.

Deferred tax assets are recognised only if it is probable
that future taxable amounts will be available to utilise
those temporary differences and losses.

Deferred tax liabilities and assets are not recognised for
temporary differences between the carrying amount and
tax bases of investments in foreign operations where
the company is able to control the timing of the reversal
of the temporary differences and it is probable that the
differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset
when there is a legally enforceable right to offset current
tax assets against current tax liabilities and when the
deferred income taxes assets and liabilities relate to
income taxes levied by the same taxation authority
on either the taxable entity or different taxable entities
where there is an intention to settle the balances on a
net basis or to realise the asset and settle the liability
simultaneously.

Current and deferred tax is recognised in profit and loss,
except to the extent that it relates to items recognised in
other comprehensive income or directly in equity. In this
case, the tax is also recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity, respectively.
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Summary of other potentially material
accounting policies (continueo)

Provisions

Provisions for legal claims are recognised when: the Group
has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of
past events; it is probable that an outflow of resources will
be required to settle the obligation; and the amount has been
reliably estimated. Provisions are not recognised for future
operating losses.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood
that an outflow will be required in settlement is determined by
considering the class of obligations as a whole. A provision is
recognised even if the likelihood of an outflow with respect to
any one item included in the same class of obligations may be
small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of the
expenditures expected to be required to settle the obligation
using a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments
of the time value of money and the risks specific to the
obligation. The increase in the provision due to passage of
time is recognised as interest expense.

Financial guarantee contracts

Financial guarantee contracts are recognised as a financial
liability at the time the guarantee is issued. The liability is
initially measured at fair value and subsequently at the higher
of

° the amount determined in accordance with the expected
credit loss model under HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments
and

U the amount initially recognised less, where appropriate,
the cumulative amount of income recognised in
accordance with the principles of HKFRS 15 Revenue
from Contracts with Customers.

The fair value of financial guarantees is determined based on
the present value of the difference in cash flows between the
contractual payments required under the debt instrument and
the payments that would be required without the guarantee,
or the estimated amount that would be payable to a third
party for assuming the obligations.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

41 Summary of other potentially material
accounting policies (continued)

41.9 Financial guarantee contracts (continued)

Where guarantees in relation to loans or other payables of an
associate are provided for no compensation, the fair values
are accounted for as contributions and recognised as part of
the cost of the investment.

41,10 Dividend distribution

Dividend distribution to the Company’s shareholders
is recognised as a liability in the Group’s consolidated
financial statements in the period in which the dividends are
approved by the Company’s shareholders or directors, where
appropriate.

41.11 Loss per share

(a) Basic loss per share

Basic loss per share is calculated by dividing the loss
attributable to owners of the Company, excluding any
costs of servicing equity other than ordinary shares
by the weighted average number of ordinary shares
outstanding during the financial year, adjusted for bonus
elements in ordinary shares issued during the year.

(b) Diluted loss per share

Diluted loss per share adjusts the figures used in the
determination of basic loss per share to take into
account the after-income tax effect of interest and other
financing costs associated with dilutive potential ordinary
shares, and the weighted average number of additional
ordinary shares that would have been outstanding
assuming the conversion of all dilutive potential ordinary
shares.

41.12 Government grants

Grants from the government are recognised at their fair
value where there is a reasonable assurance that the grant
will be received and the Group will comply with all attached
conditions.

Government grants relating to costs are deferred and
recognised in the profit and loss over the period necessary
to match them with the costs that they are intended to
compensate.
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Five-year Financial Summary

T FHEBE

2024 2023 2022 2021 240210]
—ECOmF —T-=F z —F-FTF
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHET FH&ET FH&T FHET
Results E4
Year ended 31 March EHZ=HA=+—H
IHEE
(Loss)/profit attributable AR BHEZFEHA A
to equity holders of fEfh (EE)
the Company 3 F (8,306)  (14,243) 2,097 19,009 5,688

Assets and liabilites ZBERA®S

As at 31 March MR=A=+—H

Total assets BEE 378,654 372,608 335,568 331,152 327,602
Total liabilities BwaE (134,586) (120,818) (85,300) (80,497) (97,597)
Net assets BEFE 244,068 251,790 250,268 250,655 230,005
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